MULTILEVEL CONVERTERS: CONTROL TECHNIQUES FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY RESOURCES

EDITED BY: Sudhakar Babu Thanikanti, Sudhakar Natarajan, Umashankar Subramaniam and Sam Sichilalu PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Energy Research





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

> The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-057-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-057-4

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

MULTILEVEL CONVERTERS: CONTROL TECHNIQUES FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY RESOURCES

Topic Editors:

Sudhakar Babu Thanikanti, Chaitanya Bharathi Institute of Technology, India Sudhakar Natarajan, VIT University, India Umashankar Subramaniam, Prince Sultan University, Saudi Arabia Sam Sichilalu, University of Zambia, Zambia

Citation: Thanikanti, S. B., Natarajan, S., Subramaniam, U., Sichilalu, S., eds. (2022). Multilevel Converters: Control Techniques for Renewable Energy Resources. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-057-4

Table of Contents

04 Analysis and Implementation of High-Performance DC-DC Step-Up Converter for Multilevel Boost Structure

M. Premkumar, C. Kumar and R. Sowmya

- **15** An Improved Response of Multi Level Inverter Based PR Controlled SMPS K. Sasikala and R. Krishnakumar
- 24 Analysis of Switching Sequence Operation for Reduced Switch Multilevel Inverter With Various Pulse Width Modulation Methods Vinod Kumar Kanike and Saravanakumar Raju
- Investigation of Standalone Solar Photovoltaic Water Pumping System
 With Reduced Switch Multilevel Inverter
 T. Poompavai and M. Kowsalya
- 46 Novel Filters Based Operational Scheme for Five-Level Diode-Clamped Inverters in Microgrid

A. Elnady, M. Al-Shabi and Ali Ahmed Adam

- 61 Improvement of Power Quality in a Three-Phase System Using an Adaline-Based Multilevel Inverter Soumya Ranjan Das, Prakash K. Ray, Arun Kumar Sahoo, Karthik Balasubramanian and Gaddam Sanjeeva Reddy
- A New 1-φ, Seventeen Level Inverter Topology With Less Number of Power Devices for Renewable Energy Application

Phani Kumar Chamarthi, Vivek Agarwal and Ahmed Al-Durra

84 Review of Five-Level Front-End Converters for Renewable-Energy Applications

Vitor Monteiro, Nima Tashakor, Tiago J. C. Sousa, Tomas Kacetl, Stefan Götz and Joao L. Afonso





Analysis and Implementation of High-Performance DC-DC Step-Up Converter for Multilevel Boost Structure

M. Premkumar^{1*}, C. Kumar² and R. Sowmya³

¹ Department of Electrical and Electronics Engineering, GMR Institute of Technology, Srikakulam, India, ² Department of Electrical and Electronics Engineering, Bannari Amman Institute of Technology, Sathyamangalam, India, ³ Research Scholar, Department of Electrical and Electronics Engineering, National Institute of Technology, Tiruchirapalli, India

The conventional DC-DC converters such as SEPIC, boost converter, etc. produces large voltage ripples in multilevel converter systems. For that reason, in this paper, a new DC-DC converter topology is proposed, and the performance is analyzed. Since the proposed converter delivers high conversion efficiency, it can be selected for multilevel boost DC-DC converters. The adverse effects such as inductor resistance and inductor size of the conventional converters are overcome by the proposed converter. The output voltage ripples are reduced in the proposed converter, i.e., the spikes in the converter output voltage are almost zero. The theoretical analysis is presented in this paper, which speaks about the advantage of the proposed converter. The converter operation is analyzed and discussed in continuous conduction mode (CCM). The voltage gain of the proposed converter is higher than the conventional boost converter. To validate the performance of the proposed converter, an experimental prototype is fabricated and tested in the laboratory. The performance of the converter is compared with the conventional boost and SEPIC converter. The experimental result confirms the theoretical analysis. The proposed converter can be extended by connecting more number of voltage multiplier (VM) cells to get the desired multilevel output voltage.

Keywords: boost, CCM, multilevel boost, voltage gain, voltage multiplier, voltage ripple

INTRODUCTION

The conventional boost dc-dc converter has several issues such as power loss, the voltage drop across various devices, and the effects due to the inductor resistance when it tries to achieve the required voltage gain. The quality of operation and the conversion efficiency is affected by the high duty cycle of the semiconductor switch (Premkumar et al., 2018a; Premkumar and Sumithira, 2019a). These problems are solved by introducing the new converters such as Zeta, SEPIC, and Cuk converters (Banaei and Bonab, 2016). The various converters are reported in Amir et al. (2019), and these converters are differentiated based on the switching methods (switching between the capacitor and inductor), and boosting techniques such as voltage multiplier (VM), voltage doubler, cascade connections, etc (Chen et al., 2018; Pop-Calimanu et al., 2019). Each of the converters has its drawbacks, and these drawbacks motivate the researchers to work on the new converters for the multilevel boost structure. For instance, the multilevel converters with conventional boost, Cuk, and SEPIC have output voltage ripples (Babaei et al., 2013; Selwan et al., 2015; Premkumar et al., 2018b).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sudhakar Babu Thanikanti, Universiti Tenaga Nasional, Malaysia

Reviewed by:

Ravikumar P, KPR Institute of Engineering and Technology, Coimbatore, India Karthik Balasubramanian, Micron Semiconductor Asia Operations Private Limited, Singapore

*Correspondence:

M. Premkumar premkumar.m@gmrit.edu.in

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Process and Energy Systems Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Energy Research

Received: 04 November 2019 Accepted: 02 December 2019 Published: 19 December 2019

Citation:

Premkumar M, Kumar C and Sowmya R (2019) Analysis and Implementation of High-Performance DC-DC Step-Up Converter for Multilevel Boost Structure. Front. Energy Res. 7:149. doi: 10.3389/fenrg.2019.00149 The conventional buck-boost and boost converters are frequently preferred in solar photovoltaic systems, and fuelbased energy systems (Divakar et al., 2008; Kaouane et al., 2015; Premkumar et al., 2018b; Rosas-Caro et al., 2018a,b; Premkumar and Sumithira, 2019b). The authors in Kaouane et al. (2015) and Premkumar and Sumithira (2019b) reported converters with two MOSFET switches and hybrid boost, respectively, for solar photovoltaic (PV) systems to improve the output voltage gain along with the proper tracking technique. The quadratic buckboost converter was reported by Rosas-Caro et al. (2018b) with the conversion output voltage and continuous input current with positive polarity.

The authors in Divakar et al. (2008) reported soft switching techniques such as zero voltage switching and zero-current switching to decrease the switching losses in the traditional boost converter. The authors in Hegazy et al. (2012) and Rosas-Caro et al. (2018a) reported the converters with the interleaved structure to achieve the required output voltage with the continuous input current. However, the interleaved structure is complicated when compared to the conventional boost converter. Besides, the author in Zeng et al. (2019) reported that the interleaved structure also helps to increase the conversion efficiency, and reduce the output voltage ripple. When the conventional interleave based boost or buck-boost converters are chosen for multi-level boost converters, it introduces a heavy spike in inductor current and the output voltage. The same can be observed from the experimental waveforms of the literature reported in Rosas-Caro et al. (2018a) and Hegazy et al. (2012).

The SEPIC converter is one of the conventional dc-dc converter derived from the traditional boost converter. Related to conventional boost converter and Cuk converter, the SEPIC converter has few ripples in the output current since the second inductor in the SEPIC converter smooths the current spikes. The SEPIC converter can be preferred in different applications such as PV system, fuel cell-based systems, and also multi-port converters (Saravanan and Babu, 2015; Buticchi et al., 2019). As a result, the SEPIC converter can be used for most of the renewable energy systems. Though the SEPIC converter voltage gain is less, and it can be used for step-up applications (Kircioglu et al., 2016; Shamshuddin et al., 2017; Premkumar et al., 2018c; Natarajan et al., 2019; Yousri et al., 2019). The voltage gain of the SEPIC converter is less than the conventional boost converter per duty ratio. The voltage gain of the SEPIC converter and boost converter is equal to D/(1-D), and 1/(1-D), respectively (Park et al., 2010; Ansari and Moghani, 2019). If the structure of the SEPIC converter is slightly modified, it may step-up voltage than the conventional boost converter. Therefore, in this paper, a modified structure for the SEPIC converter with high-quality output is discussed and examined.

A new structure is proposed for the SEPIC converter is proposed in this paper, and the converter is based on the traditional SEPIC converter. The major highlight of the proposed SEPIC converter is not having an extra parasitic element compared to the traditional SEPIC converter. A new structure is derived in a way such that a reduction in output voltage ripple and an increase in conversion efficiency. Moreover, the voltage gain is equal as the traditional boost dc-dc converter and higher

than the conventional SEPIC converter with less effect of the inductor resistance. Another notable highlight of the proposed converter is its spike-free voltage and current waveforms. The efficiency of the converter is >95% when the duty ratio of the switch is <60%, >92% when the duty cycle of the switch is between 60 and 80%, and this advantage makes the converter a decent choice for the multi-level boost structure powered by the PV modules and fuel cells. The converter can also be extended to achieve high voltage gain by using elements such as inductors, diodes, and capacitors. The structure of the paper is as follows. Section Operation of the Proposed SEPIC Converter for Multi-Level Structure presents the operation of the proposed converter. The steady-state analysis under continues conduction mode (CCM) is performed in section Steady-State Analysis and Converter Comparison. The experimental results and further discussion are given in section Results and Further Discussions. The paper is concluded in section Conclusion.

OPERATION OF THE PROPOSED SEPIC CONVERTER FOR MULTI-LEVEL STRUCTURE

The converter proposed in this paper has high-quality output and high gain by making a small modification in the conventional SEPIC converter, as shown in **Figure 1**. In the proposed converter, the charging capacitor is changed its position, and the gain equation is altered accordingly. The proposed converter comprises one MOSFET switch, two capacitors such as the coupling capacitor (C_s), and the output capacitor (C_{out}), two inductors, namely L_1 and L_2 , and one diode. For simplified analysis, the converter operation in CCM is divided into two modes of operation. Theoretical waveform is depicted in **Figure 2**.

The following are the assumptions made to streamline the converter examination.

• The various apparatuses of the converter are ideal. The forward drops of the switch and diode, on-state resistance





(R_{ds-ON}) of the MOSFET switch, the equivalent series resistance of the inductors, and capacitor are ignored.

The capacitance values of the capacitors Cs and Cout are considered as high. Thus, the capacitor voltage is supposed to be constant during one switching cycle.

Mode-I

The current flow is depicted in Figure 3A. The analysis of the proposed converter is made by assuming the ideal components, and the converter is operated at CCM.

During this mode, the MOSFET switch is turned on by applying the pulse-width-modulated (PWM) signal to the gate terminal of the switch. When the switch is turned on, the current starts to flows the components such as C, L₁, and L₂. In Figure 3, the inductor currents are represented as i_{L1} , and i_{L2} , and the voltage across the coupling capacitor is represented by V_c. During mode-I, the diode is turned off due to the reverse voltage. There are three loops for energizing the storage components. The voltage across the inductor-1 (V_{L1}) is equal to the input source voltage (Vin) which rises the current in L1. The source voltage also delivers the energy to the L₂ and the coupling capacitor (C) through the load. It is observed that the second and third loop is formed by the source voltage, C, and L₂. The voltage across the diode is equal to the voltage across the capacitor. The voltage across the inductor L_1 is presented in Equation (1), and other expressions are written as follows.

dt

$$V_{L_1} = V_{in} = L_1 \frac{di_{L_1}}{dt} \tag{1}$$

$$+ V_{in} = L_2 \frac{\omega_{L_2}}{dt} + V_d + V_{out}$$
(2)
$$i_C = C \frac{dV_C}{dt} = i_{L_2}$$
(3)

$$i_{C_{out}} = C_{out} \frac{dV_{C_{out}}}{dt} = \frac{V_{out}}{R} - i_{L_2}$$
(4)

Mode-II

The current flow during this mode is depicted in Figure 3B. During this mode, the MOSFET switch is turned off. Due to this, there are two loops in the converter operation. The coupling capacitor is energized through the inductors L₁ and L₂. Both the inductors start to release the energy during this mode. The inductor L₂ also discharges, and the output capacitor delivers the load current. The voltage stress of the MOSFET switch is equal to the difference between the voltage across the inductor L₁, and the source voltage. Various output equations during mode-II are presented as follows.

$$V_{in} = L_1 \frac{di_{L_1}}{dt} + V_c + L_2 \frac{di_{L_2}}{dt}$$
(5)

$$L_2 \frac{dt_{L_2}}{dt} = V_{in} - V_{out} \tag{6}$$

$$i_C = C \frac{dV_C}{dt} = i_{L_1} \tag{7}$$

$$i_{C_{out}} = C_{out} \frac{dV_{C_{out}}}{dt} = \frac{V_{out}}{R} - i_{L_2}$$
(8)

STEADY-STATE ANALYSIS AND CONVERTER COMPARISON

The steady-state analysis of the proposed converter is presented under the CCM operation. The voltage conversion of the proposed converter is the most significant parameter, and the same can be obtained from the above-two operating modes of the converter. The energy balance in the proposed converter is achieved by the charging and discharging cycle of the inductors L_1 and L_2 . The average voltage of the inductors over one switching cycle is zero. The average voltage of the inductor is derived from the above-said equations. The average voltage equation is presented in Equations (9, 10).

$$DV_{in} + (1 - D)(V_{in} - V_C) = 0$$
(9)

$$D(V_{in} + V_C + V_{out}) + (1 - D)(V_{in} - V_{out}) = 0$$
(10)

From Equations (9, 10), the voltage across the capacitor, and the voltage gain of the converter being stated in Equations (11, 12).

$$V_C = \frac{1}{1-D} V_{in} \tag{11}$$

$$M = \frac{V_{out}}{V_{in}} = \frac{1}{1-D} \tag{12}$$

As seen in Equation (12), the voltage gain of the proposed converter is similar to the traditional boost converter. Therefore, the proposed converter can be compared with conventional SEPIC and Cuk converters. The converters can be analyzed based on the current stress and voltage stress on the MOSFET switch under DCM and CCM operation, voltage gain, and the minimum inductance requirements. Table 1 shows the essential parameters of the converter and the other conventional converters.

 V_c



The voltage stress on the MOSFET switch and the diode is obtained based on the modes of operation. The voltage stress on the diode is presented in Equation (13).

$$V_d = -V_C = -\frac{1}{1-D}V_{in}$$
(13)

During mode-II, the MOSFET switch is turned off. Thus, the voltage stress on the MOSFET switch is presented in Equation (14).

$$V_s = V_{in} - V_{L_1} = V_C = \frac{1}{1 - D} V_{in}$$
(14)

The energy balance is obtained between the input and the output by the inductor elements. Based on the volt-second balance equation, the current through the inductors i_{L1} and i_{L2} are calculated as follows, and further, the current stress on the MOSFET switch is obtained.

$$V_{in}(i_{L_1} - i_{L_2}) = V_{out}I_{out}$$
(15)

From Equation (15), the current through the inductors are obtained as follows.

$$i_{L_1} = \frac{D}{1 - D} i_{out}$$
 (16)

$$i_{L_2} = i_{out} = \frac{V_{out}}{R} \tag{17}$$

Based on the above-said equations, the current stress on the diode and the MOSFET switch is obtained as follows.

$$i_d = i_{out} = \frac{V_{out}}{R} \tag{18}$$

$$i_s = \frac{D}{1 - D} i_{out} \tag{19}$$

The inductor current oscillates between the minimum and maximum value depends on the inductance, and it is considered as the essential element in the converter design. Thus, the current ripple of the inductor and its respective inductance is calculated by considering the operating stages of the converter. The peak-peak ripple current over one switching period is calculated as follows.

$$\Delta i_{L_1} = \frac{DT_s}{L_1} V_{in} \tag{20}$$

$$\Delta i_{L_2} = \frac{DT_s}{L_2} V_{in} \tag{21}$$

The values of the inductances decide the boundary between DCM and CCM operation of the proposed converter. By assuming the minimum inductor current $(I_{L,min})$ is zero,

TABLE 1 Assessment of the proposed modified SEPIC converter with the
traditional converters.

Parameters	SEPIC converter	Cuk converter	Boost converter	Proposed modified SEPIC converter
M	<u>D</u> 1-D	$-\frac{D}{1-D}$	$\frac{1}{1-D}$	$\frac{1}{1-D}$
L _{1,min}	$\frac{(1-D)^2 R}{2F_s D}$	$\frac{(1-D)^2 R}{2F_8 D}$	$\frac{D(1-D)^2R}{2F_8}$	$\frac{(1-D)^2R}{2F_S}$
L _{2,min}	$\frac{(1-D)R}{2F_s}$	$\frac{(1-D)R}{2F_s}$	-	$\frac{D(1-D)R}{2F_S}$
$\frac{\Delta V_{out}}{V_{out}}$	$\frac{D}{RC_{out}F_s}$	$\frac{(1-D)}{8L_2C_{out}F_s^2}$	$\frac{D}{RC_{out}F_s}$	$\frac{D(1-D)}{RC_{out}F_s}$

TABLE 2 | Specifications of the proposed SEPIC converter and other converters.

Values				
SEPIC converter	Cuk converter	Proposed converter		
20 V	20 V	20 V		
1.4 mH	1.4 mH	1.4 mH		
10 µF	10 µF	10 μF		
220 µF	220 µF	220 μF		
85 Ω	85 Ω	85 Ω		
20 kHz	20 kHz	20 kHz		
	20V 1.4 mH 10 μF 220 μF 85 Ω	SEPIC converter Cuk converter 20V 20V 1.4 mH 1.4 mH 10 μF 10 μF 220 μF 220 μF 85 Ω 85 Ω		



FIGURE 4 | Various simulation waveforms of the proposed converter; (A) Inductor current, i_{L1} , (B) Inductor current, i_{L2} , (C) Input current, l_{in} , (D) Voltage stress of the MOSFET, (E) Current stress of the MOSFET, (F) Voltage stress of the diode, (G) Voltage across coupling capacitor.

the minimum inductance of the inductors is calculated as follows.

$$I_{L,\min} = I_L - \frac{\Delta I_L}{2} \tag{22}$$

$$L_{1,\min} = \frac{(1-D)^2 R}{2F_s}$$
(23)

$$L_{2,\min} = \frac{D(1-D)R}{2F_s}$$
 (24)

Where ΔI_L is the current ripples of both the inductors, and it is given by $(DT_s/L)V_s$. The peak-peak output voltage ripples of the proposed converter can be obtained by the differential equations. Since the proposed converter has two capacitors, the output voltage can be written as follows.

$$\frac{\Delta V_C}{V_c} = \frac{RC}{D} F_s \tag{25}$$

$$\Delta V_{C_{out}} = \Delta V_{out} \tag{26}$$

$$\Delta V_{out} = D(1-D)$$

$$\frac{\Delta V_{out}}{V_{out}} = \frac{D(1-D)}{RC_{out}F_s}$$
(27)

RESULTS AND FURTHER DISCUSSIONS

The proposed converter, and the traditional converters such as SEPIC converter, and Cuk converters are simulated using MATLAB/Simulink software. To check the effectiveness of the proposed modified SEPIC converter, an experimental prototype is made, and the same is tested in the laboratory. The storage elements such as L_1 , L_2 , C, and C_{out} are selected as per the previous discussions. The inductors are chosen based on Equations (23, 24) by considering the CCM operation of the

converter. Various parameters of the proposed modified SEPIC converter for both the simulation and experimental study are presented in **Table 2**. The simulation parameters of the SEPIC converter and Cuk converter, also listed in **Table 2**.

Simulation Study

As per the values presented in **Table 2**, the converters are designed and simulated using MATLAB/Simulink software. To check the performance of the proposed converter, the traditional converters such as Cuk and SEPIC converter also simulated. For the simplified analysis, the output voltage of the Cuk converter is assumed as a positive voltage; however, the actual output voltage of the Cuk converter is negative. First, the proposed converter is simulated with the duty cycle (D) of 0.6, and the results were depicted in **Figure 4**.

As seen in Figure 4, the proposed converter is operated at CCM operation. As shown in Figures 4A,B, the inductor currents (i_{L1} and i_{L2}) is oscillating between -0.55 A to -0.62 A, and 0.83 A to 0.91 A, respectively. This result proves that the proposed converter is operated under CCM operation. Another significant advantage of the proposed converter is continuous (constant) input current, and the same can be observed in Figure 4C. The input current is oscillating between 1.38 A and 1.52 A. Thus, the input ripple current of the proposed converter is observed as 0.14 A, which is less than the conventional SEPIC converter, and Cuk converter. Figures 4D,E shows the voltage and current stress of the MOSFET, respectively. The maximum voltage stress of the MOSFET switch is observed as 49.5 V, and the current stress is found as 1.5 A. Figure 4F depicts the voltage stress of the diode, and it is equal to the voltage across the coupling capacitor. Figure 4G illustrates the voltage across the capacitor, and the average voltage is observed as 49 V. Therefore, the diode voltage stress is equal to 49 V as shown in Figure 4F. As per the previous discussion, the proposed converter, and



other traditional converters such as SEPIC converter, and Cuk converter also simulated for the duty cycle at 0.6. The load output voltage waveform of all the converters are depicted in **Figure 5**.

The load resistance of all the converter is kept constant at 85 Ω , and the output voltage of the SEPIC converter and Cuk converter is observed as 29.37 V (Cuk converter output voltage is assumed as positive). Whereas, the output load voltage of the proposed modified SEPIC converter is 49.19 V, which is 0.7 times higher than the conventional SEPIC converter. It is also observed that the settling time of all the converters is almost similar. It is concluded that the converter proposed in this paper is having more voltage gain than the traditional SEPIC converter with the same number of components. This high voltage gain is possible only by changing the connections of the conventional SEPIC converter, but not by increasing/decreasing the storage elements or switching devices. The proposed converter is also simulated for

different duty cycles, such as 0.4, 0.5, 0.6, and 0.7. The converter switch duty is changed after 0.5 s, duration each. The output load voltage waveform is shown in **Figure 6**.

At the start, all the converters are operated with D=0.4, the output voltage of the SEPIC, Cuk, and proposed converter was observed as 13.57 V, 13.57 V, and 32.51 V, respectively. At t = 0.5 s, the duty cycle is changed to D = 0.5, and the output voltage is witnessed as 19.18 V, 19.18 V, and 39.17 V, respectively. At t = 1 s, the duty cycle is changed to D = 0.6, and the output voltage is observed as 29.38 V, 29.38 V, and 49.16 V, respectively. At t = 1.5 s, the duty cycle is changed to D = 0.7, and the output voltage is observed as 46.35 V, 46.35 V, and 65.72 V, respectively. It is observed and concluded that the duty up to D = 0.5, the SEPIC converter, and the Cuk converter acts as a buck converter. Whereas, the proposed converter acts as the boost converter





irrespective of the duty cycle as similar to a conventional boost converter with constant input current capability.

Experimental Study

The experimental prototype of the converter is developed and verified in the laboratory environment as per the parameters are shown in **Table 2**. The experimental prototype is shown in **Figure 7**. Two inductors of the converter are selected as coupled inductors with EE33 ferrite core. Two strings of twisted copper wire (21 SWG) are wounded on the ferrite core to design the required value of inductance, and twisted pair can minimize the

skin effect and coil resistance. The polypropylene metalized film capacitor is selected for a coupling capacitor, which has low ESR ($\approx 12.2 \text{ m}\Omega$). A low on-state resistance N-Channel MOSFET switch is required for the converter operation, so IRFB4310 MOSFET is selected, which has 5.6 m Ω on-state resistance, and it can withstand up to 100 V, 140 A.

The converter requires a fast-acting diode to direct the current. Therefore, BY399 fast recovery diode is selected which has less forward voltage drop (<1.1 V) with less reverse recovery time (<500 ns). The PWM pulse is generated using the MSP430FR2355 Texas Instrument development board. A 20 kHz



PWM pulse with a 60% duty cycle is given to the MOSFET driver through the optoisolator. The MOSFET switch is driven with 4N25 optoisolator and IR2113 MOSFET driver. The proposed converter prototype is made for 50 W. The proposed converter rating can be extended using multiplier cell circuits if necessary. The adoption of the multiplier circuit is not discussed in this paper. The experimental waveforms are depicted in **Figure 8**.

Constant input current is one of the key objectives of this paper, and the same can be seen in **Figure 8A**. The input current at full load is 1.424 A (average). The input current oscillates between 0.9 A and 1.72 A, and it never reaches zero. The inductor

currents such as i_{L1} and i_{L2} are depicted in **Figures 8B,C**, respectively. It is observed from **Figures 8B,C**, the converter is operated under CCM operation. The peak-peak inductor ripple current as per Equations 20, 21 is selected as 0.43 A. From **Figure 8B**, the ripple current (Δi_{L1}) is observed as 0.45 A (oscillation between 0.56 A-0.11 A), and from **Figure 8C**, the ripple current (Δi_{L2}) is observed as 0.44 A (oscillation between 0.71 A-1.15 A). This result displays good agreement between the theoretical analysis and the experimental setup. The MOSFET voltage stress and diode can be observed in **Figures 8D,E**, respectively. As per Equations 13, 14, the maximum voltage



stress of the MOSFET switch and the diode is equal to $\pm V_{out}$. Therefore, the voltage stress of the MOSFET and diode should be equal to 50 V when the duty cycle of the switch is 0.6. The same can be observed clearly in the waveforms as shown in Figures 8D,E. As per Equation 19, the current stress of the MOSFET switch is equal to 0.88 A. From Figure 8D, the current stress is observed as 0.84 A. As per Equation 11, the voltage across the coupling capacitor is equal to the output voltage of the converter which is equal to 50 V. The coupling capacitor voltage observed in Figure 8F is equal to 49 V. Figure 8G depicts the output voltage and the input voltage waveform. As per Equation 12, the output voltage of the converter for the duty cycle, D =0.6, is equal to 50 V. The converter achieves 49 V experimentally, and this result displays good agreement between the theoretical analysis and the experimental setup. The difference in voltage (\approx 1 V) can be ignored due to the voltage drop in other components. The proposed converter is compared with the other traditional converters in terms of voltage gain and efficiency. Figure 9 shows the performance comparison of the proposed converter.

From the above discussions and the performance comparison presented in **Figure 9**, it is concluded that the proposed converter is superior in all aspects such as constant input current, high voltage gain, and high conversion efficiency without adding any extra components with the conventional SEPIC converter. The proposed converter is best suited for multi-level boost structure in solar photovoltaic systems or fuel-cell based energy systems instead of the traditional SEPIC converters. Finally, it is concluded that the proposed SEPIC converter can deliver the conversion efficiency at full load condition is equal to 94.2, and 95.64% maximum conversion efficiency.

CONCLUSION

The converter discussed in this paper improves the voltage conversion ratio than the other traditional dc-dc converters.

REFERENCES

- Amir, A., Amir, A., Che, H. S., Elkhateb, A., and Abd Rahim, N. (2019). Comparative analysis of high voltage gain DC-DC converter topologies for photovoltaic systems. *Renew. Energy* 136, 1147–1163. doi: 10.1016/j.renene.2018.09.089
- Ansari, S. A., and Moghani, J. S. (2019). A novel high voltage gain noncoupled inductor SEPIC converter. *IEEE Trans. Industr. Electr.* 66, 7099–7108. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2018.2878127
- Babaei, E., Kangarlu, M. F., Sabahi, M., and Alizadeh-Pahlavani, M. R. (2013). Cascaded multilevel inverter using sub-multilevel cells. *Electr. Power Syst. Res.* 96, 101–110. doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2012.10.010
- Banaei, M. R., and Bonab, H. A. F. (2016). A novel structure for single-switch nonisolated transformerless buck-boost DC-DC converter. *IEEE Trans. Industr. Electr.* 64, 198–205. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2016.2608321
- Buticchi, G., Costa, L. F., and Liserre, M. (2019). Multi-port DC/DC converter for the electrical power distribution system of the more electric aircraft. *Math. Comp. Simul.* 158, 387–402. doi: 10.1016/j.matcom.2018.09.019
- Chen, S. J., Yang, S. P., Huang, C. M., Chou, H. M., and Shen, M. J. (2018). Interleaved high step-up DC-DC converter based on voltage multiplier cell and voltage-stacking techniques for renewable energy applications. *Energies* 11:1632. doi: 10.3390/en11071632

The proposed SEPIC converter is analyzed in CCM operation, simulated, implemented, and compared with the traditional SEPIC, and Cuk converters. The analysis of various features such as inductor ripple current, voltage conversion, switch and diode voltage stress, and the converter efficiency is made for the proposed converter. The proposed converter is designed based on the theoretical discussions. The results obtained from the simulation, and experimentation is on par with the theoretical discussions. The conversion efficiency of the proposed converter is more than 92% for various duty cycle, and the maximum efficiency is equal to 95.64% at 30 W. This high conversion efficiency makes the proposed converter best suitable for the multilevel boost structure. The converter voltage gain can be further extended by adding the voltage multiplier circuits, and the same will be discussed and developed in future communications. The significant contribution in this paper is that the conventional SEPIC converter is extended without adding any additional equipment, and it behaves like a traditional boost converter with added features as following. (i) high voltage gain, (ii) high conversion efficiency, (iii) continuous input current, and (iv) less output voltage ripple.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Research simulation, experimentation, analysis, revision, and overall layout formation were carried out by MP. Literature review, mathematical analysis, simulation, and proof-read was done by RS. Redesigning the hardware components, experimental testing, revised article, and final proof-read by CK.

- Divakar, B. P., Cheng, K. W. E., and Sutanto, D. (2008). Zero-voltage and zero-current switching buck-boost converter with low voltage and current stresses. *IET Power Electr.* 1, 297–304. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel:200 70038
- Hegazy, O., Mierlo, J. V., and Lataire, P. (2012). Analysis, modeling, and implementation of a multi-device interleaved DC/DC converter for fuel cell hybrid electric vehicles. *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.* 27, 4445–4458. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2012.2183148
- Kaouane, M., Boukhelifa, A., and Cheriti, A. (2015). "Regulated output voltage double switch Buck-Boost converter for photovoltaic energy application," in *Proceedings of 3rd International Renewable and Sustainable Energy Conference* (Marrakech), 1–6. doi: 10.1109/IRSEC.2015.74 55114
- Kircioglu, O., Unlu, M., and Çamur, S. (2016). "Modeling and analysis of DC-DC SEPIC converter with coupled inductors," in *Proceedings* of International Symposium on Industrial Electronics (Banja Luka), 1–5. doi: 10.1109/INDEL.2016.7797807
- Natarajan, S., Padmavathi, P., Kalvakurthi, J. R., Babu, T. S., Ramachandaramurthy, V. K., and Padmanaban, S. (2019). Conducted electromagnetic interference spectral peak mitigation in luo-converter using FPGAbased chaotic PWM technique. *Electr. Power Comp. Syst.* 47, 838–848. doi: 10.1080/15325008.2019.1629510

- Park, K., Moon, G., and Youn, M. (2010). Non-isolated high step-up boost converter integrated with SEPIC converter. *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.* 25, 2266–2275. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2010.2046650
- Pop-Calimanu, I. M., Lica, S., Popescu, S., Lascu, D., Lie, I., and Mirsu, R. (2019). A new hybrid inductor-based boost DC-DC converter suitable for applications in photovoltaic systems. *Energies* 12:252. doi: 10.3390/en12020252
- Premkumar, M., Karthick, K., and Sowmya, R. (2018a). A comparative study and analysis on conventional solar PV based DC-DC converters and MPPT techniques. *Ind. J. Electr. Eng. Comp. Sci.* 11, 831–838. doi:10.11591/ijeecs.v11.i3.pp831-838
- Premkumar, M., Sowmya, R., and Karthick, K. (2018b). A dataset of the study on design parameters for the solar photovoltaic charge controller. *Data Brief.* 21, 1954–1962. doi: 10.1016/j.dib.2018.11.064
- Premkumar, M., and Sumithira, T. R. (2019a). Design and implementation of new topology for non-isolated DC-DC microconverter with effective clamping circuit. J. Circuits Syst. Comp. 28:1950082. doi: 10.1142/S0218126619500828
- Premkumar, M., and Sumithira, T. R. (2019b). Design and implementation of new topology for solar PV based transformerless forward microinverter. J. Electr. Eng. Technol. 14, 145–155. doi: 10.1007/s42835-018-00036-2
- Premkumar, M., Sumithira, T. R., and Sowmya, R. (2018c). Modelling and implementation of cascaded multilevel inverter as solar PV based microinverter using FPGA. Int. J. Intell. Eng. Syst. 11, 18–27. doi: 10.22266/ijies2018.0430.03
- Rosas-Caro, J. C., Sanchez, V. M., Valdez-Resendiz, J. E., Mayo-Maldonado, J. C., Beltran-Carbajal, F., and Valderrabano-Gonzalez, A. (2018a). "Quadratic buckboost converter with positive output-voltage and continuous input-current," in *Proceedings of International Conference on Electronics, Communications and Computers*, (Cholula), 152–158. doi: 10.1109/CONIELECOMP.2018.8327191
- Rosas-Caro, J. C., Valdez-Resendiz, J. E., Mayo-Maldonado, J. C., Alejo-Reyes, A., and Valderrabano-Gonzalez, A. (2018b). Quadratic buck-boost converter with positive output voltage and minimum ripple point design. *IET Power Electr.* 11, 1306–1313. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2017.0090

- Saravanan, S., and Babu, N. R. (2015). "Performance analysis of boost and Cuk converter in MPPT based PV system," *International Conference* on Circuits, Power and Computing Technologies (Nagercoil), 1–6. doi: 10.1109/ICCPCT.2015.7159425
- Selwan, E., Park, G., and Gajic, Z. (2015). Optimal control of the Cuk converter used in solar cells via a jump parameter technique. *IET Control Theory Appl.* 9, 893–899. doi: 10.1049/iet-cta.2014.0258
- Shamshuddin, M. A., Babu, T. S., Dragicevic, T., Miyatake, M., and Rajasekar, N. (2017). Priority-based energy management technique for integration of solar pv, battery, and fuel cell systems in an autonomous DC microgrid. *Electr. Power Comp. Syst.* 45, 1881–1891. doi: 10.1080/15325008.2017.1378949
- Yousri, D., Babu, T. S., Allam, D., Ramachandaramurthy, V. K., and Etiba, M. B. (2019). A novel chaotic flower pollination algorithm for global maximum power point tracking for photovoltaic system under partial shading conditions. *IEEE Access.* 7, 121432–121445. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.29 37600
- Zeng, T., Wu, Z., and He, L. (2019). An interleaved soft switching high step-up converter with low input current ripple and high efficiency. *IEEE Access.* 7, 93580–93593. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2928227

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Premkumar, Kumar and Sowmya. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





An Improved Response of Multi Level Inverter Based PR Controlled SMPS

K. Sasikala* and R. Krishnakumar

Department of Electrical and Electronics Engineering, Vels Institute of Science, Technology & Advanced Studies, Chennai, India

This paper mainly focuses on identifying an optimum controller for Multi Level Inverter Based Switched Mode Power Supply (MLIBSMPS) for constant voltage applications. Generally, there is a greater demand of constant voltage for the sensitive loads. A closed loop control is introduced in the circuit in order to obtain constant voltage quickly if there are any disturbances occur at the input side. In this paper, closed loop Proportional Integral (PI) as well as Proportional Resonant (PR) controlled MLI based SMPS systems are simulated and the comparison of their performance is done. It is seen that an acceptable performance is achieved using PR controlled MLI based SMPS than PI Controlled MLI based SMPS. It also proves that PR Controlled SMPS with 7 level inverters has reduced steady state error and improved time domain response as compared to PI Controlled SMPS.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sudhakar Babu Thanikanti, Universiti Tenaga Nasional, Malaysia

Reviewed by:

Suresh Srinivasan, Annamacharya Institute of Technology and Sciences, India Tirupati U. Solanke, Universiti Tenaga Nasional, Malaysia

> *Correspondence: K. Sasikala skala.se@velsuniv.ac.in

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Process and Energy Systems Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Energy Research

Received: 02 December 2019 Accepted: 06 January 2020 Published: 24 January 2020

Citation:

Sasikala K and Krishnakumar R (2020) An Improved Response of Multi Level Inverter Based PR Controlled SMPS. Front. Energy Res. 8:1. doi: 10.3389/fenrg.2020.00001 Keywords: multi level inverter based switched mode power supply (MLIBSMPS), proportional integral controller (PIC), dynamic response, proportional resonant controller (PRC), steady state error

INTRODUCTION

Switching converters are in greater demand after the evolution of semiconductor technology. Nowadays, Switched Mode Power Supply (SMPS) with greater efficiency can be designed easily with lesser weight and cost effective. SMPS has also become increasingly popular due to its greater efficiency in distributing power to electronic device (Guo et al., 2010). In SMPS, fly back topology is mostly preferred due of its simple design, low cost, and greater efficiency compared to other topologies (Halder, 2014a). This fly back converter is used in applications where the load requires to be separated from mains supply. In addition to the good input/output isolation, the fly back converter uses lesser magnetic and semiconductor components that makes it a perfect converter for low- cost power supply applications (Halder, 2014b; Deepa et al., 2015). This converter steps up as well as steps down the input voltage retaining the similar polarity and ground reference for the input as well as output. MOSFET is used as a switching device whose turn-on and turn-off time is less when compared with other switching devices (Law et al., 2017). Switching devices with higher power handling capacity and switching speeds are readily available in the market. In this paper, fly back converter is cascaded which involves connecting multiple converters in parallel thus operating these converters at a phase shift of $360^{\circ}/n$ (n = number of converter modules). Due to cascading, the effective switching frequency can be increased "n" times which in turn high frequency harmonic components can be filtered easily. This cascaded fly back converter reduces the current ripple at both the input as well as output side. The main advantages of cascading are the reduction of cost and size of power filtering components and improved dynamic load performance (Sahu et al., 2016). A 7 level Multi Level Inverter (MLI) is used which is appropriate for high- power and medium voltage operation. In addition to greater power quality, MLI has better electromagnetic interference and lesser switching losses (Dogra and Pal, 2014). This multilevel inverter generates stepped voltage

output with the help of numerous dc voltage sources produced by the fly back converter. Practically, it is impossible to expect the load and input voltage to remain constant. Variations in load and input voltages will affect the output voltage which is not desirable (Chandran and Jothi, 2013). To overcome the above drawback, a closed-loop configuration is used wherein a part of the output is fed back to the switch which suitably corrects the duty ratio to maintain the output voltage constant (Sasikala and Krishnakumar, 2019). The PI and PR controllers are used in the feedback path to change the converter duty cycle which in turn the output voltage is regulated (Alzate and Posada, 2017). This works also evaluates the dynamic response and transient behavior of the systems.

BRIEF LITERATURE SURVEY

Isolated Switched-Mode Power Supply was presented by Reshma et al. A new idea in the design of switched mode energy conversion is given on the account of its intense simplicity, flexibility and performance. It has the capacity to replace a few conventional electric power processing techniques presently in use (Reshma et al., 2016). Multilevel power conversion system was presented by Babaei (2008). It emphasizes the use of multilevel inverters with less number of switches. Various topologies are discussed for utility and drive applications. Based on switching frequency and voltage sustaining capability, the selection of power devices has been investigated (Ebrahimi et al., 2012). Alishah et al. (2015) introduces the multilevel converters for the utility of renewable energy systems. Benefits of multilevel inverters such as improved power quality, simple design, and little switching stress along with the suitability for medium to high power applications are discussed.

MLI is used for power conversion and the reduction of load harmonics. As there is a greater demand in industry, conventional two level- inverter can be replaced with MLI. MLI has gained attention as it has low electromagnetic interference, high efficiency, and low switching frequency applications (Anjali et al., 2018).

A new topology with fewer bidirectional switches and power diodes count is compared against the other topology (Ludois et al., 2010). This paper presents a novel topology for the symmetrical multilevel inverter using a multi-output fly back converter but the bidirectional switches and gate driver circuits' count is very high (Noman et al., 2016; Sangeetha et al., 2016). This topology uses a single DC source which can be from renewable energy sources or energy storage devices (Ajami et al., 2014). The DC input is given to the multiple output fly back converter. The fly back converter's output is fed to the multilevel inverter to produce a seven level output. This structure needs a few switch counts in contrast with the conventional type of MLI (Xiao et al., 2015; Shankar et al., 2017; Lodh et al., 2018).

The modern controller usage in closed loop SMPS is totally fascinating. Various controllers like adaptive controllers, Sliding Mode controllers and Lyapunov based techniques are used for controlling the voltage in typical DC-DC converters (Salimi et al., 2015). In any case, switching power supplies (fly back and push-pull converter) haven't been researched unequivocally utilizing non-linear control draws near. Likewise in mechanical switch mode power supplies, the change in load and line can be noticed under different operational conditions which lead to instability of the ordinary closed loop controller. Contrasted with other modern controllers, fly back control supply is utilized broadly in applications where low as well as medium power is sufficient (Kalirasu, 2017).

RESEARCH GAP

The above papers do not report the use of MLI for Switched Mode Power Supply (SMPS) and also the comparison of Proportional Integral (PI) and Proportional Resonant (PR) controlled SMPS is not dealt with. This work proposes MLI for SMPS and also compares the dynamic behavior of Proportional Integral (PI) and Proportional Resonant (PR) controlled SMPS.

BASIC EQUATIONS

The Basic equation for calculating the output of the fly back converter is given by,

$$V_0 = \{D*(N2/N1)*Vi\}/(1-D)$$
(1)

where

 $V_0 = Output Voltage$

D = duty cycle

N2/N1 = transformer turns ratio

The Number of turns in the transformer is given as

$$N1 = V1/k*q*f$$
(2)

$$N2 = V2/k*q*f$$
(3)

where k = 4.4

q = maximum flux in the core

f = frequency in Hz

 V_1 and V_2 are the RMF values of induced EMF in the primary and secondary winding, respectively.

The peak primary current (i_p) is dependent on the input voltage Vi, the primary inductance L_p and the on time of the switch,

$$i_p = (Vi * t_{on}) / L_p \tag{4}$$

The average power delivered to the load,

$$P_{av} = (Lp*i_p^2)/2T$$

where

 L_p = primary inductance if the transformer

T = switching period

Efficiency of the converter

$$e = V_2 I_2 / V_1 I_1 \tag{5}$$

The PI controller is used in industrial application as it is simple and easy to design and effective. This controller removes all the unwanted oscillations and steady state error. The transferfunction of a PI controller takes the form of







$$C_{\rm PI}(s) = K_1 + K_2/s$$

(6)

where

 $K_1 = proportional constant$

 $K_2 = Integral constant$

The model of PR was established from fractional-differentiation. The PR controller introduces an infinite gain at a particular resonant frequency to remove steady state error at that particular frequency. The PR response is better than that of the PI controlled system. The transfer-function of a PR controller takes the form of



$$C_{PR}(s) = K_1 + K_2 w/(s^2 + w^2)$$
 (7)

SYSTEM DESCRIPTION

The fly back SMPS consists of a diode bridge rectifier with a capacitor filter, high frequency switching device, a fly back transformer followed by the output rectifier and filter. In Figure 1, proposed closed loop MLIBSMPS system is shown where a multilevel inverter is introduced between the rectifier and the fly back converter. The fly back converter is also cascaded to reduce the current ripple at both the input as well as output side. At the output side a cascade filter is introduced which reduces the output current ripple. The fly back SMPS is operated in both voltage control mode (outer loop) as well as current control mode (inner loop). In Figure 1, PI controllers are used for both Voltage control mode as well as current control mode. In Figure 2, PI controllers are replaced with PR controllers and the output voltage, current, and power is measured. Here, the dynamic performance of the both the controllers is compared. In both modes, the output voltage is evaluated with reference yield voltage to provide the error signal. The obtained current signal is again related with reference current to get PWM signal for fly back converter. This error signal is coursed by the PI as well as PR to sustain the output voltage constant and diminish the steady state errors. The main ease of these two control modes are simple design, easy control and good voltage regulation.













SIMULATION RESULTS

The results of MLIBSMPS with PI and PR controller in closed loop configurations are discussed simultaneously with the simulation diagram and along with their results.

MLIBSMPS With PI Controller in Closed Loop Configuration

The simulation diagram of MLIBSMPS circuit with PI Controller (PIC) in two loop mode is shown in **Figure 3** and the circuit

diagram of 7-level inverter is given in **Figure 4**. A sine wave input of 250 V is given to the two loop PI controller and a disturbance is created at 0.7 s at the input side which is shown in **Figure 5**. The voltage across rectifier is obtained as 210 V. Transformer primary and secondary voltage of MLIBSMPS are obtained as 200 and 100 V, respectively, in **Figure 6**. Voltage across R-load with two loop PIC is shown as 90 V in **Figure 7**. It is observed that the output voltage reaches its peak at 1.30 s and settles at 1.38 s. Current through R-load with two loop PIC is shown 1.9 A in **Figure 8**. It is observed that the output current reaches its peak at 1.29 s and settles at 1.39 s.



TABLE 1 | Summary of time domain parameters (Voltage) with PIC and PRC.

Controller	T _r (s)	T _p (s)	T _s (s)	E _{ss} (V)
PI-PI	0.76	1.30	1.38	1.3
PR-PR	0.74	0.84	1.14	0.8

TABLE 2 | Summary of time domain parameters (Current) with PIC and PRC.

Controller	T _r (s)	T _p (s)	T _s (s)	E _{ss} (V)
PI-PI	0.77	1.29	1.39	0.7
PR-PR	0.75	0.82	1.13	0.4

MLIBSMPS With PR Controller in Closed Loop Configuration

The simulation diagram of MLIBSMPS circuit with PR Controller (PRC) in two loop mode is given in **Figure 9**. A sine wave input

TABLE 3 | PI and PR controller parameters.

Controller	Кр	Ki	Kr
PIC	0.18	0.9	_
PRC	0.3	-	0.9

of 250 V is given to the two loop PR controller and a disturbance is created at 0.7 s at the input side. The voltage across rectifier is obtained as 210 V. Transformer primary and secondary voltage of MLIBSMPS are obtained as 200 and 100 V, respectively, which are similar to the one shown in **Figure 6**. Voltage across R-load with two loop PRC is shown as 90 V in **Figure 10**. It is observed that the output voltage reaches its peak at 0.84 s and settles at 1.14 s. Current through R-load with two loop PRC is shown 1.9 A in **Figure 11**. It is observed that the output current reaches its peak at 0.82 s and settles at 1.13 s. The output power with two loop PIC and PRC is shown in **Figure 12** and its value is 200 W.



FIGURE 13 | Hardware structure of CFSMPS.



FIGURE 14 | Switching pulses for M1 and M2 of CFSMPS and Output voltage of 7 level inverter.



The evaluation of time domain parameters (Voltage) with PI and PR controller is given in **Table 1**. It is observed that with PR controller, there is a reduction of rise-time from 0.76 to 0.74 s, the peak time from 1.30 to 0.84 s, the settling-time from 1.38 to 1.14 s and the steady state error from 1.3 to 0.8 V.

The evaluation of time domain parameters (Current) with PI and PR controller is given in **Table 1**. It is observed that with PR

controller, there is a reduction of rise- time from 0.77 to 0.75 s, the peak time from 1.29 to 0.82 s, the settling-time from 1.39 to 1.13 s and the steady state error from 0.7 to 0.4 V.

It is observed from Tables 1, 2 that the obtained time domain parameter values in PR controllers are reduced when compared to PI Controllers. Hence, it is proved that the dynamic response of the system is improved in PR Controllers than

TABLE 4 List of components used	d for hardware of CFSMPS.
-----------------------------------	---------------------------

Rating			
1000E-03, 4.70E-05, 2.20E-03, 3.30E-11			
1000 V, 3 A			
10 uH			
600 V, 8 A			
1 K, 100 K, 22 K			
7812, 7805			
IR2110			
P.I.C16F84A			

TABLE 5 | Simulation and hardware values of CFSMPS.

S. no	Simulation	Hardware
Vin	230 V	230 V
Vo	90 V	86 V
fs	1 KHz	1 KHz
Po	160 W	152 W

PI Controllers. The parameter used for PI and PR controllers is shown in **Table 3**. These values are used in the simulation of PIC and PRC.

EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

To demonstrate the practical possibility of the proposed converter, hardware of Cascaded Flyback SMPS (CFSMPS) is fabricated and tested in the laboratory. The hardware of CFSMPS has rectifier, transformer, flyback converter, and control circuit modules. Hardware snapshot is given in **Figure 13**. The input voltage is given to the Cascaded Flyback SMPS. The Switching

REFERENCES

- Ajami, A., Oskuee, M. R. J., Mokhberdoran, A., and Khosroshahi, M. T. (2014). Advanced cascade multilevel converter with reduction in number of components. J. Electr. Eng. Technol. 9, 127–135. doi: 10.5370/JEET.2014.9.1.127
- Alishah, R. S., Nazarpour, D., Hosseini, S. H., and Sabahi, M. (2015). Reduction of power electronic elements in multilevel converter using a new cascade structure. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 62, 256–269. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2014.2331012
- Alzate, R. E., and Posada, J. (2017). "Design and implementation of proportionalresonant controller for 3-phase current source inverter in Dspace DS1104," in *IEEE Workshop on Power Electronics and Power Quality Applications (PEPQA)* (Bogota).
- Anjali, K. R., Padmasuresh, L., and Muthukumar, P. (2018). Genetic algorithm based 15 level multilevel inverter with SHE PWM. Int. J. Eng. Technol. 7, 893–897.
- Babaei, E. (2008). A cascade multilevel converter topology with reduced number of switches. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 23, 2657–2664. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2008.2005192
- Chandran, C. R., and Jothi, T. (2013). PID controller based closed loop analysis of a high efficient flyback converter with an active clamp technique. *Int. J. Adv. Trends Comput. Sci. Eng.* 2, 118–123.

pulses for M1 and M2 of fly back converter and the output voltage of 7- level inverter are illustrated in **Figure 14**. Output voltage and current are shown in **Figure 15**. List of components used are given in **Table 4**. The magnitudes of input as well as output are in accordance with the expected results. It is interesting to note that the input current ripple is very low due to cascading techniques. Comparison of Simulation and hardware values of CFSMPS are given in **Table 5**.

CONCLUSION

Simulation studies were done for Proportional Integral (PI) and Proportional Resonant (PR) controlled closed loop MLIBSMPS. These studies were done using the Simulink-based models. By using controllers, good voltage regulation can be achieved hence efficiency can also be improved. The outcomes signify that the Proportional resonant (PR) controlled closed loop MLIBSMPS gave an improved response as evaluated to the PI controlled closed loop MLIBSMPS. The advantages of the proposed system are very fast settling time and low steady state error. The improvement in dynamic response is because of the use of PR controller. The hardware results match with simulation results. The contribution of the present work is to use MLI for SMPS and PRC to regulate load voltage.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/supplementary material.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

- Deepa, K., Saju, H. M., and VijayaKumar, M. (2015). Soft switched multi output flyback converter with voltage doubler. *Int. J. Power Electron. Drive Syst.* 6, 396–403. doi: 10.11591/ijpeds.v6.i2.pp3 96-403
- Dogra, A., and Pal, K. (2014). Designing and tuning of PI controller for flyback converter. Int. J. Eng. Trends Technol. 13, 117–122. doi: 10.14445/22315381/IJETT-V13P225
- Ebrahimi, J., Babaei, E., and Gharehpetian, G. B. (2012). A new multilevel converter topology with reduced number of power electronic components. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 59, 655–667. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2011.21 51813
- Guo, S., Lin-Shi, X., Allard, B., Gao, Y., and Ruan, Y. (2010). Digital sliding-mode controller for high-frequency DC/DC SMPS. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 25, 1120–1123. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2009.2039356
- Halder, T. (2014a). "Continuous conduction mode (CCM) of operations & stability analysis of the flyback SMPS," in 1st International Conference on Non Conventional Energy (ICONCE 2014), 292–7. doi: 10.1109/ICONCE.2014.6808729
- Halder, T. (2014b). "Spacecraft electrical power systems (EPS) using the flyback converters," in *IEEE Proceedings- 1st International Conference on Non Conventional Energy (ICONCE 2014)*, 52–57. doi: 10.1109/ICONCE.2014.68 08681

- Kalirasu, A. (2017). A novel single source multiple output converter integrating buck boost and flyback topology for SMPS applications. Int. J. Electr. Eng. Comput. Sci. 18, 733–6. doi: 10.11591/ijeecs.v8.i3.pp733-736
- Law, K., Ng, W., and Wong, W. (2017). Flyback cascaded multilevel inverter based SHE PWM control for STATCOM applications. *Int. J. Power Electron. Drive Syst.* 8, 100–108. doi: 10.11591/ijpeds.v8.i1.pp100-108
- Lodh, T., Pragallapati, N., and Agarwal, V. (2018). Novel control scheme for an interleaved flyback converter based solar PV microinverter to achieve high efficiency. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.* 54, 3473–3482. doi: 10.1109/TIA.2018.2818655
- Ludois, D. C., Reed, J. K., and Venkataramanan, G. (2010). Hierarchical control of bridge-of-bridge multilevel power converters. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 57, 2679–2690. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2009.2030205
- Noman, A. M., Addoweesh, K. E., and Al-Haddad, K. (2016). "Cascaded multilevel inverter topology with high frequency galvanic-isolation for grid connected PV system," in *IECON 2016 - 42nd Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society* (Florence), 3030–3037. doi: 10.1109/IECON.2016. 7793616
- Reshma, K. P., Sreenath, R., and Pai, N. (2016). "Design and implementation of an isolated switched-mode power supply for LED application," in *International Conference on Computation of Power, Energy Information and Communication* (ICCPEIC). doi: 10.1109/ICCPEIC.2016.7557277
- Sahu, T., Sahu, A., and Pradhan, M. K. (2016). A unity power factor multiple isolated output switching mode power supply using AC-DC converter. *Int. J. Res. Advent. Technol.* 4, 177–184.
- Salimi, M., Soltani, J., Zakipour, A., and Abjadi, N. R. (2015). Hyper plane sliding mode control of the DC DC buck/boost converter in continuous and discontinuous conduction modes of operation. *IET Power Electron.* 8, 1473–1482. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2014.0578

- Sangeetha, K., Babu, T. S., Sudhakar, N., and Rajasekar, N. (2016). Modeling, analysis and design of efficient maximum power extraction method for solar PV system. Sus. Energy Technol. Assess. 15, 60–70. doi: 10.1016/j.seta.2016. 02.002
- Sasikala, K., and Krishnakumar, R. (2019). Fractional PID controlled cascaded flyback switched mode power supply with enhanced time domain response. *Int. J. Power Electron. Drive Syst.* 10, 909–916. doi: 10.11591/ijpeds.v10.i2.pp909-916
- Shankar, J. G., Edward, J. B., Kumar, K. S., and Raglend, I. J. (2017). "A 31-level asymmetrical cascaded multilevel inverter with DC-DC flyback converter for photovoltaic system," in *International Conference on High Voltage Engineering* and Power Systems (ICHVEPS) (Bali). doi: 10.1109/ICHVEPS.2017.82 25957
- Xiao, B., Hang, L., Mei, J., Riley, C., Tolbert, L. M., and Ozpineci, B. (2015). Modular cascaded H-bridge multilevel PV inverter with distributed MPPT for grid connected applications. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.* 51, 1722–1731. doi: 10.1109/TIA.2014.2354396

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Sasikala and Krishnakumar. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Analysis of Switching Sequence Operation for Reduced Switch Multilevel Inverter With Various Pulse Width Modulation Methods

Vinod Kumar Kanike and Saravanakumar Raju*

School of Electrical Engineering, Vellore Institute of Technology, Vellore, India

Pulse width modulation (PWM) methods are used to control the switching sequence operations of conventional multilevel inverters (MLIs) and reduced switch multilevel inverters (RSMLIs). Many researchers proposed various RSMLIs with their switching sequence operation and PWM control techniques. However, the switching operations of RSMLIs are not similar to conventional MLIs, which are a major problem of switch control. Logical equations are proposed for the operation of RSMLIs with the multi-carrier PWM methods like alternative phase opposition disposition (APOD), phase opposition disposition (POD), and phase disposition (PD). To operate the individual switch in symmetrical and asymmetrical RSMLI, logical operators are used to produce required pulse sequence from the sequence of PWM method and their analysis is not present in previous works. The proposed methodology can be applied to PV systems for efficient operation. The proposed methodology and binary representation of PWM method are analyzed on various RSMLIs for seven-level output voltage to operate each individual switch. Control of individual switching sequence and the operation of RSMLIs are simulated using MATLAB/Simulink. THD comparison is presented for RSMLI, DCL MLI, and SCSD MLI with various PWM methods.

OPEN ACCESS Edited by:

Sam Sichilalu, University of Zambia, Zambia

Reviewed by:

Marif Daula Siddique, University of Malaya, Malaysia Sobhan Dorahaki, Shahid Bahonar University of Kerman, Iran

*Correspondence:

Saravanakumar Raju rsaravanakumar@vit.ac.in

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Process and Energy Systems Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Energy Research

Received: 29 November 2019 Accepted: 23 December 2019 Published: 28 January 2020

Citation:

Kanike VK and Raju S (2020) Analysis of Switching Sequence Operation for Reduced Switch Multilevel Inverter With Various Pulse Width Modulation Methods. Front. Energy Res. 7:164. doi: 10.3389/fenrg.2019.00164 Keywords: pulse width modulation, multilevel inverter, reduced switch multilevel inverter, switching sequence, logic gates, total harmonic distortion

INTRODUCTION

Reducing the switch count for the design of multilevel inverters (MLIs) has an area of research in MLIs and focused to the study on reduced switch multilevel inverters (RSMLIs) (Vemuganti et al., 2018). Single DC voltage source is used to neutral point clamped MLI, active neutral point clamped MLI, flying capacitor MLI, and modular cascaded MLI. Multiple DC voltage sources are used for cascaded H bridge MLI, diode clamped MLI, and hybrid MLIs. Based on the multiple DC sources voltage ratio, MLIs are classified as symmetrical and asymmetrical (Ali and Kannan, 2015; Prabaharan and Palanisamy, 2017). RSMLIs are also designed by symmetric and asymmetric voltage sources with and without H bridge circuits. Mode of operation for RSMLI is the complex task and is presented as switching sequence table (Kumar and Kumar, 2019a). RSMLIs are proposed to achieve cost minimization, optimal voltage stress, reduced power losses, switching frequency operations, and less harmonic distortions. Operation of these conventional MLIs is performed with the support of gating signals (pulses) to the power switches of the respective inverter design (Chen et al., 2019).

Various modulation methods are used to operate the switches of symmetrical and asymmetrical RSMLIs. Among these, sinusoidal pulse width modulation (PWM), space vector PWM methods, and selective harmonic elimination PWM are most suitable to achieve good efficiency, less switching losses, and less harmonic distortion values (Sudhakar Babu et al., 2015; Kumar and Kumar, 2018). Generation of gating signals is achieved by various pulse modulation techniques with fundamental switching frequency and high switching frequency. There are one or two gating signals per cycle for the switching operation with low switching frequency (50-100 Hz), whereas high switching frequency (2-20 kHz) has multiple gating signals per cycle (Dong et al., 2016; Orfi Yegane and Sarvi, 2018). Multiple high switching frequency is suitable for the operation of RSMLIs with SPWM technique; this will result in the multi-carrier SPWM technique. With respect to the parameter variation of modulation signal, unipolar PWM, level-shifted PWM, and phase-shifted PWM schemes are implemented in the SPWM technique. Similarly, alternative phase opposition disposition (APOD), phase opposition disposition (POD), and phase disposition (PD) are presented with the parameter variation of carrier signal (Carrara et al., 1992; Holtz, 1992; Colak et al., 2011; Vemuganti et al., 2018).

Sequences of switching operation of various RSMLIs are presented in many research works with one of the modulation methods. However, obtaining the required pulse sequence for individual switch in RSMLI is a critical part of the presented works. Obtained pulse sequence from the traditional modulation method is not exactly matching with the required pulse sequence of RSMLI switching operation. Analyzing the proper logical operator for the generation of required pulse sequence is the complex task for the RSMLI operation. Using the logical operations, the working module of various RSMLIs are not properly explained by the researchers in their research works (Krishna and Vadhera, 2013; Umashankar et al., 2013; Gnana Prakash et al., 2014; Uthirasamy et al., 2015). By observing the limitations of the abovementioned works, in this article, the authors proposed the switching operation of RSMLI with the required generation of pulse sequence with unique methodology. In addition, detailed analysis and comparative analysis are also presented to show the superiority of the proposed technique. For better understanding pulse sequence generated by the proposed methodology, other PWM techniques are presented in tabular form.

Wide research studies on various renewable energy sources like photovoltaic and wind energy generation system are presented with various improved parameters. Power electronic converters are used for the integration of various renewable energy sources called hybrid structures. Control aspects of the various power converters are performed to obtain the required system parameters like improved efficiency for PV system and demand side with economical conditions (Dorahaki, 2015; Narendiran and Sahoo, 2017; Dorahaki et al., 2019). Efficiency and economical conditions motivate the authors to propose the control of reduced switch count MLI with simulation analysis. Various controlled methodologies are used for the control of RSMLIs, which are complex. A simple methodology is proposed in the present work with basic logic operators for the pulse sequence operation. A comparative study of various reduced switch count MLIs is presented with switch count (S), diodes (D), capacitors (C), output voltage level, PWM techniques, and methodology applied for the switching operation and is given in **Table 1**.

The organization of the article is as follows: Various RSMLIs of seven-level output voltage is presented in section Reduced Switch Multilevel Inverter (Seven Level). Selection of multi-carriers and various carrier based modulation techniques are given in section Carrier-Based Modulation Technique. Implementation of proposed methodology is discussed in section Implementation of Proposed Methodology. THD values with respect to various modulation index values and results of RSMLIs are presented in section Results and THD Comparison. The proposed methodology for the switching sequence operation of RSMLIs concludes in the final section.

REDUCED SWITCH MULTILEVEL INVERTER (SEVEN LEVEL)

Multistep output voltage of the traditional inverter is obtained with the proper arrangement of power semiconductor switches. Power semiconductor switches in the design of the traditional MLIs are directly operated and controlled with the pulse sequence obtained from multi-carrier PWM methods. These MLIs do not require any intermediate circuit to convert the obtained sequence of pulse to the required pulse sequence. In traditional MLIs, usage of power semiconductor switches, number of DC sources, and linear and non-linear elements are given in Table 2 (Kumar and Kumar, 2019a,b), where L is the level of MLI. Because of the greater number of electrical and electronic components, various parameters like power losses, total harmonic distortion (THD), efficiency, etc., are affecting the traditional MLI designs. To overcome these drawbacks from traditional MLIs, RSMLIs are introduced by many researchers. For the proposed analysis work on PWM, some of the recent RSMLIs are considered from the research work and compared with the performance parameters of the different systems. Intermediate switching circuitry is required for the operation of considered RSMLIs.

Umashankar et al. (2013) proposed a seven-level symmetric RSMLI design with five controllable semiconductor switches and 4 DC voltage sources (V_{DC}). This RSMLI is presented without H bridge and analyzed for the less THD values with resistive load. Chitra and Himavathi (2015) considered the proposed symmetric RSMLI by Umashankar et al. (2013) for the application of induction motor drive. Structure of the seven-level symmetric RSMLI is shown in **Figure 1A** and the switching sequence for the operation is given in **Table A1**.

Uthirasamy et al. (2015) proposed a DC link Cascaded (DCLMLI) seven-level asymmetric RSMLI with H bridge design. Eight controllable switches and 2 DC voltage sources (V_{DC1} , V_{DC2}) are used for the structure of the proposed module. THD result analysis with application to uninterrupted power supply system is done in their research work. Structure of asymmetric

References	Output voltage level	Voltage sources	Number of switches/capacitors			PWM technique	Methodology
			S	D	С	-	
Chen et al. (2019)	5	1	6	2	2	Unipolar (PD)	K-Map
Viswanath et al. (2019)	7	3	7	3	0	-	Fuzzy logic
Prabaharan and Palanisamy (2016)	9	4	12	0	0	Unipolar (APOD, POD, PD)	Logic gates
Uthirasamy et al. (2015)	7	2	8	0	0	Bipolar (APOD)	Logic gates
Chitra and Himavathi (2015)	7	4	5	0	0	Bipolar (APOD, POD, PD)	Logic gates
Gautam et al. (2015)	9	2	7	4	2	Bipolar (POD)	Logic gates
Nagarajan and Saravanan (2014)	9	4	11	0	0	Unipolar (APOD, POD, IPD, PD)	_
Umashankar et al. (2013)	7	4	5	0	0	Bipolar (APOD, POD, PD)	Logic gates

TABLE 1 | Comparison of various reduced switch MLIs.

TABLE 2 | Required number of components for traditional MLIs.

Type of MLI	No. of DC sources	No. of switches	No. of capacitors for DC- bus	Clamping capacitors	Clamping diodes
Diode clamped	1	2 × (L-1)	L-1	-	(L-1) × (L-2)
Flying capacitor	1	2 × (L-1)	L-1	(L-1) × ((L-2)/2)	-
Cascaded H-bridge	(L-1)/2	$4 \times ((L-1)/2)$	-	-	-

RSMLI and the switching sequence are shown in **Figure 1B** and **Table A2**.

Viswanath et al. (2019) proposed a symmetric cascaded switched diode (SCSD) seven-level RSMLI with H bridge design. Seven controllable and three uncontrolled switches with three DC voltage sources (V_{DC}) are used for the design of proposed module. Combination of DC voltage source, controllable switch, and uncontrolled switch gives an elementary unit for the operation of the proposed RSMLI. Structural design and switching sequence table are shown in **Figure 1C** and **Table A3**. Switching sequence control of the proposed RSMLI is done with a fuzzy controller. THD analysis is presented in the results discussion for various levels.

In these proposed symmetric and asymmetric RSMLI, logical operators are used for individual switch for operating the switch with required switching sequence. Proper pulse conversion analysis is not presented based on carrier modulation techniques in their proposed research. Proper modulation techniques with analysis of logical operators are proposed in the present work.

CARRIER-BASED MODULATION TECHNIQUE

Various modulation techniques are reviewed for RSMLIs and conclusions with "per-carrier cycle" carrier-based PWM method (Hamman and van der Merwe, 1988; Carrara et al., 1992). Implementation of the carrier-based PWM technique exists in two methods. The direct digital technique has a pre-calculated inverter state, time length of each carrier, and modulation cycle employing space vector theory (Hava et al., 1999; Gopalakrishnan and Narayanan, 2014). The indirect technique works with carrier triangle intersection technique. Reference modulation wave with a low frequency is compared with high-frequency triangular carrier wave and the intersection results in the pulse switching sequence (Dong et al., 2016; Kumar and Kumar, 2018).

In the operation of MLIs, carrier triangular intersection technique is easy to implement with modulation wave comparison strategy. Bipolar sinusoidal wave, unipolar sinusoidal wave, and saw tooth wave are preferable for the modulation wave (Vemuganti et al., 2018). Single triangular carrier wave is suitable for two-level and three-level traditional MLIs. In case of five levels and more than five levels, multicarrier triangular waves are used for the generation of levels (McGrath and Holmes, 2002). For the analysis of switching sequence in the considered RSMLIs, bipolar sinusoidal (SPWM) wave and unipolar sinusoidal (USPWM) is used as modulation signal. Based on position of multi-carrier waves, phase shift (PS) and level shift (LS) PWM techniques are proposed. Multicarrier technique is used with three disposition carrier wave implemented as follows (Nagarajan and Saravanan, 2014; Prasad et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2019).

Alternative Phase Opposition Disposition

The arrangement of all triangular carrier waves alternatively in opposition with displacement of 180° to phase is called alternative phase opposition disposition (APOD). All carrier waves are compared with the low-frequency modulation bipolar sinusoidal wave or unipolar sinusoidal wave with preferred amplitude and frequency measured based on the level of MLI. Representation of APOD PWM technique is presented in **Figures B1, B2**.

Phase Opposition Disposition

Selection of all in-phase carrier waves considered for above zero reference value and all in-phase carrier waves but opposite with displacement of 180° to below zero reference value is called phase opposition disposition (POD). Only bipolar sinusoidal



modulation wave is possible in the POD PWM technique. The USPWM method is not possible for the POD PWM technique due to no below zero reference value in unipolar modulation wave. Representation of POD PWM technique is presented in **Figure B3**.

Phase Disposition

All the triangular carrier waves on above and below zero reference value are in-phase. This modulation technique is called phase disposition (PD). Bipolar and unipolar sinusoidal modulation wave is suitable for the operation of PD PWM technique. **Figures B4**, **B5** show representation of PD PWM technique.

Selection of number of multi-carrier waves for the operation of RSMLI in intersection technique is proposed with proper

methodology and shown in **Figure 2**. Selection of number of carrier signals (C), amplitude of each carrier wave, amplitude of modulation wave (A_m) are to be defined based on the level of output voltage. With the proper analysis of the proposed algorithm, generation of gating signals are obtained with the comparison of amplitudes of modulation wave and carrier wave given in Equations (1) and (2).

Amplitude of modulation wave,
$$|A_m| = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} |C_i|(1)$$

 $|A_m| \ge |C_i| \Rightarrow \begin{cases} P_1 \text{ to } P_{\frac{(n-1)}{2}}, & \text{ If } i = 1 \text{ to } \frac{(n-1)}{2} \\ N_1 \text{ to } N_{\frac{(n-1)}{2}}, & \text{ If } i = \frac{(n-1)}{2} + 1 \text{ to } (n-1) \end{cases}$ (2)

In most of the bipolar PWM methods, n-1 carrier signals are used for the "n" level output voltage of RSMLI. (n-1)/2



carrier waves are used for the unipolar PWM methods (Huang et al., 2018). The switching sequence operation of seven-level symmetric RSMLI and asymmetric DCL MLI is performed by bipolar multi-carrier PWM method. SCSD MLI switching sequence operation is done with the unipolar multi-carrier PWM method. Calculation for number of divisions per cycle and time interval of each division is given in Equations (5) and (6). For seven-level output voltage of MLI, total time of one cycle is to be distributed for one cycle as shown in **Figure 3**.

Frequency of the proposed system $(f_m) = 50Hz$ (3)

Total time period of one cycle (t) =
$$1/f_m = 0.02s$$
 (4)

Number of divisions/cycle
$$(D_t) = (n^2) + 2$$
 (5)

Time interval of each
$$D_t(t_d) = [(n^*2) + 2]/t$$
 (6)

To present the clear analysis of switching sequence operation for individual MLI, a binary representation switching sequence is presented in this research work. Binary representation of bipolar SPWM and unipolar SPWM methods is shown in **Tables B1**, **B2**.

IMPLEMENTATION OF PROPOSED METHODOLOGY

Switching sequences of individual switch in various RSMLI with the binary representation sequence of PWM method are compared to generate the required pulse sequence. Representation of switching sequence is in the form of "0's" and "1's", and it is easy to analyze the logical equations for



the intermediate circuit. If a generated pulse sequence exactly matches any of the individual switching sequence of RSMLI, then the matched sequence is directly used for the operation of proper switch. If pulse sequence does not match any switching sequence, then an intermediate circuit is to be designed with the use of logic gates. Depending on the "ON" and "OFF" condition of a switch in one cycle, the use of logic gates is decided. If a switch is ON and OFF for more times per cycle, then a greater number of logic gates are used for the intermediate circuit. With the observation of irregular ON and OFF condition of a switch, some logical equations are analyzed and presented for individual switch, which do not have direct control from generated pulse sequence of the PWM method. A Karnaugh map is used for the analysis of logical equations (Vemuganti et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2019) for individual switch for five-level RSMLI. Application of K map is complex for the system with more than four variables. For seven-level RSMLI, a minimum of six pulse sequence variables are available.

To compare the sequence of each switch, the generated pulse sequence unique algorithm is proposed in this research work. All the considered RSMLI are of seven levels; six pulse sequences are obtained from the comparison and intersection methods of PWM. Initially, pulse sequences are defined in the comparison operation of the proposed methodology. Pulse sequences obtained from the carrier waves in PWM methods that are above the zero reference wave are considered as binary sequence of positive half cycle. Representation of the positive half cycle pulse sequence variables are P_1 , P_2 , and P_3 . Pulse sequences from carrier waves that are below the zero reference wave are considered as negative half cycle binary sequence. N1, N2, and N3 are the negative half cycle pulse sequence variables. Each switch sequence is divided into two halves, positive half switch sequence (S_P) and the negative half switch sequence (S_N) . Each switch positive half sequence (Sp) is individually compared with singlevariable pulse sequence of positive half pulse sequences (P1, P2, and P₃). Evaluating analysis of each variable along with its logical NOT operator variables is clearly presented in the flowchart representation as shown in Figure 4A. Similar to comparison of positive half switching sequence and pulse sequence, negative half cycle switching sequence (S_N) is compared individually with the single variable of negative half pulse sequences (N1, N2, and N₃) and logical NOT operator variables. Zero reference wave



variable is represented as PN_0 . Flowchart representation of the proposed negative half cycle comparison is shown in **Figure 4B**. If the switching sequence does not match any of individual pulse sequences, then the logical combination of two variables is considered.

In combinational two-pulse sequence variable logical operator comparison of switching sequence, positive half switching sequence and negative half switching sequence are individually performed. Various logical operators like AND (•), OR (+), NOR $(\overline{+})$, NAND $(\overline{\bullet})$, EXOR (\oplus) , and EXNOR (\odot) are used for the comparative analysis of two variables. Selection of required positive half pulse sequence with two variables for the positive switching sequence is shown in Figure 5A. Similarly, negative half cycle switching sequence comparison with two pulse variables is shown in Figure 5B. From the obtained pulse sequence of positive and negative half pulse variables, the final required switching sequence can be analyzed with the logical operator as shown in Figure 6. Resultants of each switch switching sequence (S_#) of various RSMLI are presented as logical expression for the successful operation to generate seven-level output voltage where # is the switch number like S₁, S₂, S₃, etc., in various RSMLIs. Analysis of individual switch in RSMLI, DCL MLI, and SCSD MLI is performed for the logical expression of each switch. Random selections of switching sequence selection operation are presented in tabular analysis.

RESULTS AND THD COMPARISON

The proposed topology is analyzed for three different RSMLIs and the theoretical analysis of switching sequence logical equations is obtained. To verify the proposed theoretical analysis, MATLAB/Simulink is used for simulation process. Simulation parameters of the three MLIs are given in **Table 3**. Analysis of proposed methodology to the application of RSMLI, DCL MLI, and SCSD MLI is explained in the below subsections. THD comparison for the obtained output voltage and output current for resistive load of three MLIs with considered modulation techniques are presented.

To generate the modulation wave by the modulation technique, sinusoidal wave is selected for bipolar modulation technique as shown in Figures B1, B3, B4. Absolute sine wave is selected for unipolar modulation technique as shown in Figures B2, B5 with an amplitude of 3 V and a frequency of 50 Hz. Multi-carrier waves are required for the operation of the multi-carrier PWM method as shown in Figures B1-B5. Each carrier wave of multi-carrier PWM is generated with a repeating sequence of the simulink library. Time value parameters of the repeating sequence for carrier waves P1, P2, P3, N1, N2, and N₃ are given as [0 0.5/18,000 1/18,000], where 18,000 is the selected switching frequency of the proposed methodology. With respect to the time values of carrier waves, the output amplitude values are selected as [0 1 0] for P₁, [2 1 2] for P_2 , [2 3 2] for P_3 , [0 -1 0] for N_1 , [-2 -1 -2] for N_2 , and [-2 -3 -2] for N₃ in the modulation technique of APOD bipolar PWM method as shown in Figure B1; [0 1 0] for P_1 , [1 2 1] for P_2 , [2 3 2] for P_3 , [0 -1 0] for N_1 , [-1 -2 -1] for N₂, and [-2 -3 -2] for N₃ in the modulation technique of bipolar POD PWM modulation as shown in **Figure B3**; [0 1 0] for P₁, [1 2 1] for P₂, [2 3 2] for P₃, $[-1 \ 0 \ -1]$ for N₁, $[-2 \ -1 \ -2]$ for N₂, and $[-3 \ -2 \ -3]$ for N₃ in bipolar PD PWM modulation technique as shown in Figure B4; [0 1 0] for P₁, [2 1 2] for P₂, and [2 3 2] for P₃ in unipolar APOD PWM modulation as shown in Figure B2; [0 1 0] for P₁, [1 2 1] for P₂, and [2 3 2] for P₃ in unipolar PD PWM modulation as shown in Figure B5. Greater than relational operator is used in between modulation and carrier wave to obtain required pulse waveforms to switch ON and OFF semiconductor devices in MLIs. Obtained pulse sequences



are presented as binary representation in **Tables B1**, **B2**. With analysis of proposed methodology between binary representation of pulse sequence and the switching sequence of each switch, the required logical equation for switching sequence is presented in subsections.

Analysis of Proposed Methodology for RSMLI Switching Sequence Logical Equation

An MLI with less number of switches without H bridge is shown in **Figure 1A**. Five MOSFETs are used for the design and

simulation of the RSMLI. Among five switches, three switches are operated for the level generation of output voltage and two are used for the positive half cycle and negative half cycle of output voltage. Four symmetrical voltage sources (V_{DC}) are used for the seven-step MLI output voltage. Each voltage is fixed with a DC voltage of 72 V. Resistive load of 100 Ω is used for the observation of output voltage and current. To operate the switches in the required switching sequence as shown in **Table A1**, the proposed methodology is applied for the generated pulse sequence of PWM techniques. Focusing on the switching sequence of switch S₂, analysis of the proposed methodology



TABLE 3 | Parameters of various RSMLIs.

is used to obtain logical equation to convert the generated pulse sequence into switching sequence for switch ON and OFF conditions.

The switching sequence of switch S₂ is considered as two parts, one is positive half cycle S_p and the other is negative half cycle S_N . Bipolar PWM technique is used for the operation of switches in RSMLI. Binary representation of bipolar PWM technique shown in Table B2 is considered for the logical comparative analysis of the proposed methodology. Initially, SP sequence is compared with each binary representation sequence of P_1 , P_2 , P_3 , $\overline{P_1}$, $\overline{P_2}$, and $\overline{P_3}$ as shown in **Figure 4A**. Similarly, S_N is compared with each binary representation sequence of N₁, N₂, N₃, $\overline{N_1}$, $\overline{N_2}$, and $\overline{N_3}$ as shown in **Figure 4B**. The pulse sequence matches any of the single-carrier wave pulse sequence; next, focus on the two carrier wave pulse sequence with the combination of logical operators. S_P is compared with the combination logical operations of two binary pulse sequence representations as shown in Figure 5A. Logical combination of $(\overline{P_1} \cdot P_2)$ matches with S_P. Similarly, S_N is compared with the logical combination of two binary pulse sequence representations as shown in Figure 5B. Logical combination of $(\overline{N_2} \cdot N_3)$ matches with S_N. Total switching sequence of switch S₂ is compared with the combination of logical operators of obtained S_P and S_N as shown in Figure 6. Total binary representation and logical comparison of each stage of switch S₂ is given in Table C1. Final logical equation required for the switch S₂ operation is obtained and given in Equation (7). With the similar application of proposed methodology, required final logical equations for the switch S₁, S₃ are presented in Equation (7). Switching sequence of switches S₄ and S₅ is operated with the pulse sequence of zero reference wave and is given in Equation (7). The resultant pulse sequence of RSMLI obtained with the analysis and the logical equations of each switch is shown in Figure 7.

$$S_{1} = P_{1} + (\overline{N_{1}} \cdot N_{2})$$

$$S_{2} = (\overline{P_{1}} \cdot P_{2}) + (\overline{N_{2}} \cdot N_{3})$$

$$S_{3} = (\overline{P_{2}} \cdot P_{3}) + \overline{N_{3}}$$

$$S_{4} = \overline{PN_{0}}$$

$$S_{5} = PN_{0}$$
(7)

Analysis of Proposed Methodology for DCL MLI Switching Sequence Logical Equation

Asymmetric DC link MLI is simulated with eight MOSFETs as shown in Figure 1B. Four switches are used for the level

Type of inverter	Input and output parameters							
	Input voltage (V)	Modulating frequency (f _m) (Hz)	Carrier frequency (f _c) (Hz)	R Load (Ω)	Output voltage peak (V)	Output RMS voltage (V)	Output RMS current (A)	Output power (W)
Symmetric RSMLI	$V_{DC}=72$	50	18,000	100	215.8	152.6	2.158	329.3
Asymmetric DCL MLI	$V_1 = 72$ $V_2 = 144$	50	18,000	100	195	137.9	1.95	268.9
SCSD MLI	$V_{DC}=72$	50	18,000	100	193.2	136.6	1.932	263.9

Kanike and Raju

100 Ω . Proposed methodology is applied for the switching sequence of DCL MLI shown in **Table A2**. Switching sequence operation of switch S₆ is presented with analysis of the proposed methodology.

January 2020 | Volume 7 | Article 164







TABLE 4 | Voltage THD comparison of RSMLIs with PWM techniques.

Modulation index	APOD			POD			PD		
	RSMLI (%)	SCSD MLI (%)	DCL MLI (%)	RSMLI (%)	SCSD MLI (%)	DCL MLI (%)	RSMLI (%)	SCSD MLI (%)	DCL MLI (%)
1.1	3.90	3.73	3.79	3.90	_	3.79	3.92	3.72	3.81
1	1.09	0.94	0.67	1.06	-	0.64	1.15	0.92	0.66
0.9	1.38	1.10	0.88	1.46	-	1.03	1.37	1.37	0.97
0.8	1.71	1.36	0.98	1.63	-	0.94	1.58	1.43	1.09
0.7	1.85	1.41	1.07	1.88	-	1.10	1.94	1.43	1.13

Switching sequences of the switch S₁ and S₂ of H bridge are operated with zero reference wave pulse sequence PN0. S3 and S4 are operated with pulse sequence of $\overline{PN_0}$. Similar to RSMLI, S_p and S_N are considered and compared with the binary sequence representation of bipolar PWM technique. SP is partially matched with the two pulse sequence logical combination of " $P_1 \oplus P_2$." Obtained partial match of S_P is compared with the single pulse sequence P_3 and finds the match of S_P results to the logical combination of " $(P_1 \oplus P_2) \oplus P_3$." S_N is partially matched with logical combination of two pulse sequences as " $N_1 \oplus N_2$." Obtained partial match of S_N is logically compared with single pulse sequence N₃ and obtained an equivalent as " $(N_1 \oplus N_2) \oplus$ N₃." Overall switching sequence of switch S₆ is obtained with the logical combination of the S_P and S_N as shown in Equation (8). Total binary representation and logical comparisons of each stage of switch S₆ are given in Table C2. Switching sequence logical equation for switches S₅, S₇, and S₈ are given in Equation (8) with the analysis of the proposed methodology. The resultant pulse sequence of DCL MLI obtained with the analysis and the logical equations of each switch are shown in **Figure 8**.

$$\begin{split} S_1 \text{ and } S_2 &= PN_0\\ S_3 \text{ and } S_4 &= \overline{PN_0}\\ S_5 &= (P_2 \oplus P_3) \oplus (N_2 \oplus N_3)\\ S_6 &= [(P_1 \oplus P_2) \oplus P_3] \odot [(N_1 \oplus N_2) \oplus N_3]\\ S_7 &= (P_1 \oplus P_2) \oplus (N_1 \oplus N_2)\\ S_8 &= P_2 \odot N_2 \end{split} \tag{8}$$

Analysis of Proposed Methodology for SCSD MLI Switching Sequence Logical Equation

Symmetric Cascaded Switch Diode MLI is simulated with seven MOSFETs and three diodes. Four MOSFETs are used for the H bridge, and three MOSFETs and three diodes are used for the level build process of the SCSD MLI as shown in **Figure 1C**. Three symmetric voltage sources (V_{DC}) each of 72 V are used for the generation of seven-level output voltage across a resistive load of 100 Ω . Switching sequence of the SCSD MLI is shown in **Table A3**. Switching sequence of operation of the SCSD MLI is performed with the unipolar PWM technique.

Binary pulse sequence representation of each carrier wave in unipolar PWM technique is presented in **Table B1**. Switching sequence operation of SCSD MLI is simple as compared with DCL MLI and RSMLI. S_1 and S_2 switch sequence are matching with the pulse sequence of P_0 . Switches S_3 and S_4 sequences are matching with the zero reference wave pulse representation P_0 . Switches S_5 , S_6 , and S_7 are directly operated with pulse sequences P_1 , P_2 , and P_3 as shown in Eq. 9. Binary representation of switching sequence operation of switch S_7 is given in **Table C3**. The resultant pulse sequence of SCSD MLI obtained with the analysis and the logical equations of each switch are shown in **Figure 9**.

$$S_1 \text{ and } S_2 = P_0$$

$$S_3 \text{ and } S_4 = \overline{P_0}$$

$$S_5 = P_1$$

$$S_6 = P_2$$

$$S_7 = P_3$$
(9)

THD Comparison of MLIs by Proposed Methodology With APOD, POD, and PD Modulation Techniques

By applying the logical equations to the respective switches of RSMLIs, proper seven-level output voltage can be obtained. Input parameters of considered RSMLIs are given in **Table 3** with resultant output voltage, RMS output voltage, RMS current, and output power. THD analysis of seven-level output voltage of symmetric RSMLI without H bridge, SCSD RSMLI with bridge, and asymmetric DCL MLI is presented. The obtained THD values of RSMLIs are given for APOD, POD, and PD PWM techniques with respect to various modulation index values. Voltage THD analysis of APOD, POD, and PD PWM techniques is given in **Table 4**.

The obtained seven-level output voltage waveform and the FFT analysis of symmetric RSMLI voltage with various PWM methods are shown in **Figure D1** with a modulation index of 0.9. Similarly, the obtained seven-level output voltage waveform and FFT analysis of asymmetric DCL MLI and SCSD MLI are shown in **Figures D2**, **D3**. Comparative THD analysis is presented for over-modulation index and under-modulation index values in

REFERENCES

Ali, J. S. M., and Kannan, R. (2015). A new symmetric cascaded multilevel inverter topology using single and double source unit. *J. Power Electr.* 15, 951–963. doi: 10.6113/JPE.2015.15. 4.951 the comparative tables. With the proposed methodology, a lower THD value is obtained with the modulation index value of "1." Among the three MLIs, DCL MLI is performing well with less THD value of 0.67% by APOD PWM, 0.64% by POD PWM, and 0.66% by PD PWM with a modulation index value of "1."

CONCLUSION

This paper presents a new analysis of switching sequence operation for various symmetric and asymmetric RSMLIs with logical operators. A comparative study and observation between various published research articles is presented, and the proposed methodology provides simple analysis and better performance parameters than the previous analysis, by analyzing the pulse sequences of bipolar PWM and unipolar PWM techniques as binary representation and comparing each switching sequence of RSMLI with it. A step-by-step analysis is clearly presented with the calculation of number of carrier waves and modulation techniques. Operational analysis of individual switch is properly presented with the flowchart representations for considered RSMLI, DCL MLI, and SCSD MLI. The resultant logical equation of each switch for various RSMLIs is obtained with the application of the proposed method. Comparative analysis of voltage and current THD values is given without deviating the standards of MLI. The proposed method is suitable for generation of gating signals of various RSMLIs with different PWM methods and can be operated as switch sequence order.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VK contributed for analysis of the switching sequence of RSMLIs and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. SR is the corresponding author and takes primary responsibility for communication with the journal and editorial office during the submission process, throughout peer review and during publication. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fenrg. 2019.00164/full#supplementary-material

Carrara, G., Gardella, S., Marchesoni, M., Salutari, R., and Sciutto, G. (1992). A new multilevel PWM method: a theoretical analysis. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 7, 497–505. doi: 10.1109/63.145137

Chen, J., Wang, C., and Li, J. (2019). Single-phase step-up five-level inverter with phase-shifted pulse width modulation. *J. Power Electron.* 19, 134–145. doi: 10.6113/JPE.2019.19.1.134

- Chitra, A., and Himavathi, S. (2015). Reduced switch multilevel inverter for performance enhancement of induction motor drive with intelligent rotor resistance estimator. *IET Power Electron.* 8, 2444–2453. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2014.0648
- Colak, I., Kabalci, E., and Bayindir, R. (2011). Review of multilevel voltage source inverter topologies and control schemes. *Energy Convers. Manage.* 52, 1114–1128. doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2010.09.006
- Dong, X., Yu, X., Yuan, Z., Xia, Y., and Li, Y. (2016). An improved SPWM strategy to reduce switching in cascaded multilevel inverters. J. Power Electron. 16, 490–497. doi: 10.6113/JPE.2016.16.2.490
- Dorahaki, S. (2015). Evaluating the radiation and temperature effect on photovoltaic systems. *Bull. Electr. Eng. Informatics* 4, 1–6. doi: 10.11591/eei.v4i1.305
- Dorahaki, S., Rashidinejad, M., Mollahassani-pour, M., and Bakhshai, A. (2019). An efficient hybrid structure to solve economic-environmental energy scheduling integrated with demand side management programs. *Electr. Eng.* 101, 1249–1260. doi: 10.1007/s00202-019-00866-x
- Gautam, S. P., Kumar, L., and Gupta, S. (2015). Hybrid topology of symmetrical multilevel inverter using less number of devices. *IET Power Electron.* 8, 2125–2135. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2015.0037
- Gnana Prakash, M., Balamurugan, M., and Umashankar, S. (2014). A new multilevel inverter with reduced number of switches. *Int. J. Power Electron. Drive System* 5, 63–70. doi: 10.11591/ijpeds.v5i1.6089
- Gopalakrishnan, K. S., and Narayanan, G. (2014). Space vector based modulation scheme for reducing capacitor RMS current in three-level diode-clamped inverter. *Electric Power Syst. Res.* 117, 1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2014. 06.025
- Hamman, J., and van der Merwe F. S. (1988). Voltage harmonics generated by voltage-fed inverters using PWM natural sampling. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 3, 297–302. doi: 10.1109/63.17947
- Hava, A. M., Kerkman, R. J., and Lipo, T. A. (1999). Simple analytical and graphical methods for carrier-based PWM-VSI drives. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 14, 49–61. doi: 10.1109/63.737592
- Holtz, J. (1992). Pulsewidth modulation—a survey. *IEEE Trans. Indus. Electron.* 39, 410–420. doi: 10.1109/41.161472
- Huang, J., Liu, Q., Wang, X., and Li, K. (2018). A carrier-based modulation scheme to reduce the third harmonic component of common-mode voltage in a threephase inverter under high DC voltage utilization. *IEEE Trans. Indus. Electron.* 65, 1931–1940. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2017.2745439
- Krishna, M. D., and Vadhera, S. (2013). Comparative study of hybrid and cascaded h-bridge multilevel inverters. *Int. J. Res. Eng. Technol.* 405–10. doi: 10.15623/ijret.2013.0208063
- Kumar, K. V., and Kumar, S. R. (2018). Advanced PWM techniques for control of power electronic converters in PV and motor drive systems. *Int. J. Pure Appl. Math.* 118, 1–21.
- Kumar, K. V., and Kumar, S. R. (2019a). Analysis of logic gates for generation of switching sequence in symmetric and asymmetric reduced switch multilevel inverter. *IEEE Access* 7, 97719–97731. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019. 2929836
- Kumar, K. V., and Kumar, S. R. (2019b). Switching sequence control of reduced switch count multilevel inverter with multi carrier pulse width modulation. *Int. J. Sci. Technol. Res.* 8, 3790–3798.

- McGrath, B. P., and Holmes, D. G. (2002). Multicarrier PWM strategies for multilevel inverters. *IEEE Trans. Indus. Electron.* 49, 858–867. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2002.801073
- Nagarajan, R., and Saravanan, M. (2014). Performance analysis of a novel reduced switch cascaded multilevel inverter. J. Power Electron. 14, 48–60. doi: 10.6113/JPE.2014.14.148
- Narendiran, S., and Sahoo, S. K. (2017). A single phase reduced device count multilevel inverter topology using MCPWM for renewable energy systems. *Energy Procedia* 117, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2017.05.128
- Orfi Yegane, M. S., and Sarvi, M. (2018). An improved harmonic injection PWM-frequency modulated triangular carrier method with multiobjective optimizations for inverters. *Electric Power Syst. Res.* 160, 372–380. doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2018.03.011
- Prabaharan, N., and Palanisamy, K. (2016). Comparative analysis of symmetric and asymmetric reduced switch MLI topologies using unipolar pulse width modulation strategies. *IET Power Electron.* 9, 2808–2823. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2016.0283
- Prabaharan, N., and Palanisamy, K. (2017). A comprehensive review on reduced switch multilevel inverter topologies, modulation techniques and applications. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 76, 1248–1282. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2017.03.121
- Prasad, G. D., Jegathesan, V., and Rama Rao, P. V. V. (2017). Hybrid multilevel DC link inverter with reduced power electronic switches. *Energy Procedia* 117, 626–634. doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2017.05.162
- Sudhakar Babu, T., Priya, K., Maheswaran, D., Sathish Kumar, K., and Rajasekar, N. (2015). Selective voltage harmonic elimination in PWM inverter using bacterial foraging algorithm. *Swarm Evolut. Comput.* 20, 74–81. doi: 10.1016/j.swevo.2014.11.002
- Umashankar, S., Sreedevi, T. S., Nithya, V. G., and Vijayakumar, D. (2013). A new 7-level symmetric multilevel inverter with minimum number of switches. *ISRN Electron.* 2013:9. doi: 10.1155/2013/476876
- Uthirasamy, R., Ragupathy, U. S., and Kumar, V. (2015). Structure of boost DClink cascaded multilevel inverter for uninterrupted power supply applications. *IET Power Electron.* 8, 2085–2096. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2014.0746
- Vemuganti, H. P., Sreenivasarao, D., Siva Kumar, G., and Sai Spandana, A. (2018). Reduced carrier PWM scheme with unified logical expressions for reduced switch count multilevel inverters. *IET Power Electron*. 11, 912–921. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2017.0586
- Viswanath, Y., Muralikumar, K., Ponnambalam, P., and Praveen Kumar, M. (2019). Symmetrical Cascaded Switched-Diode Multilevel Inverter with Fuzzy Controller. Springer Singapore: Springer.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Kanike and Raju. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Investigation of Standalone Solar Photovoltaic Water Pumping System With Reduced Switch Multilevel Inverter

T. Poompavai and M. Kowsalya*

School of Electrical Engineering, VIT University, Vellore, India

Solar photovoltaic-powered water pumping systems are becoming very successful in regions where there is no opportunity for connecting the electric grid. The photovoltaic technology converts solar energy into electrical energy for operating direct current (DC) or alternating current (AC) motor-based water pump. In the case of a solar AC motor water pump, it engages two energy conversion stages (DC-DC and DC-AC) in the power conditioning unit. This usually resulted in increased size, cost, and complexity and decreases the efficiency of the entire system. The existing two-level inverter (DC-AC) stage generates higher harmonics in output voltage and higher electromagnetic interference that deteriorates directly the AC motor performance. Therefore, as a solution to the addressed problems, in this study, an innovative seven-level inverter with five power semiconductor switches for the operation of 0.5 HP single-phase induction motor pump had been investigated. The proposed multilevel inverter has the capability of providing lesser harmonic voltage that reduces filter requirements; along with this, other part components are used lesser when compared to other conventional multilevel inverters. To provide better insight into the work performance of this proposed topology, the simulation is executed in the MATLAB/Simulink environment, and hardware implementation of the same is depicted. From the results, it is observed that the proposed multilevel inverter topology obtained a total power loss of 1.6034W and efficiency at 98.11%. This quality output voltage acquired from the multilevel inverter had been fed to drive the induction motor water pump; it pumped the water at the desired flow rate accordingly.

Keywords: multilevel inverter, THD, DC-DC, DC-AC, photovoltaic, PWM, switching frequency, induction motor

INTRODUCTION

Globally, solar photovoltaic-powered water pumping systems (SPVWP) are progressively used in the areas where there is plentiful sunshine and scarce power generation systems. Besides, photovoltaic (PV) system hardware prices declined to 80% in the last two decades. In the last 10 years, the levelized cost of electricity (LCoE) measure has lowered by 75% to USD 69/MWh (Jäger-Waldau, 2019). These developments paved the way to enroll PV systems much faster, especially the standalone alone PV systems. The acquisition of SPVWP is very simple compared

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Umashankar Subramaniam, Prince Sultan University, Saudi Arabia

Reviewed by:

Ali Q. Al-Shetwi, Universiti Tenaga Nasional, Malaysia Chiranjit Sain, Siliguri Institute of Technology (SIT), India

> *Correspondence: M. Kowsalya mkowsalya@vit.ac.in

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Process and Energy Systems Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Energy Research

Received: 02 December 2019 Accepted: 15 January 2020 Published: 21 February 2020

Citation:

Poompavai T and Kowsalya M (2020) Investigation of Standalone Solar Photovoltaic Water Pumping System With Reduced Switch Multilevel Inverter. Front. Energy Res. 8:9. doi: 10.3389/fenrg.2020.00009 to other conventional diesel or electric-based water pumping systems in consideration of cost and maintenance. Generally, SPVWP is an assembly of a solar PV array, inverter, and motorpump set. A PV array is a combination of electrically wired solar cells; they are mounted together on a frame, whereas an array is designed by connecting several modules together. The solar inverter is an important building block in a PV system, which makes the conversion of direct current (DC) output from PV panel into alternating current (AC) current that is able to run a motor pump set for groundwater extraction (Biswas and Iqbal, 2018). In addition, the present SPVWP utilizes electronic systems, which majorly helps in increasing output power, efficiency, and performance of the whole system. The



controller also has the capability to track water levels in a tank, control motor speed, and utilize maximum power point tracking technology to give efficient output (Poompavai and Kowsalya, 2019). Furthermore, the authors in Odeh et al. (2018) suggested that the performance of SPVWP strongly depends on the head of the operation, irradiance factor, and PV array size. To improve the efficiency of the pump, they recommended to design the pump based on pump-well characteristics, subsystem efficiency, array sizing, average of system, frequency distribution of irradiance, etc. (Al-Shetwi et al., 2016). The advancements also occurred in PV panel tracking mechanism, from manual tracking to automatic dual-axis tracking systems, with the help of microcontroller programming (Chandel et al., 2015).

In SPVWP, the power conditioning unit (PCU) comprises of all electronic conversion units. Therefore, in the PCU unit, if the system employs a DC–DC converter or DC–AC inverter alone, this is regarded as a single-stage system. Else, if the system employs both converters, this is considered as a double-stage system (Karampuri et al., 2014). In a double-stage system, two PCUs are interfaced: one is applied for extracting maximum power from PV source, and the other is used for controlling a motor pump set. The existing two-level inverter or voltage source inverter (VSI) in PCUs is required to satisfy power quality issues, and it is also found to increase the losses and ripple content in the motor current of the PV system that leads to increased value of filter circuitry (Ramulu et al., 2016). Therefore, there is a requirement of single-stage power conditioning (i.e., single PCU) solution for SPVWP where the inverter is capable



of generating more than the two-level voltage in the output (Packiam et al., 2013; Mishra and Singh, 2016, 2018). Multilevel inverters (MLIs) provide the ultimate solution for the addressed issue and capable of delivering high power and medium voltage for industrial applications (Kurtoglu et al., 2019). Moreover, MLI extracts lesser input current functions both at the higher and lower switching frequency, gives lesser dv/dt effects in the load side, and also reduces filter needs that leads to avoiding stresses in bearings of a motor (Poompavai and Vijayapriya, 2017). As of now, many MLI topologies are available based on the mechanism of switching and depending on the input source voltage. Of those, the major three topologies commercially preferred in industries are cascaded H-bridge (CHB) multilevel inverter, diode clamped and flying capacitor type (Akagi, 2017).

The renewable energy-based systems usually take the foremost cascaded H-bridge type since it involves more isolated DC sources (Amamra et al., 2017) and also it eliminates fluctuation problems and the need of additional clamping diodes and flying capacitors. However, the issue with this kind is the switch count; it increases whenever the number of voltage level increases, which results in a bulky, less efficient and most expensive inverter. In an effort to fix this issue, different MLI topologies with reduced switch count had been analyzed (Gupta et al., 2016; Siddique et al., 2019a,b). This type of topologies greatly reduces the requirements of the driver circuit and lowers the size and expense of the entire system. Focusing on this reduced switch count to a maximum and minimizing the complexity, a novel topology was introduced (Umashankar et al., 2013). It utilized only five switches for a seven-level inverter, and this is the very least possible reduction in switch count when compared to other proposed topologies. The quality output voltage generated from the topology could be able to drive an asynchronous motor. To fulfill the water supply needs, induction motors are generally chosen for water pumping operation. Furthermore, the production of induction motors is in a mature stage paving a way to use it in developing countries for SPVWP application. The major advantages of induction motor include high starting torque, less cost durability, speed variation, low maintenance cost, easier operation, etc. This induction motor is followed by a centrifugal pump for pumping operation. The speed and flowrate are regulated with the help of multilevel inverters with minimum total harmonic distortion (THD). Al-Shetwi and Sujod (2018) found an inverse relationship between solar irradiance and THD; they observed that whenever there is an increase in solar irradiance, the THD tends to decrease either in the current and voltage waveform. The quality output voltage waveform obtained from MLI could be controlled, with its magnitude and frequency referred to be V/f control. This way permits the induction motor to attain the desired speed at different rates.

In this study, the operation of a seven-level inverter with five switches inverter had been tested experimentally with 0.5 HP single-phase induction motor water pump with the help of d-SPACE RTI-1104 platform. This topology uses an insulated-gate bipolar transistor (IGBT), as power switches and gate signals are given through a sinusoidal pulse width modulation technique. This proposed system eliminates the need for the DC–DC conversion stage in SPVWP and provides a single-stage solution through the MLI topology. The observed results show that the induction motor pump stayed its operation smoothly by receiving quality output voltage with lesser THD and also with reduced switching losses from seven-level fiveswitch topology. The speed and flowrate are regulated at the desired value with the help of pulses obtained from the proposed MLI topology.

A FRAMEWORK OF THE PROPOSED SYSTEM

The solar PV standalone water pumping system framework is depicted in **Figure 1**. It comprises of a PV array, followed by a five-switch seven-level inverter and an induction motor water pump. The proposed multilevel inverter with reduced switches is used to provide pulse width modulated voltage to the input of induction motor and pump assembly with a single-stage solution.

Photovoltaic System

The photovoltaic cells are made of customized PN junction diode that converts the visible light into DC, and this process is

TABLE 1 | Switching pattern of seven-level inverter with five switches. S. No S+1 S+2 Sea S+4 S₁₅ **Output voltage** 1 OFF OFF ON OFF ON +Vdc 2 OFF ON OFF OFF ON +2Vdc 3 OFF ON OFF OFF ON +3Vdc 4 OFF OFF OFF OFF OFF 0 5 ON OFF OFF ON OFF -Vdc 6 OFF ON OFF ON OFF -2Vdc OFF OFF 7 ON ON OFF -3Vdc



referred to as photovoltaic effect. The PV modules combined in parallel or series to generate higher voltage and currents (Aliyu et al., 2018). The PV unit can be represented by two model: single diode model (SDM) and the double diode model (DDM) (Jordehi, 2016; Sudhakar Babu et al., 2016). The SDM model is the most prevailed model that has less complexity and achieve accurate results.

It represents the individual PV cell; a PV module consists of many cells or an array that includes many modules together. The mathematical equation describing the PV system is expressed in Equation (1).

$$I = I_{\rm pv} N_{\rm par} - I_0 N_{\rm par} \left\{ \exp\left[\frac{V + R_{\rm s}\left(\frac{N_{\rm ser}}{N_{\rm par}}\right)I}{V_{\rm t}\alpha N_{\rm ser}}\right] - 1 \right\} - \frac{V + R_{\rm s}\left(\frac{N_{\rm ser}}{N_{\rm par}}\right)I}{R_{\rm p}\left(\frac{N_{\rm ser}}{N_{\rm par}}\right)}$$
(1)

where $I_{\rm pv}$ is the current produced by incident light (A), $I_{\rm o}$ is the leakage current of a diode (A), q is the charge of an electron (1.60217 × 10⁻¹⁹C), k is the Boltzmann constant (1.38065 × 10⁻²³ J/k), α is the diode ideality constant (1 < α < 1.5), $R_{\rm s}$ is the equivalent PV array series resistance (Ω), $R_{\rm p}$ is the equivalent PV array parallel resistance (Ω), $N_{\rm ser}$ is the number of cells in series, $N_{\rm par}$ is the number of cells in parallel, T is the PN junction temperature (K), and $V_{\rm t}$ is the PV array thermal voltage (V).

PV-Fed Multilevel Inverter With Reduced Switch Count

The seven-level inverter with five-switch topology representation is given in **Figure 2**. It is a very simple topology that involves four isolated DC sources, and in the case of nine levels, it would be five DC sources and so on. Since it has isolated DC sources



integrating PV as a source is very easy. In this proposed topology, the PV panels replaced those isolated DC sources. Using phase opposition and disposition (POD) technique (Dan et al., 2015), the gating signals are generated and given to the five power IGBT switches. A sinusoidal modulating signal having a magnitude of " A_m " and frequency of " f_m " is taken to generate the gate signal where comparison is made in between reference and the carrier waves. The signals produced would be equal to the number of carrier signals. The modulation index (M_a) can be represented by

$$M_{\rm a} = \frac{A_{\rm m}}{f_{\rm m}} \tag{2}$$

Initially, the first leg of switches S_{t1} , S_{t2} , and S_{t3} had to be fetched with 2 kHz switching frequency followingly the second leg of switches S_{t4} and S_{t5} that should be fed with 50 Hz frequency. The gating signal pattern of the first leg of the switches must be unidirectional; otherwise, the output waveform may get distorted. The second leg of inverter assures the polarity reversal pattern. The switching pattern for the proposed topology



FIGURE 5 | Photovoltaic (PV) characteristics of Solyndra SL-001-200 PV panel.

 TABLE 2 | Solyndra SL-001-200 (200 W) solar photovoltaic (PV) panel specifications.

Specifications	Data
STC power rating	200 W
Peak efficiency	10.18%
Power tolerance	-4%/+4%
I _{mp}	2.55 A
V _{mp}	78.3 V
I _{sc}	2.78
V _{oc}	99.7 V
Temp. coefficient of power	-0.38%/K
Temp. coefficient of voltage	-0.289 V/K
Series fuse rating	23 A
Maximum system voltage	600 V

is presented in **Table 1**. From the proposed topology, the sevenlevel output voltage levels are obtained with the combination of this five-switch operation. The final output voltage levels produced by the topology can be represented by $m = (2 \times n - 3)$, where "*m*" denotes the number of output voltage levels and "*n*" refers to the number of power switches. The expression can also be referred by $m = (2 \times v - 1)$, where "*v*" refers to the number of DC sources.

INDUCTION MOTOR-DRIVEN WATER PUMPING SYSTEM

In a wider range, induction motor is applied in domestic and industrial applications since they are of lower cost and need lesser maintenance. In general, induction motors are of symmetrical rotor cage and two non-symmetrical stator winding (main winding and auxiliary winding with starting or running capacitor), supplied with an equivalent sinusoidal voltage source. In this context, the second type had been chosen for water pumping applications. For modeling and analyzing the singlephase induction motor, two methods are available: one is the double field revolving theory, and the other is the cross-field theory. Of those, the first one is preferred often since it is more akin to the three-phase induction motor theory. In context to the theory, a part of alternating quantity can be resolved into two axes that are able to rotate in relatively opposite directions. Meanwhile, the axes of both stator windings are orthogonal as illustrated in Figure 3. Thus, the dq axes of the model may be associated with axes of windings. The basic equations that describe the model of induction motor are given below.

The current flow through the stator is expressed as

$$I(s) = \frac{V_i(s) - V_o(s)}{(R_1 + sL_1)} = I_1(s) + I_2(s)$$
(3)

If the current drawn by the rotor as I_2 , then the no-load current can be expressed by

$$I_1(s) = I(s) - I_2(s)$$
 (4)

The voltage across the rotor inductance is given by

$$V_f(s) = I_2(s) * \left(\frac{R_2}{2s}\right)$$
(5)

The airgap power developed by the induction motor is given by

$$P_{gf}(s) = I_2(s)^2 * \left(\frac{R_2}{2s}\right)$$
 (6)

The motor torque is given by

$$T(s) = \left[\frac{P_{\rm gf}(s) - P_{\rm gb}(s)}{2\Pi n_s}\right]$$
(7)

The load balance equation is expressed by

$$\omega(s) = \frac{\left[T(s) - T_L(s)\right]}{(Js + B)} \tag{8}$$

whenever the load increases, the rotor current of the induction motor tends to increases. Furthermore, the energy generated from an induction motor is converted into kinetic energy in the





liquid flow by triggering the liquid revolution. The centrifugal pump is used for pumping operation due to easy operation. It is particularly intended for fixed head applications, and the pressure difference generated increases along with the speed of the pump. These pumps are a rotating impeller category that radially throws water at a casing to transform water momentum into useful pressure.

SIMULATION RESULTS AND ANALYSIS

Simulations conducted with MATLAB/Simulink environment to verify and confirm whether the proposed multilevel inverter topology can be practically suitable to solar photovoltaicpowered water pumping system or not. Using PV modeling, the IV and PV characteristics obtained for the Solyndra SL-001-200 PV panel, taken at different irradiance conditions, is represented in **Figures 4**, **5**. The maximum open-circuit voltage (V_{oc}) of 99.7 V is obtained at the standard irradiance condition of 1,000 W/m². At minimum irradiance of 200 W/m², $V_{\rm oc}$ is developing at the range of 84 V. At some point of combination of the current and voltage, the power reaches a maximum value, which locates as $I_{\rm mp}$ and $V_{\rm mp}$. In this specific point, the maximum power produced is referred to as maximum power or MPP. The solar PV panel specifications are given in **Table 2**.

Following that, using POD technique, the gate pulses are generated for power switches of proposed MLI topology. Based on the pulse pattern, the resulted seven-level output voltage and current attained from multilevel inverter topology is depicted in **Figures 6**, **7**. The fast Fourier transform (FFT) analysis for the proposed topology is given in **Figure 8**. As per the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) 519 harmonic distortion standard, for inverter without a filter in the circuit, 15–25% of THD is allowable. Accordingly, the least THD of 2.63% is developed in the resulted voltage. In case the proposed topology is designed with filter, it may achieve far better results. The logical





expression for THD can be expressed by

Voltage THD(%) =
$$\frac{\sqrt{V_{\rm rms}^2 - V_{\rm 1rms}^2}}{V_{\rm 1rms}} *100$$
 (9)

where $V_{1\text{rms}}$ denotes the root mean square (RMS) value of the fundamental component, which is slightly high because of lower switching losses obtained from the proposed topology. The total power loss in an inverter is the combination of conduction (P_{C}) and switching loss (P_{Sw}). The expression of total power losses

occur in an inverter is given by

Total power losses
$$(P_{\text{Loss}}) = P_{\text{C}} + P_{\text{Sw}}$$
 (10)

By considering the losses, the efficiency of the inverter can be calculated using the following expression,

$$\eta = \frac{P_{\text{out}}}{P_{\text{in}}} = \frac{P_{\text{out}}}{P_{\text{out}} + P_{\text{C}} + P_{\text{Sw}}}$$
(11)

Hence, considering both the losses calculated for each switch of the proposed inverter is represented in **Figure 9**. The second





leg of switches attained lesser switching losses compared to the first leg because of utilizing lesser switching frequency. The total power loss calculated with the proposed multilevel inverter is 1.6034 W. The efficiency gained for the proposed inverter is 98.11%, whereas the conventional two-level inverter attains only 59.96%. The number of part count comparative analysis of existing and proposed topology is depicted in **Figure 10**. It shows that the proposed one stands far better than the others. The generated output voltage carrying lesser harmonic content is fed to the capacitor, then the capacitor-run single-phase induction motor drive is started to give its striking dynamic performance, which is depicted in **Figure 11**.

EXPERIMENTAL VALIDATION

The hardware prototype for the proposed seven-level five switch inverter fed with a single-phase induction motor water pump had been tested experimentally. The gate signal generated through POD technique had been brought out with the help of digital I/O ports in the d-SPACE RTI-1104 platform. Then, it is passed to the TLP 350 gate driver board and to the power IGBT switches. The triggering of switches could happen only if the gate driver board enhances the voltage from 5 to 15 V. A switching frequency of 2 kHz had been applied to the first leg of three switches, and 50 Hz had been given to the other two switches. This kind of pulse pattern helps to reduce the switching losses significantly. To emulate or approximate the PV source equivalence, a small resistance is connected between the programmable DC supply and the seven-level inverter five switches. The input RMS voltage of 78.3 V and current of 1 A were given as input to the four-DC source input side for the topology from programmable DC supplies, which is fixed to operate at constant voltage mode. As a result, the final output of the seven-level voltage generated at the output side with lesser harmonics, as shown in Figure 12, is finally fed to the 0.5 HP single-phase induction motor water pump load that is able to run at a maximum speed of 2,880 rpm. Initially, the auxiliary winding disconnected at 75% of rated synchronous speed. The settled torque of 4 Nm is unidirectional to pertain to the motor in a single direction. Meanwhile, after a certain acceleration, the offset in torque generated by the motor decreases to a load torque. Subsequently, the control of torque, direction of rotation, and speed of the motor are decided by the voltage and frequency of the proposed multilevel inverter. The THD analysis obtained at the hardware side is depicted in Figure 13. It can be noted that the harmonic plots of current and voltage are maintained at the same frequency window. Furthermore, the seven-level output voltage and current pattern are similar to those attained from simulation results.

CONCLUSION

The seven-level inverter with five switches had been applied for the investigation of a 0.5 HP single-phase induction motor water pump. The reduced switch count, lesser requirement of





gate driver circuits and DC sources, and increased voltage levels in the output are the main features of the proposed multilevel inverter topology. As a promising source, the photovoltaic system could be able to give constant voltage to the reduced switch multilevel inverter input DC source side that guarantees the standalone operation of a water pump. In summary, the simulation results reveal that the switching losses calculated across each switch are less and the THD content is also very low without any filter compared to other conventional multilevel inverter topologies. The reduced harmonic content in the output voltage enabled the induction motor to deliver its striking dynamic performance, and it pumped water at the desired flowrate with the control in PWM technique. The hardware implementation of the same setup matched with the simulation outcomes, which validate the system, although when implementing practically, thermal resistance and leakage current in the circuit affects the power quality, which differentiates the simulation and practical results. The internal resistance of the

REFERENCES

- Akagi, H. (2017). Multilevel converters: fundamental circuits and systems. Proc. IEEE 105, 2048–2065. doi: 10.1109/JPROC.2017.2682105
- Aliyu, M., Hassan, G., Said, S. A., Siddiqui, M. U., Alawami, A. T., and Elamin, I. M. (2018). A review of solar-powered water pumping systems. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 87, 61–76. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2018.02.010
- Al-Shetwi, A. Q., and Sujod, M. Z. (2018). Harmonic distortion and voltage imbalance study of photovoltaic power plant connected to the malaysian grid. *J. Telecommun. Electron. Comput. Eng.* 10, 1–6.

auxiliary circuit (gate driver board) used to drive the IGBT also tends to create a difference among the simulation and practical results. The overall system performance found to be satisfactory for operating induction motor water pump, thereby validating the system model.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TP and MK conceived of the presented idea. TP executed simulation and experiment analysis. MK encouraged TP to investigate and supervised the findings of this work. All authors discussed the results and contributed to the final manuscript.

- Al-Shetwi, A. Q., Sujod, M. Z., Al Tarabsheh, A., and Altawil, I. A. (2016). Design and economic evaluation of electrification of small villages in rural area in yemen using stand-alone PV system. *Int. J. Renew. Energy Res.* 6, 289–298.
- Amamra, S.-A., Meghriche, K., Cherifi, A., and Francois, B. (2017). Multilevel inverter topology for renewable energy grid integration. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 64, 8855–8866. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2016.2645887
- Biswas, S., and Iqbal, M. T. (2018). Dynamic modelling of a solar water pumping system with energy storage. J. Sol. Energy 2018, 1–12. doi: 10.1155/2018/8471715

- Chandel, S. S., Nagaraju Naik, M., and Chandel, R. (2015). Review of solar photovoltaic water pumping system technology for irrigation and community drinking water supplies. *Renew. Sust. Energy Rev.* 49, 1084–1099. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2015.04.083
- Dan, H., Peng, T., Su, M., Sun, Y., Zhang, G., and Xiong, W. (2015). Implementation of phase disposition modulation method for the threelevel diode-clamped matrix converter. *IET Power Electron.* 8, 2107–2114. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2014.0887
- Gupta, K. K., Ranjan, A., Bhatnagar, P., Sahu, L. K., and Jain, S. (2016). Multilevel inverter topologies with reduced device count: a review. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 31, 135–151. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2015.2405012
- Jäger-Waldau, A. (2019). Snapshot of photovoltaics—February 2019. *Energies* 12:769. doi: 10.3390/en12050769
- Jordehi, A. R. (2016). Parameter estimation of solar photovoltaic (PV) cells: a review. Renew. Sust. Energy Rev. 61, 354–371. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2016.03.049
- Karampuri, R., Jain, S., and Somasekhar, V. T. (2014). "A single-stage solar PV power fed open-end winding induction motor pump drive with MPPT," in: 2014 IEEE International Conference on Power Electronics, Drives and Energy Systems (PEDES) (IEEE), 1–6.
- Kurtoglu, M., Eroglu, F., Arslan, A. O., and Vural, A. M. (2019). Recent contributions and future prospects of the modular multilevel converters: a comprehensive review. *Int. Trans. Electr. Energ. Syst.* 29:e2763. doi: 10.1002/etep.2763
- Mishra, A. K., and Singh, B. (2016). "A single stage solar PV array based water pumping system using SRM drive," in 2016 IEEE Industry Applications Society Annual Meeting.
- Mishra, A. K., and Singh, B. (2018). Grid interactive single stage solar powered water pumping system utilizing improved control technique. *IEEE Trans. Sustain. Energy* 11, 304–314. doi: 10.1109/TSTE.2018.2890670
- Odeh, I., Yohanis, Y. G., Norton, B., Alsoud, M., and Odeh, D. (2018). Long-term field operation of photovoltaic solar water pumps. *Int. J. Ambient Energy* 39, 467–476. doi: 10.1080/01430750.2017.1318792
- Packiam, P., Jain, N. K., and Singh, I. P. (2013). Microcontroller-based simple maximum power point tracking controller for single-stage solar standalone water pumping system. *Prog. Photovoltaics Res. Appl.* 21, 462–471. doi: 10.1002/pip.1207
- Poompavai, T., and Kowsalya, M. (2019). Control and energy management strategies applied for solar photovoltaic and wind energy fed water

pumping system: a review. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 107, 108-122. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2019.02.023

- Poompavai, T., and Vijayapriya, P. (2017). Comparative analysis of modified multilevel DC link inverter with conventional cascaded multilevel inverter fed induction motor drive. *Energy Procedia* 117, 336–344. doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2017.05.140
- Ramulu, C., Sanjeevikumar, P., Karampuri, R., Jain, S., Ertas, A. H., and Fedak, V. (2016). A solar PV water pumping solution using a three-level cascaded inverter connected induction motor drive. *Int. J. Eng. Sci. Technol.* 19, 1731–1741. doi: 10.1016/j.jestch.2016.08.019
- Siddique, M. D., Mekhilef, S., Shah, N. M., and Memon, M. A. (2019a). Optimal design of a new cascaded multilevel inverter topology with reduced switch count. *IEEE Access* 7, 24498–24510. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019. 2890872
- Siddique, M. D., Mekhilef, S., Shah, N. M., Sarwar, A., Iqbal, A., Tayyab, M., et al. (2019b). Low switching frequency based asymmetrical multilevel inverter topology with reduced switch count. *IEEE Access* 7, 86374–86383. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2925277
- Sudhakar Babu, T., Prasanth Ram, J., Sangeetha, K., Laudani, A., and Rajasekar, N. (2016). Parameter extraction of two diode solar pv model using fireworks algorithm. *Solar Energy* 140, 265–276. doi: 10.1016/j.solener.2016. 10.044
- Umashankar, S., Sreedevi, T. S., Nithya, V. G., and Vijayakumar, D. (2013). A new 7-level symmetric multilevel inverter with minimum number of switches. *ISRN Electron.* 2013, 1–8. doi: 10.1155/2013/ 476876

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Poompavai and Kowsalya. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Novel Filters Based Operational Scheme for Five-Level Diode-Clamped Inverters in Microgrid

A. Elnady^{1,2*}, M. Al-Shabi³ and Ali Ahmed Adam¹

¹ Electrical and Computer Engineering Department, University of Sharjah, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates, ² Royal Military College, Electrical and Computer Engineering Department (adjunct), Station Forces Kingston, Kingston, ON, Canada, ³ Mechanical and Nuclear Engineering Department, University of Sharjah, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates

This paper introduces a new operational scheme for several multilevel (five-level diode-clamped) inverters in the microgrid. The presented operational scheme has a central structure (different from the distributed controllers for droop schemes) to alleviate the drawback of the conventional droop control for microgrid operation. The contribution of this paper is focused on the suggested operational scheme, which has two contributory components. The first component is the novel smooth variable structure filters (SVSF), which are formulated to estimate the disturbances of voltage harmonics and voltage unbalance. The second component is an efficient adaptive sliding mode controller to operate these inverters. This proposed operational achieves equal power sharing among working inverters, compensating for voltage unbalance at the point of common coupling (PCC) at loads, and mitigation for voltage harmonics at the PCC. More importantly, the propounded operational scheme efficiently stabilizes voltage with the variation of balanced, unbalanced, and non-linear loads in addition to the seamless transient and steady-state performance for injected power by inverters. The performance of the suggested operational scheme is justified by simulation results.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Umashankar Subramaniam, Prince Sultan University, Saudi Arabia

Reviewed by:

Krishnakumar R. Vasudevan, Universiti Tenaga Nasional, Malaysia Yuvaraj T., Saveetha University, India

*Correspondence:

A. Elnady ayelnady71@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Process and Energy Systems Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Energy Research

Received: 02 December 2019 Accepted: 20 January 2020 Published: 25 February 2020

Citation:

Elnady A, Al-Shabi M and Adam AA (2020) Novel Filters Based Operational Scheme for Five-Level Diode-Clamped Inverters in Microgrid. Front. Energy Res. 8:11. doi: 10.3389/fenrg.2020.00011 Keywords: microgrid, multilevel inverters, operational scheme, smooth variable structure filter, adaptive sliding mode controller

INTRODUCTION

The microgrid has become into the focus of research at the distribution system level because microgrid fetches some merits such as low-carbon emission, its modularity, integration of renewable dispersed energy sources, and its ability to work independently or connected to the central power grid (Jiayi et al., 2008; Mariam et al., 2013). In addition to aforementioned merits, any microgrid has also several challenges such as the stability of voltage and frequency with variable loads, existence of harmonics due to non-linear loads, control of dispersed energy sources, circulating current among inverters, existence of inverters associated with renewable energy sources, and procedure for connection/disconnection to/from the central grid (Parhizi et al., 2015; Hirsch et al., 2018).

The operational scheme for the microgrid becomes a challenging research topic because it is supposed for this scheme to realize several simultaneous objectives. Therefore, some publications survey/review the types/structures of operational/control schemes employed to operate the microgrid (Huang et al., 2011; Vandoorn et al., 2013; Canizares and Palma-Behnke, 2014; Han et al., 2016a; Rajesh et al., 2017; Sen and Kumar, 2018). The idea presented in this paper focuses on how

46

the voltage harmonics and voltage unbalance are mitigated in addition to stabilizing the voltage at the loads' side with different loading conditions for linear and non-linear loads. Therefore, the coming literature survey explicates the state-of-art for the mitigation and extraction tools for harmonics and voltage unbalance within microgrid environments.

The conventional droop control has two levels (primary and secondary), and the voltage unbalance is compensated at the secondary level by the control action of the proportional integral (PI) controller (Lexuan et al., 2015). This presented droop control in Lexuan et al. (2015) is used to equalize the power among three two-level inverters, and there are no details on how the negative-sequence is extracted. Another enhanced control scheme is designed for a four-leg inverter (Moghaddam et al., 2018). This inverter is powered by a battery based energy storage system under unbalanced and non-linear loads. The operational scheme of this inverter is operated using the decoupled model in the d - q frame such that the total harmonic distortion (THD) and unbalance factors are reduced. A hierarchical droop control of Savaghebi et al. (2012) includes the primary and secondary control levels. Its primary control has a local droop control for active and reactive power. Meanwhile, the central secondary controller is designed to manage the compensation of voltage unbalance at the PCC in the microgrid. An operational scheme including double control loops for the positive and negative-sequence currents in the d - q frame is developed to mitigate the current unbalance (Reyes et al., 2012). This presented control scheme is further improved by adding a filter to get rid of double the fundamental frequency in this frame. The droop control scheme presented in Ren et al. (2018) is integrated with voltage unbalance compensation, but this paper does not give details of how voltage unbalance is extracted and mitigated. Another multi-function operational scheme, which handles voltage unbalance compensation, harmonic power sharing, selective virtual harmonic impedance, virtual fundamental impedance, and conventional droop control is introduced in Han et al. (2016b). Its secondary loop is employed to restore the voltage and frequency to their normal values with help of proportional resonant (PR) controllers. Meanwhile, its primary control loop operates the inverters such that the power is equally divided among the working inverters. A virtual impedance loop inside the droop control scheme is modified to include the voltage unbalance and harmonics compensation (Liu et al., 2014), in which the harmonic voltage drop and unbalanced voltage drop are mitigated by the control action of PR and PI controllers. New cascaded loops of voltage and current for the positive and negative-sequence voltages are proposed in Acharya et al. (2019), and the extraction of the negative-sequence voltage and current is done using passive filters in the d - q frame. The proposed scheme of Acharya et al. (2019) achieves a reduction of the negative unbalance factor to be smaller than 2%. The conventional droop control along with two traditional levels (primary and secondary) is suggested in Savaghebi et al. (2011, 2013), at which the secondary control level of the droop scheme is used to calculate the power of negative-sequence components (voltage and current) and converted into a reference voltage. This reference voltage is summed with other references to operate the primary control level. Another cascaded structure of voltage and current control loops for each working inverter is introduced in Zhao et al. (2015), where the virtual impedance loop contributes to the voltage references, and these references are applied to the voltage loop. The extraction of the negative-sequence voltage in Zhao et al. (2015) is conducted in the d - q frame using a passive filter. Thus, this extracted negative-sequence voltage is converted into a voltage reference that is augmented with other voltage references. Another technique for compensating voltage unbalance is realized by the extraction and mitigation of the negative-sequence current (Shi et al., 2016), which is extracted and converted into a current reference that is applied to the current loop of the primary control level in its droop scheme.

This paper introduces a new technique for the extraction of voltage disturbances (particularly voltage unbalance and harmonics). The forthcoming paragraph gives a brief survey about the different extraction/estimation tools that have been developed to estimate those voltage disturbances. The most common technique to extract the voltage unbalance is to convert the phase voltages from the a-b-c natural frame to the d – q frame, and then a low-pass filter is used to distinguish between the positive and negative-sequence voltages (Reves et al., 2012; Moghaddam et al., 2018; Acharya et al., 2019). The estimation of voltage unbalance is also reported in Javier Alcántara and Salmerón (2005) by three blocks of the neural network: The 1st block is to estimate the Parks vector and the zero-sequence voltage, while the 2nd block is employed to estimate the harmonics, and the 3rd block is dedicated to estimate the voltage unbalance components. The adaptive linear neuron (ADALINE) is used to estimate the negative- and positive-sequence components, it works well, but its formulation is based on matrix equations, which consume much time for its calculation (Marei et al., 2004). The extended Kalman filter is developed to estimate the positive and negatives-sequence voltage in the $\alpha - \beta$ frame (Sun and Sahinoglu, 2011), and the extended part of Kalman filter is used to detect any variation in the fundamental frequency. The linear Kalman filter is adopted to estimate the positive and negative-sequence voltage (Soliman and El-hawary, 1997), in which the developed model presents the state transitional matrix in the form of an identity matrix, and the measurements matrix varies with time. The presented results in Soliman and El-hawary (1997) show an accurate estimation, but the existence of harmonics is not included.

Most of aforementioned publications (Savaghebi et al., 2011, 2012, 2013; Reyes et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2014; Lexuan et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2015; Han et al., 2016b; Shi et al., 2016; Moghaddam et al., 2018; Ren et al., 2018; Acharya et al., 2019), are related to the extraction and mitigation of voltage disturbances in the microgrid, and some of these publications suffer some flaws such as,

- The mitigation of the voltage unbalance is done through the droop control scheme at the secondary control level, which adds more complexity to the employed droop operational scheme.
- The voltage unbalance is calculated in the $\alpha \beta$ frame or d - q frame using the PLL and passive filters,



which lead to error in the magnitude of extracted unbalance components.

• The mitigation of voltage unbalance is done through the negative-sequence voltage only; meanwhile, the connection of the microgrid to the ground is common (Mohammadi et al., 2019), which yields zero-sequence components in the microgrid. In the most of publications (Savaghebi et al., 2011, 2012, 2013; Reyes et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2014; Lexuan et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2015; Han et al., 2016; Shi et al., 2016; Moghaddam et al., 2018; Ren et al., 2018; Acharya et al., 2019), the zero-sequence voltage is not considered for mitigation in the microgrid.

The contribution of this paper is exemplified in the development of an operational scheme, which is designed in such a way to alleviate the preceding drawbacks in addition to stabilizing the voltage at any variation in loading conditions of the microgrid. The operational scheme has two main contributory points: Estimation of voltage disturbances and controlling of multilevel inverters. The paper is organized in five main sections. The second section demonstrates the microgrid under study. The third section shows the operational scheme along with the formulation of the smooth variable structure filter to estimate the current harmonics and voltage unbalance. The fourth section illustrates simulation results. The last section summarizes the findings of the paper.

MICROGRID UNDER STUDY

The microgrid under study, shown in **Figure 1**, has three dispersed energy sources, which are PV solar arrays connected to battery systems. Their harvested energies are injected to the microgrid through three inverters; each three-phase inverter consists of three single-phase full-bridge five-level diode-clamped inverters whose topology and its output voltage waveforms are already given in **Figures 2A,B**, respectively.

In this research, all inverters are have the same topology as shown in **Figure 2A** and have the same rating as written in **Table 1**. The loads in the microgrid are groups of balanced, unbalanced, and non-linear loads. The parameters of the microgrid are given in **Table 1**.

Each inverter circuit is operated by the phase-disposition pulse width modulation (PD-PWM), where the control signal is compared to four carrier signals with 3-kHz to operate the first leg for switches from S1 to S8 in **Figure 2A** and the inverted control signal is used to operate the other leg of switches from S9



TABLE 1 | Microgrid and inverter parameters.

Parameter	Value/Description
Rated voltage level	= 6.6 kV
Microgrid rating/base	= 7.5 MVA
Power rating/inverter	= 2.5 MVA
Feeder impedance Z_f	$= 1.2\Omega + 1.5j \Omega$
Transformer Tr1, Tr2, Tr3 rating	= 2.5 MVA
Transformer voltage ratio	1.32 <i>kV</i> : 6.6 <i>kV</i>
Transformer Tr1, Tr2, Tr3 resistance	= 0.0101 <i>pu</i>
Transformers Tr1, Tr2, Tr3 inductance	= 0.1 <i>pu</i>
Transformer Tr ₄ rating	= 7.5 MVA
Transformer Tr ₄ voltage ratio	6.6 <i>kV</i> : 0.4 <i>kV</i>
Inverter type	Three single-phase full bridge. Each bridge is 5-level diode clamped inverter
Number of parallel inverters	Three

to S16 in **Figure 2A**. The details of its operation are documented in Elnady and Suleiman (2017).

PROPOSED OPERATIONAL SCHEME

The contribution of this paper includes two mains components, which are the development of the novel SVSF for the estimation of voltage harmonics/unbalance and the employment of adaptive sliding mode controller to operate the inverters. This section is divided into three different subsections. The first subsection is related to the development of the SVSF to estimate the disturbances, the second subsection shows the formulation of the adaptive sliding mode controller, and the last subsection illustrates the structure of the whole operational/control scheme of the microgrid.

Smooth Variable Structure Filter

The Smooth Variable Structure Filter (SVSF) is a new estimation filter that was recently developed and evolved through several works such as Al-Shabi et al. (2013), Gadsden et al. (2015), and Al-Shabi and Elnady (2019). The basic idea is that the SVSF uses a switching hyperplane from the measurement and forces the estimate to be in its neighborhood. This filter will be newly formulated in this work to estimate the voltage harmonics and unbalance in the microgrid of **Figure 1**. The mechanism of operation for the SVSF is simple, it can be summarized as,

Firstly: an unrefined estimate is obtained as follows:

$$X_{unrefined,k} = AX_{refined,k-1}$$

$$z_{unrefined,k} = H_k X_{unrefined,k}$$
(1)

where,

 $X_{unrefined,k}$ is the in-phase of the voltage harmonics and is defined as,

$$X_{unrefined,k} = \begin{bmatrix} A_1 \cos \theta_1 & A_1 \sin \theta_1 & A_2 \cos \theta_2 & A_2 \sin \theta_2 & \dots \\ A_n \cos \theta_n & A_n \sin \theta_n \end{bmatrix}^T$$
(2)

A and H are the voltage harmonics in the microgrid and measurement matrices are they are defined as,

$$A = I_{2n \times 2n} \tag{3}$$

$$H_{K} = \begin{bmatrix} \cos \omega_{1} kT_{s} & -\sin \omega_{1} kT_{s} & \cos \omega_{2} kT_{s} & -\sin \omega_{2} kT_{s} \\ & \cos \omega_{n} kT_{s} & -\sin \omega_{n} kT_{s} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4)

 T_s is the sampling time, and $z_{unrefined,k}$ is the total voltage harmonics and are defined as,

$$z_{unrefined,k} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} A_i \cos\left(\omega_i k T_s + \theta_i\right)$$
(5)

This step is similar to the one used in Kalman filter presented in Girgis et al. (1991).

Secondly, the estimate is refined to its final refined value as follow:

$$X_{refined,k} = X_{unrefined,k} + H_k^{-1} S_{at} \left[\left| z_{unrefined,k} - z_k \right| + \gamma \left| z_{refined,k-1} - z_{k-1} \right| \right]$$

$$z_{refined,k} = H_k X_{refined,k}$$
(7)

where

$$S_{at} = \begin{cases} -1 & \frac{z_{unrefined,k} - z_k}{\psi} < -1 \\ \frac{z_{unrefined,k} - z_k}{\psi} & -1 < \frac{z_{unrefined,k} - z_k}{\psi} < 1 \\ 1 & \frac{z_{unrefined,k} - z_k}{\psi} > 1 \end{cases}$$
(8)

and ψ is the boundary layer to be tuned to obtain the best results. For simplicity, γ is assumed to have a value of zero.



This proposed filter is simpler than the Kalman filter in three main points

- The formulation using Kalman filter depends on calculating the covariance matrix and updating it continuously. Then, this updated covariance matrix is used to calculate the corrective gain, which is the refined estimate.
- The noise covariance matrices of Kalman filter (Q and R) are not easy to be tuned (Girgis et al., 1991). No information can be obtained for the microgrid noise. Moreover, this noise cannot be assumed as white noise as in Kalman filter, as it includes of voltage and current harmonics.
- Formulation of this proposed filter [as given in (1) and (6-8)] is also easier than the perdition-correction formulation of Kalman filter (Girgis et al., 1991).



FIGURE 4 | Performance of 1st stage SVSF for fundamental and harmonics voltage at PCC. (A) Estimated fundamental voltage with actual voltage. (B) Estimated voltage harmonics.



After the fundamental voltage and voltage harmonics are estimated using the formulation given in (1-8). This estimated fundamental voltage contains the unbalance components. The same procedure was used to extract the unbalanced voltages. Its formulation is similar to the previous formulation such that the state-space form in (9) for positive and negative-sequence voltages replaces (2), and it is written as,

$$X_{unrefined,k} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^+ \cos \theta_{50}^+ & A_{50}^+ \sin \theta_{50}^+ & A_{50}^- \cos \theta_{50}^- \\ A_{50}^- \sin \theta_{50}^- \end{bmatrix}^T,$$
(9)

also replacing (3) and (4) with

$$A = I_{4\times4}$$

$$H_K = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_s) & \cos(100\pi kT_s) & \sin(100\pi kT_s) \\ \sin(100\pi kT_s - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(100\pi kT_s - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \sin(100\pi kT_s) \\ \sin(100\pi kT_s + \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(100\pi kT_s + \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \sin(100\pi kT_s) \end{bmatrix}$$

and finally replacing z_k with

$$z_{k} = [V_{a} \quad V_{b} \quad V_{c}]^{T} - \frac{V_{a} + V_{b} + V_{c}}{3}$$
(12)

The refined estimates are given as follow:

$$X_{refined,k} = X_{unrefined,k} + \frac{1}{3} \begin{pmatrix} H_{1,k}^{-1} S_{at,1} \left[|z_{unrefined,1,k} - z_{1,k}| \right] \\ + H_{2,k}^{-1} S_{at,2} \left[|z_{unrefined,2,k} - z_{2,k}| \right] \\ + H_{3,k}^{-1} S_{at,3} \left[|z_{unrefined,3,k} - z_{3,k}| \right] \end{pmatrix}$$
(13)

where $W_{i,k}$ is the *ith* row of the matrix/vector W at time step k. The positive and negative-sequence voltages are then obtained in (14) as,

Finally, the previous formulation estimates the voltage harmonics and voltage unbalance in two different stages. The 1st stage [formulation from (1) to (8)] is used to estimate the fundamental voltage and harmonics, while the 2nd stage [formulation (1), (6-8), (9-14)] receives the fundamental voltage from the 1st stage and it produces the voltage unbalance components (positive, negative, and zero-sequence voltages). All these estimated voltage disturbances/components are used in the operational scheme as will explained later.

Adaptive Sliding Mode Control

The adaptive sliding mode control adopted in this paper comprises of two inputs to form its control law. The suggested

(10)

$$\pi kT_s) \cos(100\pi kT_s) \sin(100\pi kT_s) \cos(100\pi kT_s) T_s - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \cos(100\pi kT_s - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \sin(100\pi kT_s + \frac{2\pi}{3}) \cos(100\pi kT_s + \frac{2\pi}{3}) T_s + \frac{2\pi}{3}) \cos(100\pi kT_s + \frac{2\pi}{3}) \sin(100\pi kT_s - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \cos(100\pi kT_s - \frac{2\pi}{3})],$$
(11)

control law is based on the state-space model of the microgrid depicted in Figure 1, this state-space model is deduced and given for the positive sequence components in the d-q rotating frame as,

$$E_{d} = V_{d-PCC} + RI_{d-loads} - \omega LI_{q-loads} + L \frac{dI_{d-loads}}{dt}$$
$$E_{q} = V_{q-PCC} + RI_{q-loads} + \omega LI_{d-loads} + L \frac{dI_{q-loads}}{dt}$$
(15)

where E is the injected voltage of the inverters, V_{PCC} is the voltage at the loads' side. R and L are the equivalent resistance and inductance of the main feeders inside the microgrid between E bus and V_{PCC} bus. I_{loads} is the equivalent current of loads. The previous equations can be rewritten in a state space form as,

$$\hat{V}_{a}^{+} = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_{s}) & \cos(100\pi kT_{s}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^{+}\cos\theta_{50}^{+} & A_{50}^{+}\sin\theta_{50}^{+} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ \hat{V}_{a}^{-} = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_{s}) & \cos(100\pi kT_{s}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^{-}\cos\theta_{50}^{-} & A_{50}^{-}\sin\theta_{50}^{-} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ \hat{V}_{b}^{+} = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^{+}\cos\theta_{50}^{+} & A_{50}^{+}\sin\theta_{50}^{+} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ \hat{V}_{b}^{-} = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_{s} + \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(100\pi kT_{s} + \frac{2\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^{-}\cos\theta_{50}^{-} & A_{50}^{-}\sin\theta_{50}^{-} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ \hat{V}_{c}^{+} = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_{s} + \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(100\pi kT_{s} + \frac{2\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^{+}\cos\theta_{50}^{+} & A_{50}^{+}\sin\theta_{50}^{+} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ \hat{V}_{c}^{-} = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(100\pi kT_{s} + \frac{2\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^{-}\cos\theta_{50}^{-} & A_{50}^{-}\sin\theta_{50}^{-} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ \hat{V}_{c}^{-} = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^{-}\cos\theta_{50}^{-} & A_{50}^{-}\sin\theta_{50}^{-} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ \hat{V}_{c}^{-} = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^{-}\cos\theta_{50}^{-} & A_{50}^{-}\sin\theta_{50}^{-} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ \hat{V}_{c}^{-} = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^{-}\cos\theta_{50}^{-} & A_{50}^{-}\sin\theta_{50} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ \hat{V}_{c}^{-} = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^{-}\cos\theta_{50}^{-} & A_{50}^{-}\sin\theta_{50} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ \hat{V}_{c}^{-} = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^{-}\cos\theta_{50}^{-} & A_{50}^{-}\sin\theta_{50} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ \hat{V}_{c}^{-} = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^{-}\cos\theta_{50}^{-} & A_{50}^{-}\sin\theta_{50} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ \hat{V}_{c}^{-} = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^{-}\cos\theta_{50}^{-} & A_{50}^{-}\sin\theta_{50} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ \hat{V}_{c}^{-} = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(100\pi kT_{s} - \frac{2\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{50}^{-}\cos\theta_{50}^{-} & A_{50}^{-}\sin\theta_{50} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix}$$

TABLE 2 | Parameters of adaptive SMC.

TABLE 3 | Parameters of PI controllers.

Adaptive SMC parameters for current loop for positive and negative loops	PI controllers' parameters for current loop for positive loop
$\alpha_d = \alpha_q = 0.9$	$k_{p-d} = k_{p-q} = 1$
$k_{1d} = k_{1q} = k_{2d} = k_{2q} = 0.9$	$k_{i-d} = k_{i-q} = 18.75$
$\beta_d = \beta_q = 20$	PI controllers' parameters for current loop for negative loop
$\lambda_{1d} = 1, \lambda_{1q} = 1$	$k_{p-d} = k_{p-q} = 0.0625$
$\lambda_{2d} = 100, \lambda_{2q} = 81$	$k_{i-d} = k_{i-q} = 6.25$
PI controllers' paramerters for voltage loop for positve and negative loops	PI controllers' parameters for voltage loop for positive and negative loops
$k_{p-d} = 0.282, k_{i-d} = 1.333$	$k_{p-d} = 0.282, k_{i-d} = 1.333$
$k_{p-q} = 0.423, k_{i-q} = 0.111$	$k_{p-q} = 0.423, k_{i-q} = 0.111$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{d}{dt}I_{d-loads} \\ \frac{d}{dt}I_{q-loads} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{R}{L} & \omega \\ -\omega & -\frac{R}{L} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I_{d-loads} \\ I_{q-loads} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{L} & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{1}{L} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} E_d \\ E_q \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{1}{L} & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{L} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} V_{d-PCC} \\ V_{q-PCC} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{d}{dt}x \end{bmatrix} = Ax + Bu + Fd$$
(16)

Equations (15) and (16) are general and can be used for the positive-sequence and negative-sequence components as well with changing the sign of ω . The suggested control law is expressed as,

$$u = u_{dis} + u_{ea} \tag{17}$$

Each term in (17) represents the required input (injected) voltage by each inverter to the system in order to realize the objective of the control scheme. The u_{dis} is the discrete input that transfers the system's states from a certain sliding manifold (surface) to another, while u_{eq} is the equivalent input that keeps the system's states on a certain sliding manifold. This sliding manifold is innovatively defined by an integral form as,

$$s = \left(\lambda_1 e + \lambda_2 \int e \, dt\right)^{n-1} \tag{18}$$

where *n* is the number of states, λ_1 and λ_2 are positive constants, and *e* is the error which is defined as,

$$e = I_{ref} - I_{loads} \tag{19}$$

The u_{eq} is designed such that the system with the sliding mode controller becomes stable, the system stability is justified by Lyapunov stability criterion such that a certain Lyapunov function is selected to express the distance between the system's state and sliding manifold, its definition is written as,

$$V(s) = \frac{1}{2}s^T s \tag{20}$$



The derivative of this function should be less than or equal to zero as,

$$\dot{V}(s) = \frac{dV(s)}{ds}\frac{ds}{dt} = s^T \dot{s} <= 0$$
(21)

For tracking the state variables like the case of this paper $\dot{V}(s) = 0 \rightarrow s = 0$, which leads to

$$\dot{s} = \lambda_1 \dot{e} + \lambda_2 e = 0$$

$$\dot{s} = \lambda_1 (\dot{I}_{ref} - \dot{I}_{loads}) + \lambda_2 e$$

$$\dot{s} = -\lambda_1 (Ax + Bu_{ea} + Fd) + \lambda_2 e = 0$$
(22)

Finally, the equivalent input of the control law u_{eq} is given by,

$$u_{eq} = -(\lambda_1 B)^{-1} (Ax + Fd - \lambda_2 e)$$
(23)

The matrices (*A*, *B*, *F*) of (23) are obtained from their definition in (16) for positive and negative-sequence components based on the system's parameters of **Table 1**. The discrete input of the control law u_{dis} is deducted from Huang et al. (2008) and defined by its adaptive form for the positive and negative-sequence components as,

$$u_{dis} = \begin{cases} -k_1 |s|^{\alpha} \to s > \beta \\ -s/\beta \to -\beta < s < \beta \\ +k_2 |s|^{\alpha} \to s < -\beta \end{cases}$$
(24)

Eventually, the suggested sliding surface in (18) and its control law in (17) along with its two terms in (23) and (24) are employed to control the inverters in such a way to inject a certain voltage, which is used to realize all objectives of the suggested operational/control scheme.

Structure of Operational Scheme

The previous two subsections attribute the contribution of this paper along with the suggested structure of the operational scheme, which is given in **Figure 3**. The operational scheme has two contributory components, which are the estimation for disturbances using SVSF and the adaptive SMC based control scheme to operate the inverters.



The objective of the estimation tool, SVSF, along with the developed state-space models is to estimate/extract voltage harmonics (1-8) and voltage unbalance (9-14), which are used to get the feedback voltages in the operational scheme of Figure 3. The positive-sequence voltage represents the dominant voltage in the microgrid, while the negative-sequence voltage represents the most common disturbance in the microgrid. Therefore, these two loops are controlled using cascaded structure of voltage and current control loops. The voltage control loop receives the required voltages (set values) based on the values given in Table 1, and it produces current references to the current control loop. The current control loop is the corner stone in this control scheme because it deals with non-linear systems (inverters along with switching modulation and the grid). Thus, its controller should provide adaptive and fast characteristics toward any change in loads. The adopted controller in the voltage loop is the PI controller and the utilized controller in the current loop is the adaptive SMC. Both harmonics mitigation and unbalance compensation are realized after the extraction of their disturbances using the two estimation blocks depicted in Figure 3, and then these disturbances are processed to generate corresponding control signals. Consequently, these control signal are augmented to operate the PD-PWM and inject particular voltages as illustrated in Figure 3. Finally, these voltages are employed to cancel voltage unbalance and harmonics at the PCC. The frequency of the generated voltage by inverters in the microgrid is constant because the frequency of the control signal, used to drive the PD-PWM and generate the injected voltage, is obtained from a constant crystal clock (fixed frequency source) as depicted in **Figure 3**. More importantly, the frequency of this control signal within the switching modulation (PD-PWM) does not change with any load changes. Thus, the frequency of the injected voltage does not change with any load change accordingly. This point is considered as a great advantage compared to the conventional droop control schemes, at which both the frequency and magnitude of the injected voltage change with any variation in loads (Huang et al., 2011; Canizares and Palma-Behnke, 2014; Sen and Kumar, 2018). These voltage changes should be corrected at the secondary control level within the droop schemes. This voltage correction adds more complexity to the employed control scheme.

SIMULATION RESULTS

This section is divided into several subsections. The first subsection illustrates the performance of the SVSF for estimation of the voltage harmonics and unbalance. The second subsection displays the performance of the presented controller. The last section shows the performance of the whole operational scheme. All results of coming subsections are obtained when the microgrid has several loads (referred to primary side of Tr_4), changing as follows:



FIGURE 8 | Voltage waveforms before and after the activation for mitigation of voltage unbalance at 2nd unbalanced load (from t = 6 s to t = 8 s). (A) Voltage waveforms at PCC for 2nd unbalanced loads without mitigation. (B) Voltage waveforms at PCC for 2nd unbalanced loads with mitigation.

- From t = 0 to t = 2 s, the 1st balanced three-phase load of $Z_{load1} = 55 + 18.84$ jand 2nd balanced three-phase load of $Z_{load2} = 65 + 31.4$ j are connected in parallel in the microgrid.
- From t = 2 s to t = 4 s, the 2nd load Z_{load1} is disconnected.
- From t = 4 to t = 6 s, the 1st unbalanced three-phase load is connected to the microgrid with the values of $Z_{1-ph-a} = 25 + 6.28j$, $Z_{1-ph-b} = 50 + 31.4j$, $Z_{1-ph-c} = 35 + 15.7j$.
- From t = 6 s to t = 8 s, the 2nd unbalanced three-phase load is connected to the microgrid with the values of $Z_{2-ph-a} = 30 + 9.42j$, $Z_{2-ph-b} = 33 + 11j$, $Z_{2-ph-c} = 45 + 14.13j$.
- From t = 8 s to t = 10 s, a non-linear load of full rectifier circuit with an inductive load is connected to the microgrid with $R = 100 \Omega$, H = 50 mH.

Performance of SVSF

The formulation of the SVSF along with the harmonics state-space equations presented before is used to estimate the fundamental voltage and voltage harmonics (1st stage estimation); then, the estimated three-phase fundamental voltages are applied on another SVSF to estimate the positive, negative, and zero-sequence voltages (2nd stage estimation). The instantaneous estimation performance of the 1st stage SVSF for the fundamental and some voltage harmonics is given in **Figures 4A,B** for fundamental voltage and voltage harmonics, respectively. The instantaneous estimated fundamental voltage is displayed with the actual distorted voltage at the PCC for one phase. The voltage harmonics in **Figure 4B** are estimated using the SVSF with the state-space formulation presented in section Smooth variable structure filter. The performance of the 2nd stage SVSF is depicted in **Figure 5**, where it shows the instantaneous estimation of the voltage unbalance components for the 2nd unbalanced loads.

Performance of Adaptive Sliding Mode Controller

The performance of control scheme is displayed in this subsection. The development of the adopted controller is described in section Adaptive sliding mode control. The controller parameters for both loops are given in **Table 2**. This presented controller is compared with regular PI controllers to prove its meritorious performance. Simply, these PI controllers are replaced the adaptive SMC in the scheme of **Figure 3**. The parameters of the PI controllers for their best performance are tuned by the empirical modified Ziegler-Nichols method, and they are listed in **Table 3**.



(B) voltage unbalance factor with activation of unbalance control

The performance of the adaptive SMC is depicted in **Figure 6A**, where it shows its performance with that of the regular PI controllers whose parameters are tuned using Ziegler-Nichols method. The good performance of the voltage stability at the PCC emanates from the control action in the current loops. The current reference and its feedback for the direct axis current control (just as an example) are depicted in **Figure 6B**.

Performance of Operational Scheme

The suggested operational scheme belongs to the central control category and its output is applied to all inverters at the same time (Huang et al., 2011; Canizares and Palma-Behnke, 2014; Rajesh et al., 2017; Sen and Kumar, 2018). This concept brings some important advantages which are

- The power/current is equally divided among working inverters.
- The difference in feeder impedance does not badly influence its operation.
- Its simplicity compared to the droop scheme presented in Huang et al. (2011), Vandoorn et al. (2013), Canizares and

Palma-Behnke (2014), Han et al. (2016a), and Sen and Kumar (2018).

Power Sharing Among Inverters in Microgrid

One major advantage of this control scheme is its central structure. Meaning, the output control signals are applied on all inverters at the same time, which yields equal power sharing among the working inverters. Even if one inverter is lost for any reason, the other working inverters share the whole load power. The power of each inverter vs. the total load power is given in **Figure 7**, which shows equal power (active and reactive) for all three inverters. In **Figure 7B**, the reactive power of each inverter is close to the reactive power of other inverters; consequently, they look above each other.

Voltage Unbalance Mitigation in Microgrid

The mitigation of the voltage unbalance starts with the extraction of the unbalance components (positive, negative, and zero-sequence voltages), this extraction process is conducted







continuously through the state variable structure filters block for voltage unbalance in **Figure 3**. The output of this block is minimal and neglected in case the loads are balanced. If the loads are unbalanced, then the unbalance components are considerable, and these components are extracted, processed, and mitigated as will be illustrated in **Figures 8**, **9**. The three-phase unbalanced voltages are shown in **Figure 8A**. Their estimated voltage unbalance components are already given in **Figure 5**. These voltages are processed by the scheme of **Figure 3** to generate a voltage reference. The three-phase voltages with the mitigation of the negative-sequence and zero-sequence components are apparent in **Figure 8B**. The efficiency of the mitigation for voltage unbalance is justified by the negative and zero unbalance factor (defined in IEEE Std. 1159–1995) as,

$$UVF^{+} = \frac{V_{estimated}^{+}}{typical \ value}, \ UVF^{-} = \frac{V_{estimated}^{-}}{V_{estimated}^{+}},$$
$$UVF^{0} = \frac{V_{estimated}^{0}}{V_{estimated}^{+}}$$
(25)

The efficiency of the voltage waveforms given in **Figure 8** is affirmed by the negative- and zero-unbalance factor without and with the activation of the negative-voltage control loop and zero-voltage loop. These negative- and zero-unbalance factors are shown in **Figures 9A,B**, respectively. With the activation of the unbalance loop, the negative- and zero-unbalance factors (UVF^-, UVF^0) are less 2% as stipulated in IEEE Std. 1159–1995.

Voltage Harmonics Mitigation in Microgrid

Starting from t = 8 s, the non-linear load is connected to the microgrid, which injects current harmonics such as 3rd, 5th, 7th, 11th, 13th, ... etc. In this research, these harmonics are estimated through the formulation given in section Smooth variable structure filter. The three-phase voltages at the PCC without and with the activation of the harmonics loop is depicted

in **Figures 10A,B**, respectively. The efficiency of harmonics mitigation is affirmed by the total harmonic distortion and harmonic spectrum. The harmonic spectrum without and with the activation of the harmonic mitigation loop is illustrated in **Figures 11A,B**, respectively. The harmonic spectrum reflects the THD at the PCC, which is transferred from 9 to 3%.

The good performance for stabilizing the voltage and power sharing at loads side is verified by the preceding simulation results. For the real time implementation, it is expected to have a slight difference in results for equal power sharing because identical inverters along with their operation cannot be practically guaranteed, which may lead to unequal power generation among the inverters and a small circulating current due to a small difference in the generated voltage by each inverter.

CONCLUSION

This paper presents an effective operational/control scheme, which is able to achieve some objectives in the microgrid. These multiple objectives of the operational scheme have been realized because the proposed scheme has two main contributory components. The 1st component is the newly developed SVSF, which is used to estimate all voltage disturbances under study in this paper. The 2nd component is the adaptive SMC along with its integral sliding surface, which gives a seamless transient and steady-space performance for the injected voltage/power of inverters. The integration of the SVSF and adaptive SMC enables the operational scheme to give the optimum required voltage/power performance at the loads. The voltage is stabilized at the PCC to 1 pu for any loading condition. In addition, the unbalance factors (negative and zero-sequence voltages) at the PCC become <2%, and voltage harmonics (3rd, 5th, 7th, 11th, 13th, 17th) at the PCC are smaller than 5%. More importantly, the loads' power is equally shared among the working inverters.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/supplementary material.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AE has contributed to everything in the paper including idea under study in the paper, the modeling of the system under study, mathematical equation development, simulation results, analysis of the results, and finally editing and proofreading the whole

REFERENCES

- Acharya, S., El-Moursi, M. S., Al-Hinai, A., Al-Sumaiti, A. S., and Zeineldin, H. (2019). A control strategy for voltage unbalance mitigation in an islanded microgrid considering demand side management capability. *IEEE Trans. Smart Grid* 10, 2558–2568. doi: 10.1109/TSG.2018.2804954
- Al-Shabi, M., and Elnady, A. (2019). Recursive smooth variable structure filter for estimation processes in direct power control scheme under balanced and unbalanced power grid. *IEEE Syst. J.* 1–12. doi: 10.1109/JSYST.2019.29 19792
- Al-Shabi, M., Gadsden, S., and Habibi, S. (2013). Kalman filtering strategies utilizing the chattering effects of the smooth variable structure filter. J. Signal Proce. 93, 420–431. doi: 10.1016/j.sigpro.2012.07.036
- Canizares, C. A., and Palma-Behnke, R. (2014). Trends in microgrids control. *IEEE Trans. Smart Grid* 5, 1905–1919. doi: 10.1109/TSG.2013.22 95514
- Elnady, A., and Suleiman, M. S. (2017). Simulation and experimental comparison between multilevel and conventional inverters. *Int. J. Power Energy Syst.* 37, 1–10. doi: 10.2316/Journal.203.2017.3.203-6329
- Gadsden, S. A., Al-Shabi, M., and Kirubarajan, T. (2015). Square-root formulation of the SVSF with applications to nonlinear target tracking problems. J. Signal Process 9474, 1–12. doi: 10.1117/12.2177226
- Girgis, A., Chang, W., and Makram, E. (1991). A digital recursive measurement scheme for on-line tracking of power system harmonics. *IEEE Trans. on Power Deliv.* 6, 1153–1991. doi: 10.1109/61.85861
- Han, H., Hou, X., Yang, J., Wu, J., Su, M., Guerrero, J., et al. (2016a). Review of power sharing control strategies for islanding operation of AC microgrids. *IEEE Trans. Smart Grid.* 7, 200–215. doi: 10.1109/TSG.2015.24 34849
- Han, Y., Chen, P., Zhao, Z., and Geurrero, G. M. (2016b). An enhanced power sharing scheme for voltage unbalance and harmonics compensation in an AC islanded microgrid. *IEEE Trans. Energy Convers.* 31, 1037–1050. doi: 10.1109/TEC.2016.2552497
- Hirsch, A., Parag, Y., and Guerrero, J. (2018). Microgrids: a review of technologies, key drivers, and outstanding issues. J. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 90, 402–411. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2018.03.040
- Huang, W., Lua, M., and Zhang, L. (2011). Survey on microgrid control strategies. J. Energy Proc. 12, 206–212. doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2011. 10.029
- Huang, Y. J., Kuo, T. C., and Chang, S. H. (2008). Adaptive sliding-mode control for nonlinear systems with uncertain parameters. *IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cy-s Part B* 38, 534–544. doi: 10.1109/TSMCB.2007.910740
- Javier Alcántara, F., and Salmerón, P. (2005). A new technique for unbalance current and voltage estimation with neural networks. *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.* 20, 852–858. doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2005.846051
- Jiayi, H., Chuanwen, J., and Rong, X. (2008). A review on distributed energy resources and microgrid. J. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 12, 2472–2483. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2007.06.004
- Lexuan, M., Xin, Z., Fen, T., Mehdi, S., Tomislav, D., Vasquez, Q., et al. (2015). Distributed voltage unbalance compensation in islanded microgrid by using dynamic consensus algorithms. *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.* 31, 827–838. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2015.2408367

paper. MA-S has contributed to modeling of the system under study, mathematical equation development, simulation results, analysis of the results, and finally editing the whole paper. AA has contributed to modeling of the system under study, mathematical equation development, reviewing the whole paper, and editing and proofreading.

FUNDING

This research work is sponsored by the University of Sharjah under the grant no 1802040393-P and 1602040826-P.

- Liu, Q., Tao, Y., Liu, X.,Deng, Y., and He, X. (2014). Voltage unbalance and harmonics compensation for islanded microgrid inverters. *IET Proc. Power Electr.* 7, 1055–1063. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.20 13.0410
- Marei, M. I., El-Saadany, E. F., and Salama, M. M. A. (2004). A processing unit for symmetrical components and harmonics estimation based on a new adaptive linear combiner structure. *IEEE Trans. Power Deliv.* 19, 1245–1252. doi: 10.1109/TPWRD.2004.829110
- Mariam, L., Basu, M., and Conlon, M. F. (2013). A review of existing microgrid architectures. J. Eng. 2013:937614. doi: 10.1155/2013/ 937614
- Moghaddam, M., Kalam, A., Miveh, M., Naderipour, A., Gandoman, F. H., Reza Miveh, M., et al. (2018). Improved voltage unbalance and harmonics compensation control strategy for an isolated microgrid. *Energies* 11, 1–26. doi: 10.3390/en11102688
- Mohammadi, J., Ajaei, F., and Stevens, G. (2019). Grounding the AC microgrid. IEEE Trans. Indus. Appl. 55, 98–105. doi: 10.1109/TIA.2018.28 64106
- Parhizi, S., Lotfi, H., Khodaei, A., and Bahramirad, S. (2015). State of the art in research on microgrids: a review. *IEEE Access* 3, 890–925. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2015.2443119
- Rajesh, K. S., Dash, S. S., Rajagopal, R., and Sridhar, R. (2017). A review on control of ac microgrid. J. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 71, 814–819. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2016.12.106
- Ren, B., Sun, X., Chen, S., and Liu, H. (2018). A compensation control scheme of voltage unbalance using combined three-phase inverter in an islanded microgrid. *Energies* 11, 1–15. doi: 10.3390/en11092486
- Reyes, M., Rodriguez, P., Vazquez, S., Luna, A., Teodorescu, R., Carrasco, J., et al. (2012). Enhanced decoupled double- synchronous reference frame current controller for unbalanced grid-voltage condition. *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.* 27, 3934–3943. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2012.2190147
- Savaghebi, M., Guerrero, J. M., Jalilian, A., and Vasquez, C. (2011). "Experimental evaluation of voltage unbalance compensation in an islanded microgrid," in *Proceedings. of IEEE International Symposium on Industrial Electronics* (Gdansk), 1453–1458. doi: 10.1109/ISIE.2011.5984374
- Savaghebi, M., Jalilian, A., Vasquez, J., and C., Guerrero, J. M. (2013). Autonomous voltage unbalance compensation in an islanded droop-controlled microgrid. *IEEE Trans. Indus. Electr.* 60, 1390–1402. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2012.21 85914
- Savaghebi, M., Jalilian, A., Vasquez, J. C., and Guerrero, J. M. (2012). Secondary control scheme for voltage unbalance compensation in an islanded droop-controlled microgrid. *IEEE Trans. Smart Grid* 3, 797–807. doi: 10.1109/TSG.2011.2181432
- Sen, S., and Kumar, V. (2018). Microgrid control: a comprehensive survey. Annu. Rev. Control 45, 118–151. doi: 10.1016/j.arcontrol.2018.04.012
- Shi, H., Zhuo, F., and Zhiqing, H. Y. (2016). Control strategy for microgrid under three-phase unbalance condition. J. Modern Power Syst. Clean Energy 4, 94–102. doi: 10.1007/s40565-015-0182-3
- Soliman, S., and El-hawary, M. E. (1997). Application of Kalman filtering for online estimation of symmetrical components for power system protection. *J. Elect. Power Syst. Res.* 38, 113–123. doi: 10.1016/S0378-7796(96)01 069-3

- Sun, M., and Sahinoglu, Z. (2011). "Extended Kalman filter based grid synchronization in the presence of voltage unbalance for smart grid," in *Proceedings of ISGT* (Perth, WA). doi: 10.1109/ISGT.20115759147
- Vandoorn, T. L., De Kooning, J. D. M., Meersman, B., and Vandevelde, L. (2013). Review of primary control strategies for island microgrids with power-electronic interfaces. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 19, 613–628. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2012.11.062
- Zhao, X., Wu, X., Meng, L., Guerrero, J. M., and Vasquez, J. C. (2015). "A direct voltage unbalance compensation strategy for islanded microgrid," in *Proceedings of IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition* (Charlotte, NC), 1–9. doi: 10.1109/APEC.2015.7104818

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Elnady, Al-Shabi and Adam. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Improvement of Power Quality in a Three-Phase System Using an Adaline-Based Multilevel Inverter

Soumya Ranjan Das¹, Prakash K. Ray², Arun Kumar Sahoo^{1*}, Karthik Balasubramanian³ and Gaddam Sanjeeva Reddy⁴

¹ Department of Electrical Engineering, International Institute of Information Technology Bhubaneswar, Bhubaneswar, India, ² Department of Electrical Engineering, College of Engineering and Technology, Bhubaneswar, India, ³ Offshore Technology Development Private Ltd., Keppel Offshore and Marine Ltd., Singapore, Singapore, ⁴ Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Bhuma Shoba Nagireddy Memorial College of Engineering and Technology, Kurnool, India

The existence of harmonics in the power distribution system (PDS) is treated as the most serious issue that affects its stability and reliability. The active power filter (APF) therefore plays a vital role in PDS to compensate for the harmonics for the improvement of the power quality (PQ) and to keep the total harmonic distortion (THD) below 5% as per IEEE-519. In this work, a three-phase four-wire (3P-4W) multi-level inverter (MLI)-based APF is proposed to overcome the shoot-through effect (STE) and reduce the distortions in the supply current. The control of the voltage source inverter (VSI) is achieved using an Adaline-based LMS (A-LMS) algorithm with a hysteresis current controller. The proposed filter that uses the A-LMS technique is compared with the conventional recursive least square (RLS) algorithm. The A-LMS approach is mainly operated for maintaining the dc link voltage of MLI, which follows the principle of capacitor energy and reduces the total harmonic distortion (THD) under different load variations. The performance of MLI under different load conditions is designed, developed, and validated by using a MATLAB/Simulink environment, and the preeminent features are established.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sudhakar Babu Thanikanti, Universiti Tenaga Nasional, Malaysia

Reviewed by:

Marif Daula Siddique, University of Malaya, Malaysia Sunil Govinda Solanki, UCSI University, Malaysia

*Correspondence:

Arun Kumar Sahoo arunsahoo89@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Process and Energy Systems Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Energy Research

Received: 31 December 2019 Accepted: 06 February 2020 Published: 28 February 2020

Citation:

Das SR, Ray PK, Sahoo AK, Balasubramanian K and Reddy GS (2020) Improvement of Power Quality in a Three-Phase System Using an Adaline-Based Multilevel Inverter. Front. Energy Res. 8:23. doi: 10.3389/fenrg.2020.00023 Keywords: Adaline-based LMS, multi-level inverter, recursive least square, total harmonic distortion, power quality

INTRODUCTION

In the era of modern power systems, it is quite a promising task to reduce the harmonics in the PDS. The harmonics are generally caused due to the usage of a non-linear load. Therefore, amongst the probable solutions in recent years, it is observed that multi-level inverter (MLI)- (Siddique et al., 2019a,b) based APF has the capability to control and regulate the electrical disturbances and improvise the PQ by injecting the compensating current (Babu et al., 2015) to the PDS. MLIs are widely used in various areas like HVDC systems (Xu et al., 2014), battery energy storage systems (Soong and Lehn, 2014), as well as wind (Gangui et al., 2012) and solar energy systems (Yousri et al., 2019). Significant developments linked with the circuit topology (Siddique et al., 2019c) and control techniques of the MLI have been noticed in recent days. Recent studies have demonstrated the importance of the MLI, which delivers an ideal functionality for high and medium voltage systems (Ali and Krishnaswamy, 2018). With the use of an MLI, the compensations in current harmonics are very effective in improving the PQ. An MLI can provide improved PQ by operating the power semiconductor devices at a frequency near to the fundamental (Rodriguez et al., 2002). Of course, for low-power applications, the switching frequencies of the switching devices are not restricted, but, at its lower value, the efficiency of the converter increases (Ozdemir et al., 2008). An MLI

TABLE 1 Comparative analysis between Conventional Inverter and
proposed MLI.

Issues	Conventional Inverter	Proposed MLI
Shoot-through phenomenon	Available	Removed
Reliability	Less	More
Switch stress (voltage and current)	High	Low
Switching circuit cost	More	Less

also offers advantages, such as the possibility of direct interfacing to the medium voltage system without using a coupling transformer, the production of output voltages with lower distortions, having high power conversion characteristics, and providing a high equivalent switching frequency effect at rather lower values.

Different configurations of MLIs have been discussed so far in this area. In Rodriguez et al. (2009) and Pratheesh et al. (2017), the neutral clamped MLI is discussed where the authors presented the modulation and control techniques with special attention to the distribution losses. In Zhang et al. (2013) and Lei et al. (2017), the authors have discussed the function of the flying capacitors for harmonics and unbalanced current compensation. In Karasani et al. (2016), and Gupta et al. (2015), the performance of the cascaded MLI (CMLI) has been analyzed. Among the available MLI topologies, the CMLI is extensively used; it provides a modular design and can be directly linked to the grid at PCC instead of using a transformer (Ertl et al., 2002). Moreover, it provides power semiconductors with a lower rating compared to the standard two-level configurations, thereby improving the reliability under faulty situations. The MLI is given higher preference over other switching topologies because the MLI achieves the output of equal voltage by using fewer switching devices.

In this paper, a 3P-4W H-bridge interleaved buck-type active power filter (HILBAPF) (Panda and Patel, 2014) is implemented. HILBAPF has been developed to overcome the problems incurred by the conventional MLI in balancing the capacitor voltages and to exclude the interfacing transformer. Also, the conventional MLIs are not capable of managing faults and fault ride-throughs. Another major factor of the MLI is reliability, which decreases by means of STE. The supply voltages, with an unbalanced and non-sinusoidal supply, combined with the existence of negative and zero sequence components in the supply source, results in huge losses and excessive temperature increases in the PDS. Therefore, compensating for the zero sequence components in the neutral wire has become a primary task in the improvement of the PQ. A comparative analysis between conventional inverter and proposed MLI is provided in Table 1.

Various control techniques have been used so far in this area to accomplish the compensation task, which comprises the instantaneous power theory (p-q) (Hachani et al., 2017), the synchronous reference frame (SRF) theory (Hoon et al., 2016), the discrete Fourier transform approach (Wang et al., 2016), and the deadbeat controller (Qi et al., 2017). However, adaptive filters

(Chilipi et al., 2016) play an important role in compensating for the harmonics by injecting the required current to the power grid. Traditionally, a recursive least square (RLS) (Das et al., 2017) is employed, which offers improved performance, simplicity, robustness, and a lower computational burden. However, they are still altered due to factors like a slow convergence rate, longer iteration rate, and large storage capacity. These issues thus sort out use the Adaline approach (Subudhi et al., 2012). The Adaline approach is the most commonly used artificial neural network (ANN) technique to extract the fundamental and/or harmonic components. ANN has been projected as an attractive estimation and regression technique due to its parallel computing nature and high learning capability.

Moreover, the A-LMS is very simple and produces fewer computational problems. It offers natural linearity and the methodology is fast. In this study, therefore, an A-LMS (Merabet et al., 2017) approach in the MLI for calculating the reference current extractions is presented. The proposed approach provides improved robustness, speed, and efficiency along with a lower switching frequency or lower current ripple as compared to standard two-level topologies. Moreover, it produces a sinusoidal component from a non-linear supply voltage. The performance is realized using a Matlab/Simulink and compared with the conventional RLS to check the effectiveness of the proposed system.

The main idea in this work is to design a power system model with an MLI for compensating for the current harmonics and reactive power compensation by supplying a compensating current and reducing the THD percentage below 5% as per IEEE standard. The proposed system is tested under balanced and unbalanced load cases. The reference source current extraction is realized using an A-LMS. The A-LMS extracts the current in a simpler way with a shorter period of execution. The A-LMS algorithm is very dynamic for severe load variations. The proposed method improves the effective dynamic performance of the MLI for compensating for load currents with a reduced computational burden. The proposed technique is easily realized on digital processors and performs the fewest number of calculations.

The paper is arranged into several sections. Section System Configuration provides detail explanations of 3-phase, 4-wire HILBAPF, section Control Methodology provides proposed Adaline techniques, section Results and Discussion provides the result analysis for PQ improvement, and section Conclusions provides the conclusion.

SYSTEM CONFIGURATION

To obtain the fundamental supply current, the MLI must inject or absorb a compensating filter current. The compensated current must be the same and be in phase opposition to the harmonic components. The 3P-4W with HILBAPF is shown in **Figure 1**. The proposed model is designed especially for high voltage, medium-to-high power applications with an objective to end shoot-through problems. It consists of three single-phase Hbridge inverters. The advantage of this topology is that the voltage



across in each H-bridge interleaved buck inverter appears at the single phase voltage only, and hence the dc link reference voltage required is decreased by $\sqrt{3}$ times as compared to the other conventional MLI. The proposed topology requires only one dc link capacitor voltage out of the three individual phases for reference current generation, and this consequently reduces the voltage regulation complexness.

For the 3P-4W HILBAPF, the following mathematical equations are presented:

$$i_{s(a+b+c)} = i_{sn}$$

$$i_{L(a+b+c)} = i_{Ln}$$

$$i_{comp(a+b+c)} = i_{compn}$$
(1)

where, $i_{s(a+b+c)}$, $i_{L(a+b+c)}$, and $i_{comp(a+b+c)}$ represent the corresponding source, load, and compensating current of phase a, b, and c, respectively, while, i_{sn} , i_{Ln} and i_{compn} represent the corresponding neutral supply, load, and compensating currents. Now, in HILBAPF, the compensating current can be presented as the sum of the two coupling inductors current for

individual phases:

$$i_{compa} = i_{La1} + i_{La2} = -i_{La3} - i_{La4}$$

$$i_{compb} = i_{Lb1} + i_{Lb2} = -i_{Lb3} - i_{Lb4}$$

$$i_{compc} = i_{Lc1} + i_{Lc2} = -i_{Lc3} - i_{Lc4}$$
(2)

The dc-side capacitance (C_{dc}) of HILBAPF is given as:

$$0.5 * C_{dc} * \left[\left(V_{dc}^2 - V_{dc\min}^2 \right) \right] = V_s(t) * I * \Delta t$$
 (3)

where, C_{dc} , V_{dc} , $V_{dc\min}$, I, $V_s(t)$, and Δt are, respectively, the capacitance of the DC-bus, voltage across the DC-side, minimum dc-bus voltage level, phase current, phase voltage, and change of time where the DC-bus voltage is to be improved. The control strategies of VSI using A-LMS are discussed in subsequent sub-sections.

CONTROL METHODOLOGY

To obtain the fundamental supply current, the APF must inject or absorb a compensating filter current. The compensated

current must be the same and be in phase opposition to the harmonic components. The 3P-4W MLI is shown in **Figure 1**. The performance of the 3P-4W MLI depends on the control strategy designed. In this paper for improving the reliability of the proposed system, two different control strategies, the RLS and A-LMS techniques, are used for controlling the VSI of 3P-4W MLI. The details of the controlling techniques are discussed in subsequent sub-sections.

RLS Algorithm

The RLS approach, with its simple structure and robust performance, is extensively implemented in many applications. The RLS technique is very simple; it reduces noise and automatically adjusts parameters. During the steady state, the active power offered by the power system is equal to the active power required by the load, and there is therefore no active current that flows through the MLI. Furthermore, the DC-link voltage is fixed, and its waveform has six ripples. Therefore, if the transient state occurs due to the load variation, the DC-link capacitor will provide the active power variance between the supply system and load, which may in turn produce a fluctuation in the DC link. In order to sustain a fixed DC-bus voltage and weaken the six ripples in the waveform, the MLI employs an RLS filter to get a DC-bus active parameter (A_{dcx}) for each phase.

In this approach for obtaining the compensation current generation, the RLS filter is used in the MLI such that the dc link active current parameter (A_{dcx}) is obtained with a constant dc link voltage and so that it can be ripple free in the waveform. **Figure 2** provides the functioning of the RLS algorithm, where V_{ref} references the dc link voltage, and V_{dc} (*i*) references the dc link voltage, having an instantaneous sampling value. To sustain the dc link, the instantaneous active power required to maintain the DC-link voltage (P_{dc}) is specified as

$$P_{dc}(i) = \left[\left(V_{ref} + y(i) \right)^2 - V^2_{ref} \right] * C/2$$
(4)

where, *C*, termed as the DC-bus capacitor, and A_{dcx} can be obtained as

$$A_{dcx} = P_{dc}(i) / V_x^2 \tag{5}$$

The final A_x , i.e., the active parameter, is obtained as

$$A_x = A_{ax} + A_{dcx} \tag{6}$$

For each phase, the instantaneous current is given as

$$i_x(t) = i_{ax}(t) + i_{nx}(t) \tag{7}$$

where,

$$i_{nx}(t) = i_{rx}(t) + i_{hx}(t)$$
 (8)

In a grid voltage, harmonics do not exist, and therefore instantaneous voltage is expressed as

$$V_x(t) = V_{ax}(t) \tag{9}$$



For each phase, the reference active current is expressed as

$$i_{ax}(t) = A_x V_x(t) \tag{10}$$

The instantaneous reference compensation current is identified as

$$i(t) = i_x(t) - i_{ax}(t)$$
 (11)

Therefore, for the distortion limit, the reference compensating current is injected into the power system.

A-LMS Algorithm

This algorithm is a combined technique between the Adaline and LMS algorithm. The weights in Adaline are basically updated using the LMS algorithm. Due to its simple structure and robust nature, the A-LMS algorithm is widely implemented in signal processing and control system application. The proposed technique is used to calculate the reference current components for the MLI. The convergence rate of the LMS algorithm depends on the fixed step-size parameter. The A-LMS offers several advantages, such as a simple structure, and it can be realized easily in practical applications. The results of frequency tracking, especially harmonics detection, demonstrate that the A-LMS algorithm can be utilized effectively in analyzing the PQ issues. The learning capacity of the ANN supports online adaptation to any variation in electrical parameters. Each neuron in ANN is treated as an elementary neuron. Each neuron collects a number of input variables from upstream neurons. Each input is assigned with a weight "w" representative of the strength of the connection. The output of the neuron acts on the activation function of the weighted sum inputs. Figure 3 illustrates the configuration of the Adaline neural network.

The Adaline output can be computed as per Equation (12):

$$Y = \sum x(i)w(i) = x^T w \tag{12}$$

where x and w (w_0 , w_1 ... w_n) are the input and weight vector, respectively, with n being the dimension, and Y being the estimated output.

Frontiers in Energy Research | www.frontiersin.org



Weight Value Estimation Using the A-LMS Algorithm

The A-LMS technique is designed for the extraction of the real fundamental frequency component of the load current. For maintaining a fixed DC-bus voltage, a PI controller is employed in which the DC-bus voltage is compared with its reference value.

Considering a three-phase system where the source voltage is sinusoidal and it is expressed as

$$v_s = v_m \sin wt \tag{13}$$

and the current in the non-linear load is given as

$$i_L = I_1 \sin(wt + \phi_1) + \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} I_n \sin(nwt + \phi_n)$$
 (14)

Equation (14) can be represented as

$$i_L = i_{lp}^+ + i_{lq}^+ + i_{lh}^- \tag{15}$$

where, i_{lp}^+ , i_{lq}^+ , and i_{lh}^- are the positive sequence active load current, positive sequence reactive load current, and negative sequence load current (harmonic components), respectively.

In a single phase the current active component (i_p) , is expressed as

$$i_p = w_m u_s \tag{16}$$

The unit vector is denoted as u_s , and w_m is denoted as the calculated weight of the A-LMS.

Therefore, the iterated weight is given as

$$w_{m(k+1)} = w_{m(k)} + \mu \left[i_{lk} - w_{m(k)} u_{s(k)} \right] u_{s(k)}$$
(17)

where μ is termed as the convergence coefficient.

$$w_m^+ = \frac{\left(w_{ma}^+ + w_{mb}^+ + w_{mc}^+\right)}{3} \tag{18}$$

DC Link Voltage Control

The error across the DC-bus is given as

$$v_{dc(n)}^* - v_{dc(n)} = \Delta v_{dc(n)} \tag{19}$$

where the output from PI is expressed as

$$I_{sm(n)} = I_{sm(n-1)} + I_{P1}$$
(20)

and where, $I_{P1} = k_{pdc} \left[\Delta v_{dc(n)} - \Delta v_{dc(n-1)} \right] + k_{idc} \Delta v_{dc(n)}$ as well as k_{pdc} and k_{idc} are the proportional and integral gain of the controller, respectively.

Generation of Reference Source Currents

The three-phase source reference currents are expressed as

$$i_{sa}^* = (w_m^+ + I_{sm}) u_{sa}$$
 (21)

$$i_{ch}^* = \left(w_m^+ + I_{sm}\right) u_{sb} \tag{22}$$

$$V_{sc}^* = (w_m^+ + I_{sm}) u_{sc}$$
 (23)

where, i_{sa}^* , i_{sb}^* , and i_{sc}^* are considered as reference source currents. These currents are compared with detected source currents, and their resultant output is supplied to the HCC (hysteresis current controller) for gating signal generation. The detailed algorithm is shown in **Figure 4**. The proposed technique needs less computational workout. Moreover, this technique instantaneously compensates for the source currents, which is not easy in the case of conventional techniques. The weights are computed online using the LMS algorithm. The weights are averaged not for the purpose of averaging at a fundamental frequency but for the canceling of the sinusoidal oscillating components in weights, which are available due to load current harmonics. The weight average in each different phase is depicted in **Figure 4**.

The ADALINE receives the PCC voltage and the individual load current, and it generates the individual weight with the reference source current. From the figure, it is clear that, for switching signal generation, the sensed source currents are subtracted from the reference source currents, and then the individual source current errors are supplied to the HCC.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

A power system model in the MATLAB/ SIMUINK and Simpower-System Block set is designed to analyze the function of the proposed controller in the three-phase system using the MLI. The complete system is composed mainly of a threephase source, a non-linear load (balanced and unbalanced load), the MLI system, and the PI controller with different proposed control strategies.

The performance of the proposed power system model is measured with the conventional RLS technique and the proposed Adaline-LMS technique under balanced and unbalanced loads. The concerned parameters of the system are provided in subsequent subsections.

To investigate the performance of the system, the test is carried out using a three-phase supply source and a non-linear load. The non-linear loads for balanced and unbalanced loads are provided in the **Appendix** section. Due to the presence of harmonics, it is noted that the load current is distorted from the normal sinusoidal current when a non-linear load is connected. The current wave forms of the distorted load currents during an

Frontiers in Energy Research | www.frontiersin.org

unbalanced non-linear load are illustrated in **Figure 5A**. From the figure, it can be seen that the distortion with a current dip is found from 0 to 0.05 s. After 0.05 s, the distorted load current is maintained at a rated value up to 0.2 s. The THD value found during the unbalanced load is around 38.97%, which is illustrated in **Figure 5B**. Now, the proposed model is operated during the balanced load. The distortion in the load current is found around 28.53%, which is found to be less compared to the case of unbalance load. The waveforms of the load current distortions are illustrated in **Figures 5C,D**. It is observed that in both of the cases the distortion of harmonics is not maintained as per the IEEE-519 standard. Therefore, to reduce the harmonics and to improve the PQ, the power system is run under the MLI using the RLS and A-LMS harmonics estimation technique. The individual test for both the RLS and A-LMS are analyzed under different load conditions. The performances of both techniques are observed individually to show the feasibility of the control technique.

Balanced Loading Condition

The performance study of the proposed power system model using the MLI is operated under a balanced load using the RLS and A-LMS techniques. Initially, it was observed that, with the use of the RLS technique, the distortion of voltage harmonics was improved as compared to the case that did not use the compensating device. The case study is designed for the case of balanced load conditions. **Figure 6** provides the simulation





outcomes of three-phase system using the RLS algorithm. **Figure 6A** provides the simulation outcomes of single-phase source current, load current, filter voltage, and dc-link voltage. The THD analysis is shown in **Figure 6B**, and was found to be 1.75%. From the simulation results, it was proven that the load current, which is composed of harmonics, is compensated for by the MLI, and the compensated RLS technique was found to maintain the IEEE-519 standard.

Furthermore, the proposed model was operated using the A-LMS technique and the corresponding results are depicted in



Figure 7. The source and load current, filter voltage, and dc-link voltage are provided in **Figure 7A**. The THD results are shown in **Figure 7B** and found to be 1.21%. It is observed that, when using the A-LMS technique under balanced load conditions, the distortions in the harmonics was improved compare to the RLS technique.

Unbalanced Loading Condition

In this sub-section, the MLI under the unbalanced non-linear loading condition is observed. In the first case, the system is run using the RLS technique. The corresponding results are shown in **Figure 8**. The source and load current, filter voltage, and DC-link voltage are produced in **Figure 8A**. The THD value was found to be 4.20% and is produced in **Figure 8B**.

Furthermore, the test was carried out using the A-LMS technique. The simulation outcomes of the source and load current, the filter voltage, and the DC-link voltage for the single phase is shown in **Figure 9A**. The corresponding THD results were found to be 3.70%. The THD analysis is shown in **Figure 9B**.

The simulation outcomes revealed that the distortion in the harmonics with the non-linear loads were compensated for using the MLI with the proposed A-LMS technique. It was noticed that the proposed model using the A-LMS provided satisfactory results. The THD of the load voltage was implied to display the better operation of the MLI under such conditions. The comparative analysis of THD is shown in **Table 2**.



algorithm under balanced load conditions: (A) simulation results showing supply current, load current, filter voltage, and DC-bus voltage; and (B) THD value of 1.21%.







FIGURE 9 | Power quality analysis in three phase system using the A-LMS algorithm under unbalanced load conditions: (A) simulation results showing supply current, load current, filter voltage, and DC-bus voltage; and (B) THD value of 3.72%.

 TABLE 2 | Comparative THD analysis of proposed technique under different load conditions.

Parameters	Unbalanced load (% THD)	Balanced load (% THD)
Without using MLI	38.97	28.53
Using MLI with RLS	4.20	1.75
Using MLI with A-LMS	3.70	1.21

CONCLUSIONS

The proposed power system model employed a 3P-4W MLI. The proposed MLI used the A-LMS technique for reference current generation and was compared with the conventional RLS technique. The performance of the proposed MLI was tested the using Matlab/ Simulink tool. The MLI was operated under balanced and unbalanced loads using both the RLS and A-LMS techniques. Even though both of the techniques were capable of compensate for the harmonics, it was concluded from simulation outcomes that the A-LMS techniques gave better results compared to the conventional RLS technique. The fall in %THD was found to be more satisfactory in the A-LMS technique, which proves the effectiveness of the proposed technique. It was concluded that the compensation in the load current using the A-LMS technique was found to satisfactory compared to the RLS technique. Moreover, the proposed MLI needed only one DC-link voltage to operate, and it was thus simple to control.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

REFERENCES

- Ali, J. S. M., and Krishnaswamy, V. (2018). An assessment of recent multilevel inverter topologies with reduced power electronics components for renewable applications. *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.* 82, 3379–3399. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2017.10.052
- Babu, T. S., Priya, K., Maheswaran, D., Sathish Kumara, K., and Rajasekar, N. (2015). Selective voltage harmonic elimination in PWM inverter using bacterial foraging algorithm. *Swarm Evol. Comput.* 20, 74–81. doi: 10.1016/j.swevo.2014.11.002
- Chilipi, R., Al Sayari, N., Al Hosani, K., and Beig, A. R. (2016). Control scheme for grid-tied distributed generation inverter under unbalanced and distorted utility conditions with power quality ancillary services. *IET Renew. Power Gen.* 10, 140–149. doi: 10.1049/iet-rpg.2015.0095
- Das, S. R., Ray, P. K., and Mohanty, A. (2017). Improvement in power quality using hybrid power filters based on RLS algorithm. *Energy Proc.* 138, 723–728. doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2017.10.207
- Ertl, H., Kolar, J. W., and Zach, F. C. (2002). A novel multicell DC-AC converter for applications in renewable energy systems. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 49, 1048–1057. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2002.803212
- Gangui, Y., Jigang, L., Gang, M. U., Yu, L., Yang, L., and Wei, S. (2012). Research on modular multilevel converter suitable for direct-drive wind power system. *Energy Proc.* 17, 1497–1506. doi: 10.1016/j.egypro.2012.02.272
- Gupta, K. K., Ranjan, A., Bhatnagar, P., Sahu, L. K., and Jain, S. (2015). Multilevel inverter topologies with reduced device count: a review. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 31, 135–151. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2015.2405012
- Hachani, K., Mahi, D., and Kouzou, A. (2017). Shunt active power filtering based on the pq theory control. *Electrotehn. Electron. Automat.* 65, 85–89.
- Hoon, Y., Radzi, M. A. M., Hassan, M. K., and Wahab, N. I. A. (2016). A simplified synchronous reference frame for indirect current controlled threelevel inverter-based shunt active power filters. *J. Power Electron.* 16, 1964–1980. doi: 10.6113/JPE.2016.16.5.1964
- Karasani, R. R., Borghate, V. B., Meshram, P. M., Suryawanshi, H. M., and Sabyasachi, S. (2016). A three-phase hybrid cascaded modular multilevel inverter for renewable energy environment. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 32, 1070–1087. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2016.2542519
- Lei, Y., Barth, C., Qin, S., Liu, W. C., Moon, I., Stillwell, A., et al. (2017). A 2-kW single-phase seven-level flying capacitor multilevel inverter with an active energy buffer. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 32, 8570–8581. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2017.2650140
- Merabet, L., Saad, S., Abdeslam, D. O., and Merckle, J. (2017). Direct neural method for harmonic currents estimation using adaptive linear element. *Electr. Power Syst. Res.* 152, 61–70. doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2017.06.018
- Ozdemir, E., Ozdemir, S., Tolbert, L. M., and Ozpineci, B. (2008). "Fundamental frequency modulated multilevel inverter for three-phase stand-alone photovoltaic application," in 2008 Twenty-Third Annual IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (Austin, TX: IEEE), 148–153.
- Panda, A. K., and Patel, R. (2014). PI and fuzzy-controlled 3-phase 4-wire interleaved buck active power filter with shoot-through elimination for power quality improvement using RTDS hardware. *Int. J. Emerg. Electr. Power Syst.* 15, 177–194. doi: 10.1515/ijeeps-2013-0104
- Pratheesh, K. J., Jagadanand, G., and Ramchand, R. (2017). A generalizedswitch-matrix-based space vector modulation technique using the nearest level modulation concept for neutral-point-clamped multilevel inverters. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 65, 4542–4552. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2017.2772172

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

- Qi, C., Chen, X., Tu, P., and Wang, P. (2017). Deadbeat control for a single-phase cascaded H-bridge rectifier with voltage balancing modulation. *IET Power Electron.* 11, 610–617. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2016.0933
- Rodriguez, J., Bernet, S., Steimier, P. K., and Lizama, I. E. (2009). A survey on neutral-point-clamped inverters. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 57, 2219–2230. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2009.2032430
- Rodriguez, J., Lai, J. S., and Peng, F. Z. (2002). Multilevel inverters: a survey of topologies, controls, and applications. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 49, 724–738. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2002.801052
- Siddique, M. D., Mekhilef, S., Shah, N. M., and Memon, M. A. (2019a). Optimal design of a new cascaded multilevel inverter topology with reduced switch count. *IEEE Access* 7, 24498–24510. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2890872
- Siddique, M. D., Mekhilef, S., Shah, N. M., Sarwar, A., and Iqbal, A. (2019b). A new multilevel inverter topology with reduce switch count. *IEEE Access* 7, 58584–58594. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2914430
- Siddique, M. D., Mekhilef, S., Shah, N. M., Sarwar, A., Iqbal, A., Tayyab, M., et al. (2019c). Low switching frequency based asymmetrical multilevel inverter topology with reduced switch count. *IEEE Access* 7, 86374–86383. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2925277
- Soong, T., and Lehn, P. W. (2014). Evaluation of emerging modular multilevel converters for BESS applications. *IEEE Trans. Power Deliv.* 29, 2086–2094. doi: 10.1109/TPWRD.2014.2341181
- Subudhi, B., Ray, P. K., and Ghosh, S. (2012). Variable leaky least mean-square algorithm-based power system frequency estimation. *IET Sci. Meas. Technol.* 6, 288–297. doi: 10.1049/iet-smt.2011.0103
- Wang, T., Qi, J., Xu, H., Wang, Y., Liu, L., and Gao, D. (2016). Fault diagnosis method based on FFT-RPCA-SVM for cascaded-multilevel inverter. *ISA Trans.* 60, 156–163. doi: 10.1016/j.isatra.2015.11.018
- Xu, F., Xu, Z., Zheng, H., Tang, G., and Xue, Y. (2014). A tripole HVDC system based on modular multilevel converters. *IEEE Trans. Power Deliv.* 29, 1683–1691. doi: 10.1109/TPWRD.2014.2315640
- Yousri, D., Babu, T. S., Allam, D., Ramachandaramurthy, V. K., and Etiba, M. B. (2019). A novel chaotic flower pollination algorithm for global maximum power point tracking for photovoltaic system under partial shading conditions. *IEEE Access* 7, 121432–121445. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.29 37600
- Zhang, L., Waite, M. J., and Chong, B. (2013). Three-phase four-leg flyingcapacitor multi-level inverter-based active power filter for unbalanced current operation. *IET Power Electron.* 6, 153–163. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2012. 0317

Conflict of Interest: KB was employed by the company Offshore Technology Development Private Ltd.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Das, Ray, Sahoo, Balasubramanian and Reddy. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

APPENDIX

TABLE 1A | Parameters of the system.

Parameters	Values
Grid voltage	415 v
Supply frequency	50 Hz
Boost inductor	300 μΗ
Capacitor across dc side	1,000 μF
Voltage across dc link	320 v
Resistance across load	$R_{L}=60~\Omega,(R_{1}=2~\Omega,R_{2}=4~\Omega,R_{3}=6~\Omega)$
Inductance across load	10 µF
Learning rate	0.5
Controller gain	$K_P = 0.05, K_I = 0.025$
Sampling time	2e ⁻⁵ s





A New 1-φ, Seventeen Level Inverter Topology With Less Number of Power Devices for Renewable Energy Application

Phani Kumar Chamarthi^{1*}, Vivek Agarwal² and Ahmed Al-Durra¹

¹ Electrical and Computer Engineering Department, Advanced Power Electronics Centre (APEC), Khalifa University, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates, ² Applied Power Electronics Laboratory (APEL), Electrical and Electronics Engineering Department, Indian Institute of Technology Bombay (IITB), Mumbai, India

In this paper, a new seventeen level inverter topology is proposed for single-phase

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sudhakar Natarajan, VIT University, India

Reviewed by:

Bidyut Mahato, Indian Institute of Technology Dhanbad, India Karthik Balasubramanian, Independent Researcher, Singapore, Singapore

> *Correspondence: Phani Kumar Chamarthi phanikumareee@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Process and Energy Systems Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Energy Research

Received: 05 February 2020 Accepted: 28 May 2020 Published: 24 July 2020

Citation:

Chamarthi PK, Agarwal V and Al-Durra A (2020) A New 1-φ, Seventeen Level Inverter Topology With Less Number of Power Devices for Renewable Energy Application. Front. Energy Res. 8:131. doi: 10.3389/fenrg.2020.00131 grid-connected renewable energy applications. The proposed inverter topology can provide seventeen levels in the output voltage while using a lesser number of power devices. This proposed inverter topology comprises nine power switches, five power diodes, and two sets of DC sources (two 3V and two V) which are in the ratio of 1:3. By properly arranging the input DC sources, power switches, and power diodes through different possible combinations the seventeen voltage levels are generated. The main advantage of this seventeen level inverter is that a maximum of six power devices conducts in any mode. Thus, conduction losses are lesser compared to existing seventeen level inverter topologies which results in a highly efficient system. Further, the detailed comparison of proposed inverter topology with the existing multilevel inverter (MLI) topologies shows that the number of required power devices count is considerably lower. The possible extension of the proposed inverter topology for the three-phase application is also discussed. Further, a level-shifted based pulse modulation strategy is proposed to control the output of the proposed inverter. To verify the operation, the proposed inverter topology is simulated in MATLAB/Simulink for a 500 W grid-connected system. All the major results are included in the paper. The experiments are performed to validate the proposed inverter topology for a 500 W grid-connected system and all the key results are included in the paper.

Keywords: multilevel inverter, seventeen level inverter, level-shifted modulation strategy, level generation circuit, polarity changer circuit

INTRODUCTION

In the present days, the grid integrated renewable energy systems are drawing huge attention due to their several advantages. Solar photovoltaics (PV) is the most popular renewable energy source among the existing renewable energy sources. However, the grid integration of solar PV involves several challenges. To realize high voltage source from low voltage solar PV modules requires a series connection of several PV modules which may lead to module mismatch and partial shading problems (Sharma and Agarwal, 2014). The alternate solution is to use a low voltage PV module with the high gain DC-DC converter as a frontend to the inverter for boosting the output
voltage to be compatible with the $1-\phi$, 230 V or $3-\phi$, 415 Vgrid. Another alternate solution is to use the line-frequency transformer at the output of the PV inverter. But the use of additional transformer increases system cost, size, and losses in the system. This demands the utilization of high voltage gain DC-DC converters (Liu and Li, 2006; Tao et al., 2006; Duarte et al., 2007; Das and Agarwal, 2016) at the front end for boosting the voltage from low voltage solar PV source. The important features which are required from the high voltage gain DC-DC converters are that they should provide high voltage gain while maintaining high efficiency which is not possible with the conventional switched-mode DC-DC converters. To fulfill the above-mentioned requirements, the special high gain DC-DC converter topologies were proposed and developed. Another interesting feature of these high gain DC-DC converters is that they have isolated multi outputs which is more suitable for multiinput DC-AC inverter for interfacing with utility grid or load.

Figure 1 shows the typical block diagram of the gridconnected renewable energy source [PV or fuel cell (FC)] fed high gain DC-DC converter based multi-input DC-AC converter system. Here, the single input and multioutput DC-DC converter do the maximum power point tracking (MPPT) of the PV/FC source. The isolated multi-outputs of the high gain DC-DC converter acts as multi inputs of the MLI. The multi-inputs of the MLI can be regulated either through the grid side converter control (shown in **Figure 1A**) or battery supported DC-DC converter (shown in **Figure 1B**). Additionally, the configurations are shown in **Figure 1** will not allow the flow of common-mode current into the grid due to the galvanic isolation between the PV source and the grid. This paper concerns a novel multi-input MLI topology as a solution to this requirement.

Nowadays multilevel inverters (MLIs) have been gaining huge popularity as a single-stage inverter for renewable energy applications (Rodriguez et al., 2002; Lezana et al., 2008; Peng et al., 2010). The stepped output voltage waveform can be realized in MLIs through various arrangements of power devices using several input DC sources. Due to their salient features, MLIs became very suitable for medium voltage and high power applications compared to two-level converters. The applications of MLIs are not only limited to solar PV systems (Essakiappan et al., 2015) but also for wind energy systems (Yuan, 2014), drive systems (Ahmadi and Wang, 2014), and active power filters (Mathew et al., 2013). Even though MLIs require more number of power devices (Phanikumar and Agarwal, 2013a,b), they are still looked after due to their several advantages. They are lesser THD in output voltage, lesser filter requirement, lesser dv/dt, and lower electromagnetic interference (EMI). The conventional MLIs are



FIGURE 2 | Proposed configuration of seventeen level inverter topology.





classified as diode clamped (Nabae Takahashi and Akagi, 1981), capacitor clamped (Meynard and Foch, 1992), and cascaded H-bridge (Peng et al., 1996) MLIs.

The diode clamped and capacitor clamped MLIs are not preferred by researchers over CHB MLI due to their several drawbacks (Zare, 2008). Because they require large capacitors, unbalance in the voltages of input DC capacitors, and high voltage stress across power devices. Moreover, the CHB MLI accommodates a lesser number of power devices among conventional MLIs to produce the same number of voltage levels in the output (Gupta et al., 2016). The elementary concept of CHB MLI is to produce a staircase output voltage waveform through several combinations of power devices and DC sources. For solar PV applications, these DC sources can be replaced with solar PV modules as well. The presence of several steps in the output voltage waveform produces the higher quality sinusoidal waveform with a small output filter. But with the increase in the number of steps (i.e., the number of levels "n") in the output voltage, the number of power devices count also increases rapidly.

The researchers in Zare (2008) and Gupta et al. (2016) have done an extensive literature review on the state of the art of various topologies of MLIs. The authors in Babaei and Hosseini (2009) considered two power switches for a DC source to generate one positive voltage level. These modules are cascaded in series, and their output is connected to a full-bridge inverter to generate both positive and negative voltage levels. The authors in Babaei et al. (2014b) have modified the MLI topology in Babaei and Hosseini (2009) by adding two DC capacitors in each module with the DC source to achieve more levels in modules. In this topology, each module requires one fullbridge inverter which increases the number of components in the system.

Another type of MLI topologies which accommodate unequal input DC sources also can produce high quality of output. These topologies are called as asymmetrical MLI topologies. The advantage of these topologies is the requirement of a reduced number of power devices compared to conventional CHB MLI topologies. These topologies use fewer power components with optimal use of input DC sources. The authors in Gupta and Jain (2012) and Farhadi Kangarlu and Babaei (2013) uses a crossconnection of switches to produce more number of levels in the output with reduced stress on the devices. Further, extended MLI topologies with unequal DC sources were proposed in Babaei et al. (2014c) and Babaei et al. (2014a). Even though this topology can generate more voltage levels in the output than the other existing topologies the stress across devices is higher which requires high rated devices in the topology. It can be understood that the topologies in Farhadi Kangarlu and Babaei (2013) and Babaei et al. (2014a) have reduced switch count and the number of input DC sources. But they ended up with high stress across devices.

Another drawback of MLI topologies is DC capacitor voltage balancing. The authors in Shi et al. (2011), She et al. (2014),

	Switches states $(1 = ON, 0 = OFF)$											Output	Mode of		
			Le	vel gener	ation cire	cuit				Polarity changer				voltage V _{ab}	operation
S ₁	S ₂	S ₃	S ₄	S ₅	D ₁	D ₂	D ₃	D ₄	D 5	S ₆	S 7	S ₈	S ₉	_	
0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	8V	10
0	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	7V	9
0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	6V	8
0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	5V	7
1	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	5V	6
1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	4V	5
0	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	4V	4
0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	3V	3
0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	2V	2
0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	V	1
0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	0	11
0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	-V	12
0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	-2V	13
0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	0	-3V	14
0	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	-4V	15
1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	-4V	16
1	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	0	-5V	17
0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	0	-5V	18
0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	-6V	19
0	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	0	-7V	20
0	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	-8V	21

Sochor and Akagi (2016), and Zeng et al. (2016) have come up with balancing methods for asymmetrical MLI topologies and some topologies have inherent voltage balance capability (Lai and Shyu, 2002; Lee et al., 2009; Chattopadhyay and Chakraborty, 2014; Raushan et al., 2016; Samadaei et al., 2016; Vahedi et al., 2016; Ravi et al., 2017; Majumdar et al., 2018, 2020; Mahato et al., 2019a,b; Sinha Das and Jana, 2019; Sinha et al., 2019). The inherent voltage balancing MLI topologies have a symmetrical operation, which makes it easier to control the voltages.

To mitigate the issues of the existing MLI topologies, this paper proposes a seventeen level inverter topology with a lesser number of power devices and input DC sources. The power devices are arranged in an intelligent way to generate seventeen voltage levels with optimized input DC sources which reduce the system cost and improves the power quality. This proposed topology uses two sets of DC sources (two V and two 3 V) and produces eight positive voltage levels, eight negative voltage levels, one zero voltage levels which makes total seventeen voltage levels. To produce seventeen voltage levels the proposed topology uses just fourteen power devices. Further, there is a possibility to extend the proposed inverter topology to higher levels by cascading the modules in series so that high AC output voltage can be achieved.

This paper is organized as follows: section-proposed configuration of seventeen level inverter topology presents the proposed seventeen level inverter topology along with its various modes of operation. Section-proposed pulse width modulation strategy discusses the proposed pulse width modulation strategy, current control strategy to feed power to the grid, comparison of the proposed inverter topology with various existing MLI topologies, and extension of the proposed inverter to higher levels, the 3- ϕ extension of proposed seventeen level inverter. The simulation results of the proposed inverter topology are discussed in section-simulation results and the experimental results are presented in section-experimental results respectively. The major conclusions are presented in section-conclusions.

PROPOSED CONFIGURATION OF SEVENTEEN LEVEL INVERTER TOPOLOGY

This section presents the configuration proposed seventeen level inverter topology and its various operating modes.

Proposed Seventeen Level Inverter Topology

Figure 2 shows the proposed seventeen level inverter topology. It comprises of two circuits, a level generation circuit, and a polarity changer circuit. The level changer circuit consists of five switches (S_1 - S_5), five diodes (D_1 - D_5), and the polarity changer circuit consists of four switches (S_6 - S_9). The level generation circuit produces nine voltage levels (0, +V, +2 V, +3 V, +4 V,

+5 V, +6 V, +7 V, +8 V) at the output V_{XY}. These nine voltage levels can be generated through several possible combinations of five power switches (S₁-S₅), five power diodes (D₁-D₅), and four input DC sources as shown in **Figure 3**. The polarity changer circuit produces AC output voltage at V_{ab} with seventeen voltage levels (0, \pm V, \pm 2 V, \pm 3 V, \pm 4 V, \pm 5 V, \pm 6 V, \pm 7 V, \pm 8 V) by using the switches (S₆-S₉) as shown in **Figure 3L**. The all the possible switching states of the level generation circuit and polarity changer circuit are given in **Table 1** to produce the seventeen level output voltage (V_{ab}). The modes of operation of the level generation circuit are shown in **Figures 3A–K**.



Various Modes of Operation of Level Generation Circuit

The modes of operation of the level generation circuit are discussed below:

Mode-0: During this mode of operation the all the switches of the level generation circuit are turned OFF. The current will flow through the diodes D_2 and D_4 , as shown in **Figure 3A**. The terminals X, Y of the level generation circuit are shorted through D_2 , D_4 . Hence the voltage across the level generation circuit is zero (i.e., $V_{XY} = 0$). The current path during this mode of operation is indicated through the dotted line as shown in **Figure 3A**.

Mode-1: In this mode of operation the power switch S_3 of the level generation circuit is turned ON. The current will flow through the D_4 , S_3 , and D_4 as shown in **Figure 3B**. The terminals X, Y of the level generation circuit experience a voltage of "V"





though S_3 , D_3 , and D_4 . Hence the voltage across level generation circuit is +V (i.e., $V_{XY} = +V$). The current path during this mode of operation is indicated through the dotted line as shown in **Figure 3B**.

Mode-2: During this mode of operation the power switch S_2 of the level generation circuit is turned ON. The current will flow through the D_4 , S_2 as shown in **Figure 3C**. The terminals X, Y of the level generation circuit experience a voltage of "2 V" though S_2 and D_4 . Hence the voltage across the level generation circuit is +2 V (i.e., $V_{XY} = +2 V$). The current path during this mode of operation is indicated through the dotted line as shown in **Figure 3C**.

Mode-3: In this mode of operation the power switch S_5 of the level generation circuit is turned ON. The current will flow through S_5 , D_2 , and D_5 as shown in **Figure 3D**. The terminals X, Y of the level generation circuit experience a voltage of "3 V" though S_5 , D_2 , and D_5 . Hence the voltage across the level generation circuit is +3 V (i.e., $V_{XY} = +3$ V). The current path during this mode of operation is indicated through the dotted line as shown in **Figure 3D**.

Mode-4: During this mode of operation the power switches S₅ and S₃ of the level generation circuit are turned ON. The current will flow through the S₅, D₅, S₃, and D₃ as shown in **Figure 3E**.

TABLE 2 | The expressions of gate pulses for all the switches.

S.no	Gate pulse of switch	Gate pulse expression
1	G _{S1}	$P_8 \times P_{13}$
2	G _{S2}	P ₁₄
3	G_{S3}	$(P_4 \times P_5) + (P_{12} \times P_{13}) + (P_{16})$
4	G _{D2}	$(P_2 \times P_3) + (P_{10} \times P_{11}) + (P_{14} \times P_{15})$
5	G _{S4}	$P_6 \times P_7$
6	G_{S5}	$(P_1) + (P_6 \times P_9)$
7	G_{D4}	P_5
8	G _{S6}	P_+
9	G _{S7}	P_
10	G _{S8}	P_
11	G _{S9}	P_+

The terminals X, Y of the level generation circuit experience a voltage of "4 V" though S₅, D₅, S₃, and D₃. Hence the voltage across the level generation circuit is +4 V (i.e., V_{XY} = +4 V). The



TABLE 3 | The comparison of proposed seventeen level inverter topology with the existing MLI topologies.

Parameter	Babaei and Hosseini (2009)	Babaei et al. (2014a)	Farhadi Kangarlu and Babaei (2013)	Lai and Shyu (2002)	Sinha et al. (2019)	Sinha Das and Jana (2019)	Majumdar et al. (2020)	Raushan et al. (2016)	Proposed inverter	Proposed bi-directional inverter
Input sources	4	4	4	4	6	4	3	9	4	4
Power switches	20	18	18	16	15	16	11	22	9	14
Power diodes	0	0	0	0	20	0	4	28	5	0
Auxiliary capacitors	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0
Total components	24	22	22	20	41	20	20	59	18	18
Reactive power capability	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
TSV	36V _{dc}	34V _{dc}	34V _{dc}	32V _{dc}	31V _{dc}	32V _{dc}	30V _{dc}	34V _{dc}	16V _{dc}	30V _{dc}
Efficiency (%)	94	94	95	95	93	96	95	94	97	96.5
Driving signals	20	18	18	16	15	16	11	22	9	14



current path during this mode of operation is indicated through the dotted line as shown in **Figure 3E**.

Mode-5: In this mode of operation the power switch S_1 of the level generation circuit is turned ON. The current will flow through the S_1 , D_1 , and D_2 as shown in **Figure 3F**. The terminals X, Y of the level generation circuit experience a voltage of "4 V" though S_1 , D_1 , and D_2 . Hence the voltage across the level generation circuit is +4 V (i.e., $V_{XY} = +4 \text{ V}$). The current path during this mode of operation is indicated through the dotted line as shown in **Figure 3F**.

Mode-6: During this mode of operation the power switches S_1 and S_3 of the level generation circuit are turned ON. The current will flow through the S_1 , D_1 , S_3 , and D_3 as shown in **Figure 3G**. The terminals X, Y of the level generation circuit experience a voltage of "5 V" though S_1 , D_1 , S_3 , and D_3 . Hence the voltage across the level generation circuit is +5 V (i.e., $V_{XY} = +5 \text{ V}$). The current path during this mode of operation is indicated through the dotted line as shown in **Figure 3G**.

Mode-7: In this mode of operation the power switches S_5 and S_2 of the level generation circuit are turned ON. The current will flow through the S_5 , D_5 , and S_2 as shown in **Figure 3H**. The terminals X, Y of the level generation circuit experience a voltage of "5 V" though S_5 , D_5 , and S_2 . Hence the voltage across the level generation circuit is +5 V (i.e., $V_{XY} = +5$ V). The current path during this mode of operation is indicated through the dotted line as shown in **Figure 3H**.

Mode-8: During this mode of operation the power switch S_4 of the level generation circuit is turned ON. The current will flow through the S_4 and D_2 as shown in **Figure 3I**. The terminals X, Y of the level generation circuit experience a voltage of "6 V" though S_4 and D_2 . Hence the voltage across the level generation circuit is +6V (i.e., $V_{XY} = +6V$). The current path during this mode of operation is indicated through the dotted line as shown in **Figure 3I**.

Mode-9: In this mode of operation the power switches S_4 and S_3 of the level generation circuit are turned ON. The current

will flow through the S_4 , S_3 , and D_3 as shown in **Figure 3J**. The terminals X, Y of the level generation circuit experience a voltage of "7 V" through S_4 , S_3 , and D_3 . Hence the voltage across the level generation circuit is +7 V (i.e., $V_{XY} = +7$ V). The current path during this mode of operation is indicated through the dotted line as shown in **Figure 3J**.

Mode-10: During this mode of operation the power switches S_4 and S_2 of the level generation circuit are turned ON. The current will flow through the S_4 and S_2 as shown in **Figure 3K**. The terminals X, Y of the level generation circuit experience a voltage of "8V" though S_4 and S_2 . Hence the voltage across the level generation circuit is +8V (i.e., $V_{XY} = +8V$). The current path during this mode of operation is indicated through the dotted line as shown in **Figure 3K**.

The nine voltage levels obtained from the level generation circuit are used to obtain the seventeen voltage levels by using the polarity changer circuit, as shown in **Figure 3L**.

The proposed seventeen level inverter topology can be made bi-directional by replacing unidirectional devices (D_1-D_5) with controlled power switches. The proposed configuration of the bi-directional seventeen level inverter is shown in **Figure 4**.

PROPOSED PULSE WIDTH MODULATION STRATEGY

This section discusses the proposed pulse width modulation (PWM) strategy, the control strategy of the grid-connected seventeen level inverter topology.

Proposed PWM Strategy

To control the output voltage and generate the seventeen voltage levels, a PWM strategy has been proposed along with its modulation logic. The **Figures 5**, **6A** show the PWM strategy and proposed modulation logic of inverter. In this PWM strategy, a reference waveform ($|Vm \ sinwt|$) is compared with the eight



FIGURE 9 | The simulated waveforms of the grid connected seventeen level inverter topology; (A) output voltage of the level generation circuit (V_{XY}); (B) output voltage (V_{ab}); (C) voltage across the grid and current through the grid (Grid current is scaled up 70 times to fit into the graph); (D) output voltage (V_{ab}), voltage across the grid and current through the grid (Grid current is scaled up 70 times to fit into the graph); (D) output voltage (V_{ab}), voltage across the grid and current through the grid for non UPF (Grid current is scaled up 70 times to fit into the graph); (E) current through input DC sources I_1 , I_2 , I_3 , and I_4 (Input currents are scaled up two times to fit into the graph).

carrier waveforms (V_{C1} - V_{C8}) to generate signals P_1 - P_{15} , as shown in **Figures 5**, **6A**. These signals P_1 - P_{15} are modified to obtain the gate pulses for the switches S_1 - S_9 and D_1 - D_5 . The obtained expressions for the gate pulses of all switches are given in **Table 2**.

The Current Control Strategy for the Grid-Connected Seventeen Level Inverter

Figure 6B shows the current control strategy, which is used to control the current feeding into the grid (Lee et al., 2009). In this control strategy, the grid current (i_g) is compared with the reference grid current $(i_g^*sin\theta)$ which gives the error signal (e) as output. Here, i_g^* is the peak amplitude of reference current, and $sin\theta$ is obtained from the PLL. The error signal is sent through the proportional resonant (PR) controller which generates the modulating wave $V_m(sinwt)$. This modulating

wave is used to generate reference waveform $|V_m(sinwt)|$. This reference waveform is used to generate the gate pulses for all the switches by using the proposed modulation strategy shown in **Figures 5**, **6A**. The PR-controller's transfer function is given as:

$$T_{PR}(s) = K_p + \frac{2K_i w_{cut} s}{s^2 + 2w_{cut} s + w^2}$$
(1)

The PR controller is designed by considering the phase margin as 50^0 and maximum permissible steady-state error of 0.1% of the rated current. The designed values of the PR controller are given as:

 $K_p = 0.4$; $K_i = 15$; $\omega_{cut} = 20$ rad/sec and $\omega = 2 \times \pi \times 50$ rad/sec.

Comparison of the Proposed Seventeen Level Inverter Topology With the Existing MLI Topologies

The proposed seventeen level inverter and bi-directional seventeen level inverter topologies are compared with the existing seventeen level inverter topologies. The proposed inverter topologies require fewer input DC sources, power devices, and lesser requirement of the number of drive signals which reduces the size, cost of the system, and increases the reliability of the system. In addition to that, the total standing voltage (TSV) of high-frequency switches are smaller compared to the existing MLI topologies (given in **Table 3**). Thus, the proposed inverter topologies incur lower switching losses. The efficiencies of proposed seventeen level inverter topology and bi-directional seventeen level inverter topologies are calculated to be 97 and 96.5%, respectively.

The detailed comparison of the proposed seventeen level inverter topology with the existing seventeen level inverter topologies is given in **Table 3**. From **Table 3**, it can be observed that the proposed inverter topology doesn't have the reactive power capability even though it uses a lesser number of power devices. However, this issue can be tackled by using the proposed bi-directional inverter topology.

The Extension of Proposed 1- φ Seventeen Level Inverter Topology to *n*-Level

There is a possibility to extend the proposed $1-\phi$ seventeen level inverter to higher levels by adding the level generation circuits (LGC) in a cascaded fashion as shown in Figure 7. This is possible due to the modularity of proposed inverter topology, which supports the extension for *n*-levels. For example, the cascaded connection of level generation circuits (LGC1 and LGC₂) generates voltage levels +16, +15 V,...+V, and 0 in the output voltage (V_{XY}). Thus, the +16, +15 V,...+V and 0 voltage levels in the obtained voltages of V_{XY} are used to generate $\pm 16, \pm 15, \pm 14, \pm 13, \pm 12$ V,.... \pm V and 0 output voltage V_{ab} associated with the polarity changer. Figure 7 shows the cascaded connection of level generation circuits of LGC1 and LGC2. In this manner, the *n*-level MLI can be realized by cascading the level generation circuits LGC₁, LGC₁,...LGC_{(n-1)/16} in series. The number of level generation circuits (N_{LGC}), DC sources (N_{DC}), switches (N_s), diodes (N_D), and total power devices (N_{PD}) required for obtaining *n*-levels are given by the following equations:

$$n = 16(N_{LGC}) + 1$$
 (2)

$$N_{\rm DC} = (n-1)/4$$
 (3)

$$N_{s} = \frac{5}{8}(n-1) + 4 \tag{4}$$

where $n = 17, 33, 49, \dots$ and $N_{LGC} = 1, 2, 3, \dots$

Extension of Proposed 1- ϕ Seventeen Level Inverter for 3- ϕ Application

The possible extension of the proposed $1-\phi$ seventeen level inverter topology for $3-\phi$ application is shown in **Figure 8**. It consists of a total of four sets of DC sources (three V



seventeen level inverter topology at power factor of 0.95; (**A**) output voltage of the level generation circuit (V_{XY}); (**B**) output voltage (V_{ab}); (**C**) voltage across the grid and current through the grid (Grid current is scaled up 70 times to fit into the graph); (**D**) current through input DC sources I₁, I₂, I₃, and I₄ (Input currents are scaled up two times to fit into the graph).

and one 3 V) and 12 controlled switches, nine bi-directional switches. In this $3-\phi$ topology, the three legs share a common DC source (two 3 V) which minimizes the required DC sources' count.

SIMULATION RESULTS

The proposed grid-connected $1-\phi$ seventeen level inverter topology is simulated for a power rating of 500 W at a switching



FIGURE 11 The experimental waveforms of the grid connected seventeen level inverter topology; (A) experimental setup of the grid-connected system; (B) the output voltage of the level generation circuit (V_{XY}) and inverter output voltage (V_{ab}); (C) the grid voltage (V_g) and current through the grid (I_g); (D) the current through the input DC sources (I_1 , I_2 , I_3 , and I_4); (E) the output voltage of the level generation circuit (V_{XY}) and inverter output voltage (V_{ab}); (C) the grid voltage (V_{ab}); (F) The grid voltage (V_g) and current through the grid (I_g); (G) the current through the input DC sources (I_1 , I_2 , I_3 , and I_4).

TABLE 4 | Parameters used in system evaluation of seventeen level inverter topology.

500 VA 50 V (2 no.s)
50 V (2 no s)
JU V (2 110.5)
150 V (2 no.s)
230 V (RMS)
4 mH
3 kHz
BSM50GB60DLC
RM200DY1-24S
TMS320F28069

frequency of 3 kHz. The MATLAB/Simulink environment is used for the simulation studies. The considered values of two sets of input DC sources are 50 and 150 V. To filter the high-frequency harmonics the filter inductor (Lf) is chosen as 4 mH. The simulated waveforms of the voltage across the level generation circuit (V_{XY}) are shown in Figure 9A. It consists of nine voltage levels 0, 50, 100, 150, 200, 250, 300, 350, and 400 V. By using these nine voltage levels, seventeen voltage levels $(0, \pm 50, \pm 100,$ $\pm 150, \pm 200, \pm 250, \pm 300, \pm 350, \text{ and } \pm 400 \text{ V}$) are generated at the output of polarity changer circuit (i.e., output voltage V_{ab}) as shown in Figure 9B. The waveforms of grid voltage and current are also shown in Figure 9C. It can be observed from Figure 9C that the proposed inverter topology is feeding high quality of current into the grid because of the presence of multi-levels in the output voltage. Further, the proposed grid connected inverter topology is simulated at lagging power factor of 0.9 and corresponding waveforms of the output voltage, grid voltage and current are shown in Figure 9D. The waveforms of the current through two sets of input DC source two V and two 3 V (i.e., I₁, I₂, I₃, and I₄) are also shown in Figure 9E. The parameters used for the simulation studies are given in Table 4.

Further, the proposed bi-directional seventeen level inverter topology is also verified through simulations for a 500 VA grid-connected system. The simulated waveforms of the voltage across the level generation circuit, output voltage (V_{ab}), the voltage across the grid, and current through the grid at a power factor of 0.95 are shown in **Figures 10A–C**, respectively. It can be observed from **Figure 10C** that the proposed bi-directional inverter can feed a nice quality of power into the grid at THD of 2.1% due to the presence of a higher number of levels in the output voltage. The waveforms of the current through two sets of input DC source two V and two 3 V (i.e., I₁, I₂, I₃, and I₄) are also shown in **Figure 10D**.

EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

The proposed seventeen level inverter topology is tested for gridconnected for a power rating of 500 W at switching frequency of 3 kHz on a laboratory prototype (shown in **Figure 11A**). **Table 4** shows the parameters used for the study of the proposed seventeen level inverter topology for the grid-connected system. The experimental waveforms of the output voltage of the level generation circuit (V_{XY}) and inverter output voltage (V_{ab}) are shown in **Figure 11B**. Further, the experimental waveforms current though the grid and voltage across the grid at unity power factor are also shown in **Figure 11C**.

Figure 11D shows the waveforms of the current through the two sets of the input DC sources (I_1 , I_2 , I_3 , and I_4). It can be observed from **Figure 11C** that the inverter output voltage contains seventeen voltage levels and feeds good quality of current into the grid.

Further, the proposed bi-directional seventeen level inverter also tested for grid-connected application at 500 VA power rating. The experimental waveforms level generation circuit output voltage (V_{XY}), inverter output voltage (V_{ab}), grid voltage (V_g), grid current (I_g), and currents through the input DC sources at a power factor of 0.95 are shown in **Figures 11E–G**. The proposed bi-directional seventeen level inverter also feeds good quality of power into the grid with THD of 2.1%.

CONCLUSIONS

This paper has presented a new seventeen level inverter topology for single-phase grid-connected applications. The main advantage of proposed inverter topology is the reduced number of power components. Due to fewer power components, a compact system can be realized. Further, a comparison of the proposed seventeen level inverter topology with the existing MLIs is presented which shows the major advantages of the proposed configuration. The proposed seventeen level inverter has lower conduction losses because at maximum only five switches conduct in any mode of operation. Further, the bidirectional operation of the proposed topology is also presented. The possible 3- ϕ extension of the proposed 1- ϕ seventeen level inverter is also discussed and its extension for higher levels is also investigated. The proposed 1-\$\$\$\$ seventeen level inverter and bi-directional seventeen level inverters are able to feed highquality power into the grid with a current THD of 2.36 and 2.1% respectively. The proposed seventeen level inverter topology and its bi-directional operation also validated through experimental results and all the results are presented in the paper which shows the effectiveness of the proposed work.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PC and VA: substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work, or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work. AA-D: drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by Advanced Power and Energy Centre (APEC) at Khalifa University, Abu Dhabi, UAE.

REFERENCES

- Ahmadi, D., and Wang, J. (2014). Online selective harmonic compensation and power generation with distributed energy resources. *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.* 29, 3738–3747. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2013.2278253
- Babaei, E., Alilu, S., and Laali, S. (2014a). A new general topology for cascaded multilevel inverters with a reduced number of components based on developed H-bridge. *IEEE Trans. Industrial Electr.* 61, 3932–3939. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2013.2286561
- Babaei, E., and Hosseini, S. H. (2009). New cascaded multilevel inverter topology with the minimum number of switches. *Elsevier J. Energy Conv. Manag.* 50, 2761–2767. doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2009.06.032
- Babaei, E., Kangarlu, M. F., and Sabahi, M. (2014b). Extended multilevel converters: an attempt to reduce the number of independent DC voltage sources in cascaded multilevel converters. *IET Power Electr.* 7, 157–166. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2013.0057
- Babaei, E., Laali, S., and Alilu, S. (2014c). Cascaded multilevel inverter with a series connection of novel H-bridge basic units. *IEEE Trans. Industrial Electr.* 61, 6664–6671. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2014.2316264
- Chattopadhyay, S. K., and Chakraborty, C. (2014). A new multilevel inverter topology with self-balancing level doubling network. *IEEE Trans. Industrial Electr.* 61, 4622–4631. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2013.2290751
- Das, M., and Agarwal, V. (2016). Design and analysis of a high-efficiency dcdc converter with soft switching capability for renewable energy applications requiring high voltage gain. *IEEE Trans. Industrial Electr.* 63, 2936–2944. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2016.2515565
- Duarte, J. L., Hendrix, M., and Simoes, M. G. (2007). Three-port bidirectional converter for hybrid fuel cell systems. *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.* 22, 480–487. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2006.889928
- Essakiappan, S., Krishnamoorthy, H. S., Enjeti, P., Balog, R. S., and Ahmed, S. (2015). Multilevel medium-frequency link inverter for utility-scale photovoltaic integration. *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.* 30, 3674–3684. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2014.2350978
- Farhadi Kangarlu, M., and Babaei, E. (2013). Cross-switched multilevel inverter: an innovative topology. *IET Power Electr.* 6, 642–651. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2012.0265
- Gupta, K. K., and Jain, S. (2012). Topology for multilevel inverters to attain the maximum number of levels from given DC sources. *IET Power Electr.* 5, 435–446. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2011.0178
- Gupta, K. K., Ranjan, A., Bhatnagar, P., Sahu, K. L., and Jain, S. (2016). Multilevel inverter topologies with reduced device count: a review. *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.* 31, 135–151. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2015.2405012
- Lai, YS., and Shyu, F. S. (2002). Topology for hybrid multilevel inverter. *IEEE Proc. Electric Power Appl.* 149, 449–458. doi: 10.1049/ip-epa:200 20480
- Lee, S. J., Bae, H. S., and Cho, B. H. (2009). "Modelling and control of the singlephase photovoltaic grid-connected cascaded H-bridge multilevel inverter," in *IEEE Conference on Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE)* (San Jose, CA: IEEE), 43–47.
- Lezana, P., Rodriguez, J., and Oyarzun, D. A. (2008). Cascaded multilevel inverter with regeneration capability and reduced number of switches. *IEEE Trans. Industrial Electr.* 55, 1059–1066. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2008. 917095
- Liu, D., and Li, H. (2006). A ZVS bi-directional DC-DC converter for multiple energy storage elements. *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.* 21, 1513–1517. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2006.882450
- Mahato, B., Majumdar, S., and Jana KC. (2019a). Reduction of power electronic devices in a single-phase generalized multilevel inverter. J Circuits Systems Computers. 29:2050093 doi: 10.1142/S0218126620500930
- Mahato, B., Majumdar, S., and Jana, K. C. (2019b). A new and generalized structure of single-phase and three-phase cascaded multilevel inverter with reduced power components. *Int. Trans. Electrical Energy Syst.* 30:e12187. doi: 10.1002/2050-7038.12187
- Majumdar, S., Mahato, B., and Jana, K. C. (2018). Optimum structure-based multilevel inverter with doubling circuit configuration. J Circuits Systems Comput. 28:19501949. doi: 10.1142/S0218126619501949
- Majumdar, S., Mahato, B., and Jana, K. C. (2020). Implementation of an optimum reduced components multicell multilevel inverter (MC-MLI) for

lower standing voltage. IEEE Trans. Industrial Electr. 67, 2765–2775. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2019.2913812

- Mathew, J., Rajeevan, P. P., Mathew, K., Azeez, N. A., and Gopakumar, K. (2013). A multilevel inverter scheme with dodecagonal voltage space vectors based on flying capacitor topology for induction motor drives. *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.* 28, 516–525. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2012.2195784
- Meynard, T. A., and Foch, H. (1992). Multi-level choppers for high voltage applications. Proc. Eur. Conf. Power Electron. Appl. 2, 45–50. doi: 10.1080/09398368.1992.11463285
- Nabae Takahashi, I., and Akagi, H. (1981). A new neutral-pointclamped PWM inverter. *IEEE Trans. Industrial Appl.* IA-17, 518-23. doi: 10.1109/TIA.1981.4503992
- Peng, F. Z., Lai, J. S., McKeever, J. W., and Van Coevering, J. (1996). A multilevel voltage source inverter with separate DC sources for static var generation. *IEEE Trans. Industrial Appl.* 32, 1130–1138. doi: 10.1109/28.536875
- Peng, F. Z., Qian, W., and Cao, D. (2010). "Recent advances in multilevel converter/inverter topologies and applications," in *IEEE International Conference in power electronics (IPEC)*, 492–501. doi: 10.1109/IPEC.2010.5544625
- Phanikumar, C., and Agarwal, V. (2013a). "Single phase 9 level grid-connected inverter for photovoltaic applications," in 4th IEEE Conference on Power Electronics for Distributed Generation Systems (Arkansas: Rogers), 8–11. doi: 10.1109/PEDG.2013.6785631
- Phanikumar, C., and Agarwal, V. (2013b). "Novel self-balancing single phase asymmetric 9 level grid-connected inverter for photovoltaic applications," in Annual IEEE India Conference (INDICON) on Impact of Engineering on Global Sustainability (Mumbai: IEEE), 2782–7. doi: 10.1109/INDCON.2013.6725887
- Raushan, R., Mahato, B., and Jana, K. C. (2016). Comprehensive analysis of a novel three-phase multilevel inverter with the minimum number of switches. *IET Power Electr.* 9, 1600–1607. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2015.0682
- Ravi, R., Mahato, B., and Jana, K. C. (2017). Optimum structure of a generalized three-phase reduced switch multilevel inverter. *Electric Power Systems Res.* 157, 10–19. doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2017.11.017
- Rodriguez, J., Lai, J. S., and Peng, F. Z. (2002). Multilevel inverters: a survey of topologies, controls, and applications. *IEEE Trans. Industrial Electr.* 49, 724–738. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2002.801052
- Samadaei, E., Gholamian, S. A., Sheikholeslami, A., and Adabi, J. (2016). An envelope type (e-type) module: asymmetric multilevel inverters with reduced components. *IEEE Trans. Industrial Electr.* 63, 7148–7156. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2016.2520913
- Sharma, P., and Agarwal, V. (2014). Exact maximum power point tracking of grid-connected partially shaded PV source using current compensation concept. *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.* 29, 4684–4692. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2013.22 85075
- She, X., Huang, A. Q., and Ni, X. (2014). Current sensorless power balance strategy for DC/DC converters in a cascaded multilevel converter based solid state transformer. *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.* 29, 17–22. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2013.2256149
- Shi, J., Gou, W., Yuan, H., Zhao, T., and Huang, A. Q. (2011). Research on voltage and power balance control for cascaded modular solid-state transformer. *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.* 26, 1154–1166. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2011. 2106803
- Sinha Das, M. K., and Jana, K. C. (2019). Control of asymmetrical cascaded multilevel inverter for a grid-connected photovoltaic system. *IET Renew. Power Generation*. 13, 1456–1465. doi: 10.1049/iet-rpg.2018.5230
- Sinha, A., Jana, K. C., and Das, M. K. (2019). Control strategy of PV-fed, gridinterfaced, seven-level T-type MLI for distributed power generation. *IET Power Electr.* 12, 3208–3219. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2019.0379
- Sochor, P., and Akagi, H. Theoretical comparison in energy-balancing capability between star- and delta-configured modular multilevel cascade inverters for utility-scale photovoltaic systems. *IEEE Trans. Power Electr.* (2016). 31, 1980–1992. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2015.2442261
- Tao, H., Kotsopoules, A., Duarte, J. L., and Hendrix, M. A. M. (2006). Family of multiport bidirectional DC-DC converters. *IEEE Proc. Electric Power Appl.* 153, 451–458. doi: 10.1049/ip-epa:20050362
- Vahedi, H., Labbé P. A., and Al-Haddad, K. (2016). Sensor-less five-level packed ucell (PUC5) inverter operating in stand-alone and grid-connected modes. *IEEE Trans. Industrial Informatics.* 12, 361–370. doi: 10.1109/TII.2016.2578183

- Yuan, X. (2014). A set of multilevel modular medium-voltage high power converters for 10-MW wind turbines. *IEEE Trans. Sustain Energy.* 5, 524–534. doi: 10.1109/TSTE.2013. 2297178
- Zare (2008). *Firuz Power Electronics Education Electronic-Book*. Brisbane, QLD: School of Engineering Systems, Queensland University of Technology.
- Zeng, R., Xu, L., Yao, L., and Finney, S. J. (2016). Analysis and control of modular multilevel converters under asymmetric arm impedance conditions. *IEEE Trans. Industrial Electr.* 63, 71–81. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2015. 2477057

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Chamarthi, Agarwal and Al-Durra. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Review of Five-Level Front-End Converters for Renewable-Energy Applications

Vitor Monteiro^{1*}, Nima Tashakor², Tiago J. C. Sousa¹, Tomas Kacetl², Stefan Götz² and Joao L. Afonso¹

¹ ALGORITMI Research Centre, University of Minho, Campus de Azurem, Guimaraes, Portugal, ² Lehrstuhl Mechatronic & Elektrische Antriebssysteme, Technische Universität (TU) Kaiserslautern, Kaiserslautern, Germany

With the objective of minimizing environment and energy issues, distributed renewableenergy sources have reached remarkable advancements along the last decades, with special emphasis on wind and solar photovoltaic installations, which are deemed as the future of power generation in modern power systems. The integration of renewableenergy sources into the power system requires the use of advanced power electronic converters, representing a challenge within the paradigm of smart grids, e.g., to improve efficiency, to obtain high power density, to guarantee fault tolerance, to reduce the control complexity, and to mitigate power-quality problems. This paper presents a specific review about front-end converters for renewable-energy applications (more specifically the power inverter that interfaces the renewable-energy source with the power grid). It is important to note that the objective of this paper is not to cover all types of front-end converters; the focus is only on single-phase multilevel structures limited to five voltage levels, based on a voltage-source arrangement and allowing current or voltage feedback control. The established review is presented considering the following main classifications: (a) number of passive and active power semiconductors; (b) fault tolerance features; (c) control complexity; (d) requirements of specific passive components as capacitor or inductors; and (e) number of independent or split dclink voltages. Throughout the paper, several specific five-level front-end topologies are presented and comparisons are made between them, highlighting the pros and cons of each one of them as a candidate for the interface of renewable-energy sources with the power grid.

Keywords: five-level converters, renewable energy sources, power converters, multilevel, power electronics, power quality

INTRODUCTION

Power converters capable of synthesizing, more than three voltage levels, are commonly classified as multilevel converters, where a common feature is the possibility to deal with higher voltages (Pandey et al., 2006; Debnath et al., 2015; Gupta et al., 2015). Mainly due to the required voltage levels in an application, multilevel converters are based on simple structures or based on a cascade connection of simple structures (Sadigh et al., 2015; Xiao et al., 2015; Ahmed et al., 2017).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sudhakar Babu Thanikanti, Universiti Tenaga Nasional, Malaysia

Reviewed by:

Ligang Wang, École Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Switzerland Hadi Taghavifar, Malayer University, Iran

> *Correspondence: Vitor Monteiro vmonteiro@dei.uminho.pt

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Process and Energy Systems Engineering, a section of the journal Frontiers in Energy Research

Received: 11 February 2020 Accepted: 06 July 2020 Published: 15 October 2020

Citation:

Monteiro V, Tashakor N, Sousa TJC, Kacetl T, Götz S and Afonso JL (2020) Review of Five-Level Front-End Converters for Renewable-Energy Applications. Front. Energy Res. 8:172. doi: 10.3389/fenrg.2020.00172

84

Therefore, approaches with the split dc link, with multiple dc links (independently or not), or a mix of both are possible structures that allow synthesizing the multi-voltage levels. Dependent on the application (i.e., interface of renewableenergy sources, electric mobility, or storage systems), multilevel converters can be distinguished as active rectifiers or gridforming or grid-tied inverters, with the possibility, in each case, of using a voltage-source or current-source structure. The main objective of a multilevel converter is to synthesize an ac voltage or current with improved quality, also contributing to preserve issues of power quality. Therefore, the key purpose of multilevel converters are to (a) deal with semiconductor limitations in high-voltage applications; (b) deal with limitations of switching frequency; (c) improve the power quality; (d) improve modularity and/or scalability; and (e) deal with controllability (Karwatzki and Mertens, 2018).

Power quality has been a concern in an electrical grid, however, the interest for this topic has increased along the last decades for both residential and industrial levels (Singh et al., 2004; Bollen et al., 2010; Ceaki et al., 2017; Lopez-Martin et al., 2018), leading to the development of various multilevel converter topologies (Singh et al., 2008), as well as control strategies (Nejabatkhah et al., 2019). Moreover, in recent years, due to the advances in semiconductors and digital control platforms, multilevel converters have emerged as a suitable alternative to the conventional static multi-pulse structures (i.e., based on transformers with specific arrangements) as well as an alternative to the conventional two-level converters. The most conventional multilevel converter, i.e., the neutralpoint-clamped (NPC), was introduced in the last century, and since that date, several proposals were introduced for different applications. Reviews of multilevel converters can be found in Pandey et al. (2006); Debnath et al. (2015), and Gupta et al. (2015) where besides the analysis of the topologies in terms of required hardware and software for the control, prospective applications are also included. However, since the publication of these reviews, several multilevel converters have been proposed with innovative features in terms of topology, control, and applications (e.g., considering applications of smart grids, ongrid and off-grid renewable-energy sources, electric mobility, microgrids, power transmission, and distribution). Compared to the conventional solutions, increasing the number of voltage levels reduces the size of the passive filters for maintaining similar indices of power quality, consequently allowing to increase the power density of the equipment, which is a key factor in many applications. However, a higher number of levels increase the required hardware resources, which hints to a trade-off between levels, hardware resources, and power density. Based on these criteria, the objective of this paper is not to cover all the multilevel converters but to focus on fivelevel converters with the possibility to be applied as grid-tied inverters for interfacing renewable-energy sources with the power grid. Therefore, a review of several publications is presented, where the main focus is on voltage-source structures, grid-tied inverters (with current or voltage feedback control), single-phase or three-phase structures, and the five voltage levels. In this context, the main contributions of this paper are related to the

following: (a) the more recent and emerging multilevel converters (five-level) identified in the literature are presented; (b) the multilevel (five-level) converters are organized according to the characteristics; and (c) a comparison is established based on the main characteristics in order to identify the pros and cons of each topology.

The paper is directly related with the application of five-level converters to interface renewable-energy sources with the power grid, however, the presented topologies can also be useful for other applications, both for coupling with the power grid (i.e., as grid-tied inverters) or for island operation (i.e., as off-grid inverters). A concrete case is the applications of energy-storage systems. In fact, the energy-storage systems are flexible systems in terms of power operation, which are capable of consuming, storing, or providing energy. Taking into account the flexibility offered, energy-storage systems can offer additional advantages for the integration of renewable-energy sources, e.g., targeting power management in a distributed architecture. The up-todate energy-storage technologies are compiled and investigated in Yao et al. (2016), mainly from the perspective of technology efficiency, maturity, cost, lifespan, and contextualization with the final application scenarios. A review of energy-storage systems about problems and challenges for microgrid applications is presented in Faisal et al. (2018), and the past and present of the distinct technologies of energy-storage systems are presented in Boicea (2014). An overview regarding the history, evolution, and future status of energy-storage systems is presented in Whittingham (2012). Projects directly related to energy-storage systems are presented in Araiza et al. (2018) and Baxter et al. (2018), while overviews from the power electronics point of view are introduced in Molina (2017) and Mazumder (2019).

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: Section "Standards for Grid-Connected PV Installations" presents an overview of standards for grid-connected converters used for interfacing renewable-energy sources; section "Topologies of Five-Level Front-End Converters" presents the selected topologies of five-level front-end converters; and section "Modulation Techniques for Five-Level Front-End Converters" presents modulation techniques for five-level front-end converters. Section "Comparison Between Topologies" establishes a comparison among the selected topologies; section "Conclusion" ends the paper with the conclusions.

STANDARDS FOR GRID-CONNECTED PV INSTALLATIONS

Over the last decades, the market of PV installations is increasing as a contribution to meet the rising demand. In terms of power, PV installations can vary from few kW to thousands of MW. However, the increased integration of PVbased resources into the power systems can cause diverse effects in practical characteristics that are mainly associated with power-quality issues, power management, demand response, reliability, and safety.

Therefore, the integration of photovoltaic (PV) installations must accomplish with specific standards and guidelines, which

are established according to the country (i.e., the standards and guidelines can vary from country to country). Such standards are an important requirement, which must be considered in the specifications of the PV installation, as well as in the design of power electronics. IEEE 1547 and IEC 61727 are the most widely recognized standards relevant to these applications, which are established by the IEEE (Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers) and by the IEC (International Electrotechnical Commission), respectively. Regarding power electronics, the grid-connected front-end converters are designed with the aim to reduce specific harmonic levels, reduce total harmonic distortion (THD), increase power factor, reduce frequency deviation, and eliminate leakage currents.

Summarizing, the IEEE 1547 standard is focused on technical specifications for the interconnection and interoperability among distributed energy resources (DERs) and power systems (at different distribution voltages, emphasizing DER in radial primary and secondary distribution systems) less than 10 MVA. This standard is intended to be universally adopted, where among others, issues such as power quality, safety considerations, islanding, and response to abnormal conditions are addressed. On the other hand, the IEC 61727 standard deals directly with low-voltage non-islanded converters (gridconnected dc-ac inverters). This standard is applied for the interconnection of PV installations (less than 10 kVA) from the power system in the perspective of single-phase or three-phase residences. Regarding the aforementioned standards, Table 1 summarizes the key points of these standards. Besides the aforementioned standards, there are other relevant standards such as the IEEE 929-2000, which is specific for PV installations with power below 10 kW. This is a recommended practice guidance regarding the interface of PV installations, where there are issues such as power quality, safety, protection, utility system operation, and islanding of PV installations. Other standards, but with lower importance, are established

by the NEC, UL, and so on Hester (2002), U. Std, (2002), and Wiles (2005).

TOPOLOGIES OF FIVE-LEVEL FRONT-END CONVERTERS

In this section, a comprehensive review of the more recent topologies with a special focus on single-phase five-level inverters is provided. It should be noted that the anti-parallel diode of a controlled switch is considered a separate component, as is the case in normal applications.

A five-level three-phase inverter is proposed in Sajadian and Santos (2014), however, the three-phase system consists of three separate phases that can operate individually. In each phase, four fully controlled power switches and six diodes are needed. This topology is presented in **Figure 1**. A coupled inductor is needed for the topology. The output voltage of the converter can be calculated using (1). It should be noted that S_1 operation is complementary to S_2 .

$$V_{out} = \left(\frac{1}{2}\left(1 - S_2\right) - S_3\right) V_{dc} = \left(\frac{1}{2}\left(1 - S_2\right) - \left(1 - S_4\right)\right) V_{dc}$$
(1)

The main advantage of this structure is that it requires fewer controlled switches and has no need for complex voltage-control algorithms for dc-link voltage-control algorithms as happens with many other topologies. The authors also claim that the topology improves power loss. However, a coupled inductor and certain operating conditions must be met.

In Korhonen et al. (2014), a five-level single-phase inverter based on neutral point and a flying capacitor is proposed that can produce $\pm v_{dc}/2$, $\pm v_{dc}/4$, and 0. As can be seen in **Figure 2**, it has eight fully controlled power switch and eight diodes. The output voltage of the converter can be calculated using

TABLE 1 | Summary of the grid requirements concerning the IEEE 1547 and IEC 61727 standards.

	IEEE 154	7	IEC 6172	7		
Nominal power	30 Kw		10 kW			
Harmonic level (currents)	Order	%	Order	%		
	3–9	4	3–9	4		
	11–15	2	11–15	2		
	17–21	1.5	17–21	1.5		
	23–33	0.6	23–33	0.6		
	> 35	0.3	> 35	0.3		

Even harmonics < 25% of odd harmonics

THD	<	5%	
-----	---	----	--

DC current	< 1% of rated cu	rrent	<0.5% of rated current				
Voltage variation	$\Delta V < 50\%$	0.1 s	$\Delta V < 50\%$	0.16 s			
	$50\% < \Delta V < 88\%$	2 s	$50\% < \Delta V < 88\%$	2 s			
	$110\% < \Delta V < 120\%$	2 s	$110\% < \Delta V < 120\%$	1 s			
	$\Delta V > 120\%$	0.05 s	$\Delta V > 120\%$	0.16 s			
Frequency variation	59.3 < Hz < 60.5	0.2 s	59.3 < Hz < 60.5	0.16 s			



(2). There are multiple alternatives for the $\pm v_{dc}/4$ that can be exploited to maintain the voltage of the floating capacitor within a tight boundary.

$$v_{out} = (S_5 \ S_6 - S_7 \ S_8) \frac{v_{dc}}{2} + (S_5 S_7 - S_6 \ S_8 + S_3 \ S_4 \ S_6 - S_1 \ S_2 \ S_7) \frac{v_{dc}}{4}$$
(2)

It should be noted that the switches and diodes need different voltage ratings, which can increase maintenance costs. Voltage fluctuation in the flying capacitor can affect output quality, as well as the split power source requirement, which can be limiting, and the utilized switches have different voltage ratings. Moreover, it can only produce half of the total dc-link voltage, which is not desirable. The authors compare the performance of the paper with a commercial NPC-5L topology, and the results show a very slight improvement in efficiency.

The authors in Yuan (2014) modify the structure proposed in Korhonen et al. (2014) and utilize reverse-blocking IGBTs. However, similar to the previous paper, it utilizes the redundant stages to balance the flying-capacitor voltage. The disadvantages are also similar. The authors claim that this topology requires a lower number of semiconductor count, because they are considering each of the reverse-blocking IGBTs as one semiconductor. However, a reverse-blocking IGBT is in effect composed of two back-to-back IGBTs that do not have any anti-parallel diode and this advantage is not very prominent. On the other hand, utilizing the reverse-blocking IGBTs, improves efficiency. **Figure 2** shows the proposed topology.

The output voltage of the converter shown in **Figure 2** can be calculated using (3). Comparing (3) with (2), it can be seen that they are essentially similar and the only difference is that (Yuan, 2014) (c.f. **Figure 2**) utilizes one bidirectional switch instead of two back-to-back unidirectional ones.

$$v_{out} = (S_3 \ S_4 - S_5 \ S_6) \frac{v_{dc}}{2} + (S_2 \ S_4 - S_1 \ S_5 + S_3 \ S_5 - S_4 \ S_6) \frac{v_{dc}}{4}$$
(3)

A three-phase five-level topology is proposed in Masaoud et al. (2014). It requires sixteen controlled switches and sixteen diodes. There are five voltage levels for each phase, 0, $v_{dc}/4$, $2v_{dc}/4$, $3v_{dc}/4$, v_{dc} , which, by considering a three-phase operation, would result in nine voltage levels. Although the topology has a relatively low number of switches per voltage levels for all the three-phases, it requires two different sources, where one of them should be a split-voltage source. This topology is presented in **Figure 3**. The output phase-voltage of the converter shown in **Figure 3** can be calculated using (4).

$$v_{out} = (S_3 \ S_6 \ S_8) \frac{v_{dc}}{2} + (S_1 \ S_2 \ S_5 \ S_7) \frac{3v_{dc}}{4} + (S_1 \ S_2 \ S_6 \ S_7) \frac{v_{dc}}{2} + (S_1 \ S_2 \ S_5 \ S_8) \frac{v_{dc}}{2}$$
(4)

Authors in Vahedi et al. (2016) utilize a seven-level converter previously proposed by Kamal Al-Hadad called PUC to build a five-level converter with simplified control. This topology is presented in **Figure 4**. It is argued that the previously proposed seven-level converter has a very complex control and requires a high switching frequency as well as additional sensors. However, the simplified five-level converter changes the ratio $V_1 = 3V_2$ to $V_1 = 2V_2$ and also introduces a self-balancing algorithm to simplify the control. The output voltage levels are $\pm v_{dc}/2$ and $\pm v_{dc}/4$, 0, which achieve a unity voltage ratio between output and input voltage. The split power source being unnecessary is another advantage of such a system. The output phase voltage of the topology shown in **Figure 4** can be calculated based on the switch states using (5).

$$v_{out} = (S_1 \ S_5 \ S_6 - S_2 \ S_3 \ S_4) \frac{v_{dc}}{2} + (S_1 \ S_3 \ S_5 + S_1 \ S_2 \ S_6 - S_3 \ S_4 \ S_5 - S_2 \ S_4 \ S_6) \frac{v_{dc}}{4}$$
(5)

A single-phase five-level structure is proposed in Saeedian et al. (2018) based on the switching capacitor technique. **Figure 5A** shows the proposed structure, and the phase output voltage can be calculated using (6). Since the capacitors utilized in the topology can be easily balanced without needing any complex closed-loop control, one of the advantages of this system is a simple control. However, the most important benefit of the presented circuit is its voltage boosting capability. For an input source with a voltage v_{dc} , it can produce a five-level ac output voltage with voltage levels of $0, \pm v_{dc}$, and $\pm 2 v_{dc}$. For achieving this goal, one power supply, two capacitors, ten diodes, and seven power switches are required. This structure has a high number of active and passive components; however, one main advantage of this method is that it can produce an output twice the voltage level of the power supply.

$$v_{out} = (S_1 \ S_7 - S_2 \ S_6) \ 2v_{dc} + (S_1 \ S_4 \ S_5 \ S_7 + S_2 \ S_3 \ S_4 \ S_7 - S_1 \ S_4 \ S_5 \ S_6 - S_2 \ S_3 \ S_4 \ S_6) \ v_{dc}$$
(6)

In Madhukar Rao and Sivakumar (2015), a single-phase fivelevel inverter with fault tolerance is proposed. The proposed converter consists of seven power switches as well as twelve power diodes. A diode bridge in combination with a power switch in



the output is utilized to cut off the fault current. However, the utilized diode bridge of the fault circuit breaker in the output can severely hinder the efficiency of the converter. **Figure 5B** shows the structure of the converter proposed in Madhukar Rao and Sivakumar (2015). The output voltage of the topology shown in **Figure 5B** can be calculated based on (7), while S_1 can be used for interrupting the current path during faults.

$$v_{out} = (S_3 \ S_4 \ S_5 - S_2 \ S_6 \ S_7) \ v_{dc} + (S_3 \ S_5 \ S_6 - S_2 \ S_5 \ S_6) \ \frac{v_{dc}}{2}$$
(7)

A five-level inverter with a modular switched capacitor circuit is proposed in He and Cheng (2016). The main advantage of this topology is that the voltage levels can be increased by adding more switched capacitor bridge modules. As can be seen in **Figure 6**, the topology has twelve diode-switch sets for a five-level inverter. With each extra switched capacitor module, the output

voltage amplitude can be increased to four times the input voltage v_{dc} . The first two switch groups are defined by (8) and (9).

$$S_P = S_3 \ S_7 \ S_9 \ S_{10} \tag{8}$$

$$S_N = S_4 \ S_6 \ S_8 \ S_{11} \tag{9}$$

Considering the defined switching groups and the remaining switches, it is possible to calculate the output phase voltages, according to (10). It should be noted that the S_P and S_N are complementary.

$$v_{out} = (S_P + S_N)[(S_2 \ S_5 - S_1 \ S_6)4v_{dc} + (S_2 \ S_6 - S_1 \ S_5)2v_{dc}]$$
(10)

Another five-level fault-tolerant structure is proposed in Gautam et al. (2017). This topology is presented in **Figure 7**.



It consists of six IGBT-diode sets, as well as a bidirectional switch and an NPC leg. Compared to many other topologies with fault current limiting capability, this one has a moderate number of switches and capacitors. The required NPC can be considered one of the disadvantages of such topologies. Moreover, this topology can produce output voltages in the range of $\pm v_{dc}$. The output voltage levels based on the input source and the capacitor voltage can be calculated using (11). In the case of $v_{c2} = v_{dc}/2$, there are five symmetrical voltage levels.

$$v_{out} = (S_1 \ S_2 \ S_6 - S_3 \ S_4 \ S_5) \ v_{dc} + (S_1 \ S_2 \ S_7 + S_2 \ S_3 \ S_7) (v_{dc} - v_{C_2}) - (S_3 \ S_4 \ S_7 + S_2 \ S_3 \ S_5) \ v_{C_2}$$
(11)

A five-level inverter for medium-voltage applications is proposed in Narimani et al. (2016). Although the paper focuses on a three-phase structure, it can be easily utilized as a singlephase system too. The system includes eight switch-diode sets as well as two extra diodes for each phase. One of the disadvantages of such a topology is the requirement of a splitsource supply and three additional capacitors. The output voltage



levels include $v_{dc}/2$, $v_{dc}/4$, 0, $-v_{dc}/4$, and $-v_{dc}/2$. Figure 8A shows the abovementioned topology. Another disadvantage of this topology is a relatively complex balancing procedure for the three flying capacitors in each phase. Although the authors claim that the number of diodes is reduced compared to many previous topologies, the number of semiconductor devices is still relatively high. The output phase voltage of the topology shown in Figure 8A can be calculated based on the switch states using (12).

$$v_{out} = (S_1 \ S_2 \ S_3 \ S_4 - S_5 \ S_6 \ S_7 \ S_8) \frac{v_{dc}}{2} + (S_1 \ S_2 \ S_4 \ S_5 + S_2 \ S_3 \ S_4 \ S_8 + S_1 \ S_3 \ S_4 \ S_7 - S_4 \ S_5 \ S_7 \ S_8 - S_1 \ S_5 \ S_6 \ S_7 - S_2 \ S_5 \ S_6 \ S_8) \frac{v_{dc}}{4}$$
(12)

Figure 8B depicts another five-level inverter based on a split-source supply (Aly et al., 2018). It requires fourteen switch-diode sets and four extra diodes. Although this topology requires a higher number of semiconductor devices compared to the topology proposed in Narimani et al. (2016), it has some other significant advantages including: simpler control, no flying capacitor, and fault-tolerant structure. The output voltages are $-v_{dc}$, $-v_{dc}/2$, 0, $v_{dc}/2$, and v_{dc} , which can be calculated using (13).

$$\begin{aligned} v_{out} &= (S_1 \ S_2 \ S_7 \ S_8 - S_3 \ S_4 \ S_5 \ S_6) \ v_{dc} + (S_1 \ S_2 \ S_6 \ S_7 \\ &+ S_2 \ S_3 \ S_7 \ S_8 - S_2 \ S_3 \ S_6 \ S_7 - S_3 \ S_4 \ S_6 \ S_7) \ \frac{v_{dc}}{2} \end{aligned} \tag{13}$$

A bidirectional topology based on a half-bridge front-end structure and two flying-capacitor cascade structures is proposed in Naderi et al. (2015). This topology is shown in **Figure 9**. This topology has a split dc link and two flying capacitors, which represents the main disadvantage of this topology since it increases the control complexity. When compared with other topologies, this one requires a significant number of switching devices. Each of the flying capacitor cells is formed by four switching devices,



which are responsible for producing three voltage levels. The output phase voltage of the topology shown in **Figure 9** can be calculated based on the switch states defined in (14).

$$v_{out} = (S_1 \ S_3 \ S_4 - S_2 \ S_9 \ S_{10}) \frac{v_{dc}}{2} + (S_1 \ S_3 \ S_6 + S_1 \ S_4 \ S_5 - S_2 \ S_8 \ S_9 - S_2 \ S_7 \ S_{10}) \frac{v_{dc}}{4}$$
(14)

In this case, the following switches work in a complementary manner.



$$S_8 = 1 - S_{10}$$

 $S_1 = 1 - S_2$ (15)

A bidirectional topology based on a full-bridge front-end structure and a bidirectional-bipolar cell connected between the neutral wire and a split dc link is presented in Monteiro et al. (2016). This topology is presented in **Figure 10A**. The full-bridge structure is responsible for obtaining three voltage levels (+ v_{dc} , 0, $-v_{dc}$), while the bidirectional-bipolar cell is responsible for obtaining the other two voltage levels (+ $v_{dc}/2$, $-v_{dc}/2$). The output phase voltage can be calculated using (16). In order to optimize the efficiency, the switching devices S_1 and S_2 can be switched at a low frequency (i.e., the frequency of the power grid voltage), while the other switching devices are switched at high frequency.

$$v_{out} = (S_2 \ S_3 - S_1 \ S_4) \ v_{dc} + (S_3 \ S_5 - S_4 \ S_5) \ \frac{v_{dc}}{2}$$
(16)

A bidirectional topology based on a full-bridge front-end structure and a back-end dc-dc structure with a split dc link

is presented in Leite et al. (2018). This topology, shown in **Figure 10B**, operates with five voltage levels, according to the operation of the back-end dc-dc converter. The switching devices s1 and s2 are switched at a low frequency (i.e., the frequency of the power grid voltage), while the other switching devices are switched at high frequency. As claimed in the paper, this is an import aspect since it is possible to optimize the operation of the converter, reducing the switching losses. The output phase voltage of the topology shown in **Figure 10B** can be calculated based on the switch states using (17).

$$v_{out} = (S_2 \ S_3 \ S_7 \ S_8 - S_1 \ S_4 \ S_7 \ S_8) \ v_{dc} + (S_2 \ S_3 \ S_6 \ S_7 - S_1 \ S_4 \ S_5 \ S_8) \frac{v_{dc}}{2}$$
(17)

Modular multilevel converters (MMCs) are another type of circuit that can realize five-level output voltage (Wang et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019). In a way, MMCs are an extension of the earlier multilevel circuits based on the flying capacitors, with the exception that MMCs are much more feasible in higher voltage levels (Dekka et al., 2017). Theoretically, there is no limit to the number of voltage levels that an MMC can achieve, but the practical considerations such as controller complexity and cost would limit the number of voltage levels. Since the main advantage of the MMC topologies is in higher voltage and higher voltage levels, here only two of the more basic topologies that utilize half-bridge and full-bridge submodules are considered that are shown in **Figures 11A–C** can be calculated using (18), (19), and (20), respectively.

$$v_{SM} = (S - S_2) v_C$$
 (18)

$$v_{SM} = (S_1 \ S_4 - S_2 \ S_3) \ v_C \tag{19}$$

$$v_{SM} = (S_1 \ S_3 \ S_6 \ S_8 - S_2 \ S_4 \ S_5 \ S_7) \ v_C \tag{20}$$



In Zhou et al. (2018), each MMC submodule has a half-bridge structure requiring two switches and two diodes. With the structure proposed in Zhou et al. (2018), eight switch-diode sets, two inductors, and four capacitors are required (Xu et al., 2018). However, it is possible to reduce the number of required modules to half, if the switching technique in Hu and Jiang (2014) is utilized. Based on the control technique proposed in Hu and Jiang (2014), four switch-diode sets, two inductors, and four capacitors are required. On the other hand, the size of the required inductor increases. The structure proposed in Hu et al. (2018) requires double switch-diode sets, than the one proposed in Zhou et al. (2018); however, because of the control proposed in Hu et al. (2018), smaller capacitors can be used while at the same time increase the output to input voltage ratio to around $0.7v_{dc}$. Another advantage of these MMCs is better fault tolerance.

There are other MMC topologies that focus on additional features such as sensorless balancing and/or parallel connection (Xu et al., 2018; Jin et al., 2019; Li et al., 2019; Xu et al., 2019). As an example, an extra half-bridge is introduced in Goetz et al. (2015, 2016) that brings about the capability to connect neighboring modules in parallel. The parallel connection decreases string impedance, reduces current ripple, and improves the balancing capability of the capacitors. The parallel connection of modules distributes load current among multiple capacitors (Zhu et al., 2018) and reduces requirements on the current rating of the switches to one half. Sizing the switches to lower current ratings compensates double the number of discrete switches of the MMCSP, and the amount of silicon needed is comparable to the MMC topology in Hu et al. (2018). The control method proposed in Li et al. (2017) reduces the complexity of the control algorithm to the level of standard MMCs. Large voltage differences and temporal imbalance might cause inrush currents between paralleled modules and reduce the feasibility of the parallel

mode. Means to overcome the inrush currents are presented in Li et al. (2019).

MODULATION TECHNIQUES FOR FIVE-LEVEL FRONT-END CONVERTERS

One distinguishing aspect of the multilevel converters, when compared to the traditional two-level converters, is the wide variety of usable modulation techniques. Multilevel converters require different modulation techniques in order to synthesize all of its possible voltage levels, regardless of being three-level, fivelevel, or higher-level converters. Moreover, different modulation techniques can be applied to the same converter, as is the case of the most traditional techniques, but some techniques are only feasible to specific converters, as is the case of techniques that are specially developed for a given converter in order to optimize, for instance, the switching losses.

In a voltage-source inverter, the modulation technique is responsible for transforming a given reference voltage into a set of defined states of the switching devices comprising the converter, so that the desired reference voltage or current, depending on the used feedback control, is produced at its ac side. The two most common groups of modulation techniques for voltage-source inverters, regardless of the number of voltage levels, are the pulsewidth modulation (PWM) and the space vector modulation (SVM). However, these two groups of modulation techniques must be properly adopted when applied to multilevel converters.

Pulse-Width Modulation (PWM)

PWM is a modulation technique widely used in two-level and three-level inverters, where a single triangular carrier and one (in two-level inverters) or two (in three-level inverters) reference voltages are used. The popularity of this technique is





due to its ease of implementation, especially regarding digital signal processor (DSP)-based control systems, and due to the establishment of a fixed switching frequency, which is useful for sizing the output passive filters of the converter. Besides, since most inverters contain complementary pairs of active switches, one triangular carrier can be used to generate a pair of complementary signals for the switches. However, in multilevel converters, it is mandatory to use either more than one triangular carrier or more than two reference voltages in order to obtain the total number of possible voltage levels.

The classical multilevel PWM techniques consist of increasing the number of triangular carriers, which are either vertically or horizontally distributed, and the number of triangular carriers must be n-1, where n is the number of voltage levels. For the specific case of this paper, i.e., five-level inverters, four triangular carriers and one reference voltage should be used in order to attain a five-level operation with a classical multilevel PWM technique. Besides, taking into consideration the triangular carrier disposition, two main schemes can be feasible, i.e., with vertical disposition and horizontal disposition. In a vertical disposition-based PWM, all the carriers have the same amplitude and frequency but different average values, so that the maximum value of a given carrier coincides with the minimum value of the upper one, and so on. In this case, two of the carriers are only positive and the other two are only negative. In terms of phase, there are three main approaches regarding verticaldisposition PWM schemes: (a) phase disposition, where all the carriers have the same phase (Figure 12A); (b) phase opposition, where the positive carriers are 180° phase shifted with the negative carriers (Figure 12B); (c) alternative phase opposition, where the consecutive carriers are 180° phase shifted from each

other (Figure 12C). Vertical disposition is suitable for topologies comprising a split dc link, such as NPC and flying capacitor, but can lead to power unbalances in topologies with independent dc links. Regarding horizontal distribution, this scheme is also termed as phase-shifted PWM, where all the carriers have the same amplitude, average value, and frequency but different phase angles. The phase shift between consecutive carriers should be equal to $360^{\circ}/n$, where *n* is the number of triangular carriers. Hence, in this case, each triangular carrier is 90° phase shifted from each other, as can be seen in Figure 12D. Another possibility is to use two reference voltages 180° phase shifted between each other (as in a unipolar PWM scheme) and only two triangular carriers obeying to a $180^{\circ}/n$ ratio. In this case, the carriers are not evenly divided in one switching period due to the additional reference voltage, which emulates the two removed carriers, as can be seen in Figure 12E. Horizontal-disposition schemes have the advantage of multiplying the switching frequency (the frequency of each carrier) into the output frequency by a factor of *n*, (four, in this case), similarly to an interleaved converter. Compared to vertical disposition, this scheme allows a balanced power distribution in topologies such as cascaded multilevel and a natural voltage balancing in the flying-capacitor topology. Nevertheless, vertical-distribution schemes allow a lower THD in the output voltage than the horizontal distribution for the same characteristics of operation (Rodriguez et al., 2002, 2007; Kouro et al., 2010; Malinowski et al., 2010; Debnath et al., 2015; Li et al., 2015).

However, depending on the available resources, the use of multiple triangular carriers can also be an obstacle. One method to suppress this is to use a single triangular carrier but different reference voltages, also called modified reference



voltages. Therefore, each complementary pair of signals for the active switches is achieved not from each triangular carrier but from each reference voltage. This approach can also be used to optimize the switching frequency of a multilevel converter. For instance, in Leite et al. (2018), a modulation strategy is implemented that allows an active switch pair to operate with a switching frequency equal to the low-frequency component of the output voltage, i.e., the power grid frequency. This allows reducing the switching losses of the converter or, even further, to apply a different type of power semiconductor that does not need to be fully controlled (e.g., thyristor), offering lower conduction losses and a lower cost. **Figure 12F** shows an example of this modulation scheme, where one carrier and two references can be seen, generating three pairs of switch signals.

Space Vector Modulation (SVM)

While the PWM techniques are based on the modulation of each complementary pair of active switches, the SVM technique consists of acting upon the converter as a whole. This means that, in each instant, the state of all the active switches comprising the converter is determined in order to satisfy a given reference voltage. This is achieved via a coordinate transformation from *ab*-*c* to α - β , where the reference frame is divided into sectors that contain a given output voltage. In order to synthesize the desired voltage (which is contained in a given sector), two adjacent voltage vectors (which are produced by a given converter state) should be used, with the length of each one being proportional to the on-time of each converter state. Compared to PWM, SVM also allows a fixed switching frequency but reduces the total number of commutations of a given switch in each output cycle,



since each switch state can be assigned in a way that avoids redundant switching. A similar strategy, called pulse decoding, can be seen in Ge and Fang (2008), where only one switch pair switches at high frequency. Moreover, SVM allows a better utilization of the dc-link voltage, since it inherently comprises a third harmonic injection that allows achieving an output



FIGURE 12 | Pulse-width modulation: (A) vertical phase disposition PWM carriers for five-level inverters; (B) vertical phase opposition PWM carriers for five-level inverters; (C) vertical alternative phase disposition PWM carriers for five-level inverters; (D) horizontal disposition PWM carriers for five-level inverters and one reference voltage; (E) horizontal disposition PWM carriers for five-level inverters based on two carriers and two reference voltages; (F) horizontal-disposition PWM carriers for five-level inverters using a single carrier and a modified reference voltage.



voltage 15% higher than PWM for the same dc-link voltage and modulation index. Due to this reason, SVM is an interesting modulation technique to be applied in three-phase inverters for three-wire systems, as is the case of traction applications, for instance (Kanchan et al., 2005; Vinod et al., 2018). The main disadvantage of SVM compared to PWM is its complexity, requiring calculations that do not exist in PWM.

In multilevel converters, SVM is attainable through a higher number of sectors, as well as a higher number of voltage vectors. While three-phase two-level converters allow six non-null voltage vectors and six sectors, as can be seen in **Figure 13A**, three-phase five-level converters allow sixty non-null and non-redundant voltage vectors, comprising a total of ninety-six sectors, as represented in **Figure 13B**. Each triangle represents a sector, while each triangle vertex represents one voltage vector. The number of voltage vectors depends on the nature of the converter, i.e., whether it allows redundant states (multiple voltage vectors to produce the same output voltage) or not (only one voltage vector to produce a given output voltage) (Dae-Wook et al., 2003; Ahmed et al., 2016; Li et al., 2017).

Review of Five-Level Front-End Converters

TABLE 2 | Comparison between the presented topologies.

Category	References	Number of switches ^a	Number of diodes	Number of sources	Number of caps	Needs split dc link	Number of inductors	Vout, max Vin	Output voltage levels	Control complexity	Fault tolerant
With flying capacitors	Korhonen et al., 2014	8n	8n	1	Ν	Yes	0	1/2	$\pm v_{dc}/2,$ $\pm v_{dc}/4, 0$	***	No
	Yuan, 2014	8n	6n	1	Ν	Yes	0	1/2	$\pm v_{dc}/2,$ $\pm v_{dc}/4, 0$	***	No
	Vahedi et al., 2016	6n	6n	1	Ν	No	0	1	$\pm v_{dc}, \pm v_{dc}/2,$ 0	**	No
	Saeedian et al., 2018	7n	10n	1	2n	No	0	2	$\pm 2v_{dc}, \pm v_{dc}, 0$	**	No
	He and Cheng, 2016	12n	12n	1	4n	No	0	4	$\pm 4v_{dc}, \pm 2v_{dc}, 0$	**	No
	Narimani et al., 2016	8n	10n	1	Зn	Yes	0	1/2	$\pm v_{dc}/2,$ $\pm v_{dc}/4, 0$	***	No
	Naderi et al., 2015	10n	10n	1	2	Yes	0	1	$\pm v_{dc}, \pm v_{dc}/2,$ 0	***	No
Vithout flying capacitors	Sajadian and Santos, 2014	4n	6n	1	0	No	1	1	$\pm v_{dc}, \pm v_{dc}/2,$ 0	*	No
	Masaoud et al., 2014	4n + 4	4n + 4	2	0	Yes	0	1	$\pm v_{dc}, \\ \pm 3v_{dc}/4, \\ \pm v_{dc}/2, \\ \pm v_{dc}/4, 0$	*	No
	Madhukar Rao and Sivakumar, 2015	7n	10n	1	0	Yes	0	1/2	$\pm v_{dc}/2,$ $\pm v_{dc}/4, 0$	*	Yes
	Gautam et al., 2017	8n	8n	1	0	No	0	1	$\pm v_{dc}, \pm v_{dc}/2, 0$	***	Yes
	Aly et al., 2018	14n	18n	1	0	Yes	0	1	$\pm v_{dc}, \pm v_{dc}/2,$ 0	***	Yes
	Monteiro et al., 2016	5n	9n	1	0	Yes	0	1	$\pm v_{dc}, \pm v_{dc}/2,$ 0	**	No
	Leite et al., 2018	8n	8n	1	0	Yes	0	1	$\pm v_{dc}, \pm v_{dc}/2,$ 0	**	No
Modular methods	Zhou et al., 2018	8n	8n	1	4	Yes	2	0.5	$\pm v_{dc}/2,$ $\pm v_{dc}/4, 0$	***	No
	Hu et al., 2018	8n	8n	1	2	Yes	2 ^b	0.71	$\begin{array}{c} \pm v_{dc}, \pm v_{dc}/2, \\ \pm v_{dc}/4, 0 \end{array}$	***	Yes
	Hu and Jiang, 2014	4n	4n	1	2	Yes	2 ^b	0.5	$\pm v_{dc}/2, \\ \pm v_{dc}/4, 0$	***	No
	Goetz et al., 2015, 2016	16n	16n ^c	2	2	Yes	2	1	$\pm v_{dc}, \pm v_{dc}/2,$	**	Yes

^a Anti-parallel diodes of the IGBTs are considered separate components, as is the case in many applications. ^b Relatively large inductors. ^cWith half the rated current on each switch. ***high; **medium; and *low.

SVM is advantageous over PWM when the number of levels is very high, i.e., when controlling the converter as a whole is simpler to implement instead of controlling each complementary switch pair.

COMPARISON BETWEEN TOPOLOGIES

This section presents a comparison regarding the topologies identified in section "Topologies of Five-Level Front-End Converters." The comparison was performed considering three main categories: with flying capacitor, without flying capacitors, and MMCs. For all the topologies, the key parameters were considered. Table 2 shows the comparison between the topologies. Analyzing this table in more detail, the MMC topologies (Goetz et al., 2015, 2016) requires more devices (diodes and switching devices), which can be identified as a disadvantage since it can increase the conduction and switching losses, contributing to a reduction in efficiency. Besides the MMC topologies, the topology (Masaoud et al., 2014) requires two sources and is the only topology with this requisite, which can be impeditive for applications as renewables since two independent sources are required. The topology (Sajadian and Santos, 2014) requires the use of a transformer, which can be a disadvantage, but it only requires a single source and no capacitors for obtaining the five voltage levels. Topologies (Sajadian and Santos, 2014; He and Cheng, 2016; Vahedi et al., 2016; Gautam et al., 2017; Saeedian et al., 2018) require a single dc link, i.e., a split dc link is not necessary for the operation with five levels; therefore, for applications as renewables, this is an interesting aspect. Since fault tolerance and reliability issues are not the main focus of this review, only a few examples of the more recent topologies (Madhukar Rao and Sivakumar, 2015; Gautam et al., 2017; Hu et al., 2018) were considered. Considering the fault-tolerant topologies, it is clear that higher tolerance to fault comes at the cost of a significantly higher number of active components.

The main problem in the methods based on the flying capacitors is the control complexity. When the capacitor voltage is a fraction of the supply voltage, then the controller should monitor the voltage of that capacitor and actively maintain it in a tight boundary. On the other hand, the methods based on the multiple/split sources are more expensive to implement in the end, since they require either separate power sources or keeping the split-source voltage considering all the inherent differences in the system. The capacitors of the split dc link may exhibit a difference in voltage sharing, causing a voltage ripple in the dc link. Consequently, the stabilization of the voltage ripple may require a considerably large dc-link capacitor. In addition, any imbalance in the load causes a neutral current, which causes a perturbation in the split dc-link voltage (Jasna and Anitha, 2014). Consequently, balancing the split dc-link capacitors is the subject of a proper control. Therefore, as happens always in engineering applications, here a trade-off should be maintained on the control complexity, sensor requirements, fault tolerance, and cost. Regarding the topologies based on modular structures, only a few of them are present, since the main advantage of such methods is framed in higher voltage levels. Therefore,

as a five-level converter, modular multilevel methods are not very economical.

Regarding the number of semiconductors, it is commonly known that a higher number of passive semiconductors contribute to a decrease in the cost and the control complexity of the inverter but negatively affect its efficiency (Graditi et al., 2011). Consequently, the additional production of heat contributes to an increase in the requirements on system cooling, as well as to an acceleration in the aging of semiconductors (Reynolds, 1974). In this context, higher efficiency is generally achieved by trading the number of passive semiconductors (e.g., diodes) and active semiconductors (e.g., MOSFETs and IGBTs) (Kyono, 2006). Naturally, a higher overall number of components in the inverter, both passive and active, lowers its reliability, if the components do not introduce fault-tolerance itself (Zhang et al., 2014).

CONCLUSION

Worldwide, distributed renewable-energy resources are seen as absolutely fundamental to accomplish with the target to minimize environmental concerns, to obtain access to affordable energy, and to contribute to a sustainable power grid. Over the past few decades, in order to enable the increasingly effective integration of renewable-energy sources, power electronics technologies have played a leading role. In fact, even today, power electronics technologies are seen as one of the fundamental challenges for the widespread use of renewable-energy sources. Embracing this context, this paper presents a review of power electronics converters that can be used for interfacing renewable-energy sources into the power grid, concentrating on front-end converters with a voltage-source structure. More specifically, in a more attractive future perspective, this review is only focused on five-level structures. Thus, throughout the paper, the most relevant fivelevel topologies for the contextualization of renewable-energy sources in smart grids are presented. As a result, an effective comparison between the topologies is presented, highlighting key aspects that are useful to select a topology in detriment of others, according to the number of passive and active semiconductors, sources, capacitors, split dc links, inductors, and voltage levels. As an example, based on the established comparison, it is possible to conclude that topologies with more than one source are not advantageous and, on the other hand, topologies with a single dc link represent an interesting aspect for renewable-energy source applications. Based on the established comparison, it is possible to conclude that topologies with more than one source are not advantageous and, on the other hand, topologies with a single dc link represent an interesting aspect for renewable-energy source applications. The comparison also shows that topologies with a flying capacitor are not ideal concerning fault-tolerant characteristics, and a topology that accomplishes with the combined criteria such as being fault-tolerant, flying capacitors being unnecessary, and with reduced control complexity, which are three relevant features for obtaining reliable and high-efficiency converters to interface renewable-energy sources with the power grid, was identified. The topologies that require lower control complexity are all based on structures independent of flying capacitors, which is understandable, since such capacitors require a dedicated control loop. Moreover, such topologies require additional hardware, such as sensors and signal conditioning circuits. On the other hand, the topologies based on modular structures require more control complexity, since these structures are based on submodules (i.e., constituted by half-bridge or fullbridge converters). Notwithstanding, it is important to emphasize that the objective of this paper is not directly related to the identification of a specific topology that complies with all the benefits under study; it has the goal of presenting the different advantages and disadvantages of each topology in order to facilitate the comparison of such topologies for different purposes.

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, B., Aganah, K. A., Ndoye, M., Arif, M. A., Luciano, C., and Murphy, G. V. (2017). "Single-phase cascaded multilevel inverter topology for distributed DC sources," in 2017 IEEE 8th Annual Ubiquitous Computing. Electronics and Mobile Communication Conference (UEMCON), Vol, 19-21, New York, NY, 514–519.
- Ahmed, I., Borghate, V. B., Matsa, A., Meshram, P. M., Suryawanshi, H. M., and Chaudhari, M. A. (2016). Simplified space vector modulation techniques for multilevel inverters. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 31, 8483–8499. doi: 10.1109/ TPEL.2016.2520078
- Aly, M., Ahmed, E. M., and Shoyama, M. (2018). A new single-phase fivelevel inverter topology for single and multiple switches fault tolerance. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 33, 9198–9208. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2018.279 2146
- Araiza, J., Hambrick, J., Moon, J., Starke, M., and Vartanian, C. (2018). "Grid energy-storage projects: engineers building and using knowledge in emerging projects," in *IEEE Electrification Magazine* Vol, 6, Piscataway, NJ: IEEE, 14–19. doi: 10.1109/mele.2018.2849842
- Baxter, R., Gyuk, I., Byrne, R. H., and Chalamala, B. R. (2018). "Engineering Energy-storage projects: applications and financial aspects," in *IEEE Electrification Magazine* Vol, 6, Piscataway, NJ: IEEE, 4–12. doi: 10.1109/mele.2018.2849834
- Boicea, V. A. (2014). Energy storage technologies: the past and the present. *Proc. IEEE* 102, 1777–1794. doi: 10.1109/jproc.2014.2359545
- Bollen, M., Zhong, J., Zavoda, F., Meyer, J., McEachern, A., and Lopez, F. C. (2010).
 "Power quality aspects of smart grids," in *EPRI PQ and Smart Distribution*. *Conference and Exhebition*. 14/06/2010-17/06/2010.
- Ceaki, O., Seritan, G., Vatu, R., and Mancasi, M. (2017). "Analysis of power quality improvement in smart grids," in 2017 10th International Symposium on Advanced Topics in Electrical Engineering (ATEE), Piscataway, NJ: IEEE, 797–801.
- Dae-Wook, K., Yo-Han, L., Bum-Seok, S., Chang-Ho, C., and Dong-Seok, H. (2003). An improved carrier-based SVPWM method using leg voltage redundancies in generalized cascaded multilevel inverter topology. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 18, 180–187. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2002.807187
- Debnath, S., Qin, J., Bahrani, B., Saeedifard, M., and Barbosa, P. (2015). Operation control and applications of the modular multilevel converter: a review. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 30, 37–53. doi: 10.1109/tpel.2014.2309937
- Dekka, A., Wu, B., Fuentes, R. L., Perez, M., and Zargari, N. R. (2017). Evolution of topologies, modeling, control schemes, and applications of modular multilevel converters. *IEEE J. Emerg. Select. Top. Power Electron.* 5, 1631–1656. doi: 10. 1109/JESTPE.2017.2742938
- Faisal, M., Hannan, M. A., Ker, P. J., Hussain, A., Mansor, M. B., and Blaabjerg, F. (2018). Review of energy storage system technologies in microgrid applications: issues and challenges. *IEEE Access.* 6, 35143–35164. doi: 10.1109/access.2018. 2841407

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VM, NT, TS, and TK contributed to writing the manuscript. JA and SG contributed to review the manuscript and to present suggestions and corrections. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work has been supported by FCT – Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia with-in the Project Scope: UIDB/00319/2020. This work has been supported by the FCT Project newERA4GRIDs PTDC/EEIEEE/30283/2017, and by the FCT Project DAIPESEV PTDC/EEI-EEE/30382/2017. TS was supported by the doctoral scholarship SFRH/BD/134353/2017 granted by FCT.

- Gautam, S. P., Kumar, L., Gupta, S., and Agrawal, N. (2017). A single-phase fivelevel inverter topology with switch fault-tolerance capabilities. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 64, 2004–2014. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2016.2626368
- Ge, B., and Fang, P. (2008). "An effective control technique for medium-voltage high power induction motor drives," in 2008 34th Annual Conference of IEEE Industrial Electronics, Vol. 10-13, Orlando, FL, 3195–3200.
- Goetz, S. M., Li, Z., Liang, X., Zhang, C., Lukic, S. M., and Peterchev, A. V. (2016). Control of modular multilevel converter with parallel connectivity— Application to battery systems. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 32, 8381–8392. doi: 10.1109/tpel.2016.2645884
- Goetz, S. M., Peterchev, A. V., and Weyh, T. (2015). Modular multilevel converter with series and parallel module connectivity: topology and control. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 30, 203–215. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2014.2310225
- Graditi, G., Adinolfi, G., Femia, N., and Vitelli, M. (2011). "Comparative analysis of synchronous rectification boost and diode rectification boost converter for DMPPT applications," in 2011 IEEE International Symposium on Industrial Electronics, Piscataway, NJ: IEEE, 1000–1005.
- Gupta, K. K., Ranjan, A., Bhatnagar, P., Sahu, L. K., and Jain, S. (2015). Multilevel inverter topologies with reduced device count: a review. *IEEE Tran. Power Electron.* 31, 135–151. doi: 10.1109/tpel.2015.2405012
- He, L., and Cheng, C. (2016). A flying-capacitor-clamped five-level inverter based on bridge modular switched-capacitor topology. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 63, 7814–7822. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2016.2607155
- Hester, S. (2002). "IEEE 929–2000 recommended practice for utility interface of photovoltaic(PV) systems," in *Workshop Proceedings-Solar Electric Power Association*, Piscataway, NJ: IEEE.
- Hu, J., Xiang, M., Lin, L., Lu, M., Zhu, J., and He, Z. (2018). Improved design and control of FBSM MMC with boosted AC voltage and reduced DC capacitance. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 65, 1919–1930. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2017.2739679
- Hu, P., and Jiang, D. (2014). A level-increased nearest level modulation method for modular multilevel converters. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 30, 1836–1842. doi: 10.1109/tpel.2014.2325875
- Jasna, M. A., and Anitha, P. (2014). Mitigation of V oltage Imbalance in the DC link of a Split Link Four Wire Inverter.
- Jin, Y., Xiao, Q., Dong, C., Jia, H., Mu, Y., Xie, B., et al. (2019). A novel submodule voltage balancing scheme for modular multilevel cascade converter—doublestar chopper-Cells (MMCC-DSCC) based STATCOM. *IEEE Access.* 7, 83058– 83073. doi: 10.1109/access.2019.2924609
- Kanchan, R. S., Baiju, M. R., Mohapatra, K. K., Ouseph, P. P., and Gopakumar, K. (2005). Space vector PWM signal generation for multilevel inverters using only the sampled amplitudes of reference phase voltages. *IEEE Pro. Electric Power Appl.* 152, 297–309. doi: 10.1049/ip-epa:20045047
- Karwatzki, D., and Mertens, A. (2018). Generalized control approach for a class of modular multilevel converter topologies. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 33, 2888–2900. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2017.2703917
- Korhonen, J., Sankala, A., Ström, J., Silventoinen, P., and Doktar, A. (2014). "Fivelevel inverter with a neutral point connection and a flying capacitor," in 2014

16th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications, Vol. 26-28, Lappeenranta, 1–7.

- Kouro, S., Malinowski, K., Gopakumar, J., Pou, L. G., Franquelo, B., Wu, J., et al. (2010). Recent advances and industrial applications of multilevel converters. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 57, 2553–2580. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2010.2049719
- Kyono, Y. (2006). Switching-mode power supply having a synchronous rectifier, US7120036B2 United States Patent.
- Leite, R. S., Afonso, J. L., and Monteiro, V. (2018). A novel multilevel bidirectional topology for on-board EV battery chargers in smart grids. *Energies* 11:3453. doi: 10.3390/en11123453
- Li, W., Hu, J., Hu, S., Yang, H., Yang, H., and He, X. (2017). Capacitor voltage balance control of five-level modular composited converter with hybrid space vector modulation. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 33, 5629–5640. doi: 10.1109/ tpel.2017.2740960
- Li, Y., Wang, Y., and Li, B. Q. (2015). Generalized theory of phase-shifted carrier PWM for cascaded H-bridge converters and modular multilevel converters. *IEEE J. Emerg. Select. Top. Power Electron.* 4, 589–605. doi: 10.1109/jestpe.2015. 2476699
- Li, Z., Lizana, R., Peterchev, A. V., and Goetz, S. M. (2017). "Distributed balancing control for modular multilevel series/parallel converter with capability of sensorless operation," in 2017 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition (ECCE), Cincinnati, OH, 1787–1793.
- Li, Z., Ricardo Lizana, F., Sha, S., Yu, Z., Peterchev, A. V., and Goetz, S. M. (2019). Module implementation and modulation strategy for sensorless balancing in modular multilevel converters. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 34, 8405–8416. doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2018.2886147
- Lopez-Martin, V. M., Azcondo, F. J., and Pigazo, A. (2018). Power quality enhancement in residential smart grids through power factor correction stages. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 65, 8553–8564. doi: 10.1109/tie.2018.2813965
- Madhukar Rao, A., and Sivakumar, K. (2015). A fault-tolerant single-phase fivelevel inverter for grid-independent PV systems. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 62, 7569–7577. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2015.2455523
- Malinowski, M., Gopakumar, K., Rodriguez, J., and Pérez, M. A. (2010). A survey on cascaded multilevel inverters. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 57, 2197–2206. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2009.2030767
- Masaoud, A., Ping, H. W., Mekhilef, S., and Taallah, A. (2014). Novel configuration for multilevel DC-link three-phase five-level inverter. *IET Power Electron*. 7, 3052–3061. doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2013.0812
- Mazumder, S. K. (2019). Energy storage: a power electronics system view. IEEE Power Electron. Mag. 6, 36–38. doi: 10.1109/mpel.2019.2947984
- Molina, M. G. (2017). Energy storage and power electronics technologies: a strong combination to empower the transformation to the smart grid. *Proc. IEEE* 105, 2191–2219. doi: 10.1109/jproc.2017.2702627
- Monteiro, V., Ferreira, J. C., Meléndez, A. A. N., and Afonso, J. L. (2016). Model predictive control applied to an improved five-level bidirectional converter. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 63, 5879–5890. doi: 10.1109/tie.2016.2558141
- Naderi, R., Sadigh, A. K., and Smedley, K. M. (2015). Dual flying capacitor activeneutral-point-clamped multilevel converter. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 31, 6476–6484. doi: 10.1109/tpel.2015.2501401
- Narimani, M., Wu, B., and Zargari, N. R. (2016). A novel five-level voltage source inverter with sinusoidal pulse width modulator for medium-voltage applications. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 31, 1959–1967. doi: 10.1109/TPEL. 2015.2440656
- Nejabatkhah, F., Li, Y. W., and Tian, H. (2019). Power quality control of smart hybrid AC/DC microgrids: an overview. *IEEE Access* 7, 52295–52318. doi: 10.1109/access.2019.2912376
- Pandey, A., Singh, B., Singh, B. N., Chandra, A., Al Haddad, K., and Kothari, D. P. (2006). A review of multilevel power converters. J. Inst. Eng. 86, 220–231.
- Reynolds, F. H. (1974). Thermally accelerated aging of semiconductor components. *Pro. IEEE* 62, 212–222. doi: 10.1109/proc.1974.9409
- Rodriguez, J., Bernet, S., Wu, B., Pontt, J. O., and Kouro, S. (2007). Multilevel voltage-source-converter topologies for industrial medium-voltage drives. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 54, 2930–2945. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2007.907044
- Rodriguez, J., Jih-Sheng, L., and Fang Zheng, P. (2002). Multilevel inverters: a survey of topologies, controls, and applications. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 49, 724–738. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2002.801052
- Sadigh, A. K., Abarzadeh, M., Corzine, K. A., and Dargahi, V. (2015). A new breed of optimized symmetrical and asymmetrical cascaded multilevel power

converters. IEEE J. Emerg. Select. Top. Power Electron. 3, 1160–1170. doi: 10. 1109/JESTPE.2015.2459011

- Saeedian, M., Hosseini, S. M., and Adabi, J. (2018). A five-level step-up module for multilevel inverters: topology, modulation strategy, and implementation. *IEEE J. Emerg. Select. Top. Power Electron.* 6, 2215–2226. doi: 10.1109/JESTPE.2018. 2819498
- Sajadian, S., and Santos, E. C. D. (2014). "Three-phase DC-AC converter with fivelevel four-switch characteristic," in 2014 Power and Energy Conference at Illinois (PECI), Champaign, IL.
- Singh, B., Gairola, S., Singh, B. N., Chandra, A., and Al-Haddad, K. (2008). Multipulse AC-DC converters for improving power quality: a review. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 23, 260–281. doi: 10.1109/tpel.2007.911880
- Singh, B., Singh, B. N., Chandra, A., Al-Haddad, K., Pandey, A., and Kothari, D. P. (2004). A review of three-phase improved power quality AC-DC converters. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 51, 641–660.
- U. Std, (2002). UL 1741. Inverters, Converters, and Controllers for Use in Independent Power Systems. Piscataway, NJ: IEEE.
- Vahedi, H., Labbé, P., and Al-Haddad, K. (2016). Sensor-less five-level packed U-Cell (PUC5) inverter operating in stand-alone and grid-connected modes. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Informat.* 12, 361–370. doi: 10.1109/TII.2015.2491260
- Vinod, B., Baiju, M., and Shiny, G. (2018). Five-level inverter-fed space vector based direct torque control of open-end winding induction motor drive. *IEEE Trans. Energ. Conv.* 33, 1392–1401. doi: 10.1109/tec.2018.2824350
- Wang, J., Han, X., Ma, H., and Bai, Z. (2019). Analysis and injection control of circulating current for modular multilevel converters. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 66, 2280–2290. doi: 10.1109/TIE.2018.2808901
- Whittingham, M. S. (2012). History, evolution, and future status of energy storage. Proc. IEEE 100, 1518–1534. doi: 10.1109/jproc.2012.2190170
- Wiles, J. (2005). Photovoltaic Power Systems and the 2005 National Electrical Code: Suggested prActices. Albuquerque, NM: Sandia National Laboratories.
- Xiao, B., Hang, L., Mei, J., Riley, C., Tolbert, L. M., and Ozpineci, B. (2015). Modular cascaded H-Bridge multilevel PV inverter with distributed MPPT for grid-connected applications. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.* 51, 1722–1731. doi: 10.1109/TIA.2014.2354396
- Xu, J., Feng, M., Liu, H., Li, S., Xiong, X., and Zhao, C. (2018). The diodeclamped half-bridge MMC structure with internal spontaneous capacitor voltage parallel-balancing behaviors. *Int. J. Elec. Power Energ. Syst.* 100, 139– 151. doi: 10.1016/j.ijepes.2018.02.017
- Xu, J., Li, J., Zhang, J., Shi, L., Jia, X., and Zhao, C. (2019). Open-loop voltage balancing algorithm for two-port full-bridge MMC-HVDC system. Int. J. Elec. Power Energy Syst. 109, 259–268. doi: 10.1016/j.ijepes.2019.01.032
- Yao, L., Yang, B., Cui, H., Zhuang, J., Ye, J., and Xue, J. (2016). Challenges and progresses of energy storage technology and its application in power systems. J. Modern Power Syst. Clean Energ. 4, 519–528. doi: 10.1007/s40565-016-0248-x
- Yuan, X. (2014). "A new five-level converter for low-voltage motor drive applications," in 2014 17th International Conference on Electrical Machines and Systems (ICEMS), Vol. 22-25, Hangzhou, 2969–2974.
- Zhang, W., Xu, D., Enjeti, P. N., Li, H., Hawke, J. T., and Krishnamoorthy, H. S. (2014). Survey on fault-tolerant techniques for power electronic converters. *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.* 29, 6319–6331. doi: 10.1109/tpel.2014.2304561
- Zhou, D., Yang, S., and Tang, Y. (2018). Model-predictive current control of modular multilevel converters with phase-shifted pulsewidth modulation. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 66, 4368–4378. doi: 10.1109/tie.2018.2863181
- Zhu, Y., Zhang, W., Cheng, J., and Li, Y. (2018). "A novel design of reconfigurable multicell for large-scale battery packs," in 2018 International Conference on Power System Technology (POWERCON), Guangzhou, 1445–1452.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Monteiro, Tashakor, Sousa, Kacetl, Götz and Afonso. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

